University of Bath



PHD

Stochastic optimal control for problems arising in data science

Murtinu, Marco

Award date: 2023

Awarding institution: University of Bath

Link to publication

Alternative formats If you require this document in an alternative format, please contact: openaccess@bath.ac.uk

Copyright of this thesis rests with the author. Access is subject to the above licence, if given. If no licence is specified above, original content in this thesis is licensed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) Licence (https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/). Any third-party copyright material present remains the property of its respective owner(s) and is licensed under its existing terms.

Take down policy If you consider content within Bath's Research Portal to be in breach of UK law, please contact: openaccess@bath.ac.uk with the details. Your claim will be investigated and, where appropriate, the item will be removed from public view as soon as possible.

Stochastic optimal control for problems arising in data science

Submitted by

Marco Murtinu

for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy of the

University of Bath

Department of Mathematical Sciences

March 2023

Supervisor:

Prof. Alexander Cox

Contents

Acknowledgements		2 3	
Introduction			
1	Th ε 1.1	e Follow The Leader problem The Generalised FTL problem	9 14
	1.2	The value as viscosity solution of the HJB equation	24
	1.3	Local time effect	30
	1.4	Summary	32
2	The	optimal strategy with uniform prior distribution	33
	2.1	The FTL strategy	33
	2.2	The δ -FTL strategy	38
	2.3	Numerical simulation of V_0 and V_{δ}	42
	2.4	Convergence of V_{δ} to V_0	46
	2.5	The function h	51
	2.6	A counterexample to the optimality of the FTL strategy along the	F 77
	07	South boundary	57
	2.1	Extension to the case $N > 3$	04 65
	2.8	Summary	60
3	The optimal strategy with generic prior distribution		66
	3.1	The FTL strategy	66
	3.2	A study on the optimality of the FTL strategy	74
	3.3	Summary	92
Fu	Future work		
Bi	Bibliography		

Copyright

Attention is drawn to the fact that copyright of this thesis rests with its author. This copy of the thesis has been supplied on the condition that anyone who consults it is understood to recognise that its copyright rests with its author and that no quotation from the thesis and no information derived from it may be published without the prior written consent of the author. This thesis may be made available for consultation within the University Library and may be photocopied or lent to other libraries for the purposes of consultation.

Signature of Author:

Marco Murtinu

Acknowledgements

I first would like to thank my supervisor, Professor Alex Cox. This thesis would not have been possible without his continuous support and guidance. I would also like to extend my gratitude to SAMBa, the Department of Mathematical Science and the University of Bath for giving me the opportunity to pursue this research. Special thanks go to all who made my stay in Bath so enjoyable, even in challenging times such as the last years: Simone, Saul, Carlo, Umberto, Jack, Paolo and Marco, as well as all members of my SAMBa cohort and all the others I had the pleasure to meet and spend time with in Bath.

My biggest thanks will always be to you Marta, for your support and your love. Thank you.

Introduction

The goal of this thesis is to summarise the work we have done during the course of the PhD on the *Follow the Leader* (FTL) problem. The problem firstly arose in [35] in the context of search of a space probe by radar: since only a single antenna was available, the searcher could only look at one region of the sky at a time. The celestial sphere was idealized as being discrete, and the antenna looked at exactly one of n regions at a time. It is assumed that only the position is uncertain, and the time to move the antenna from one region to the next is ignored.

An a priori distribution on the *n* regions is given by orbit predictions. The data processes are the integrals of white Gaussian receiver noise, of known spectral density $\frac{\sigma^2}{2}$, of mean 0 for incorrect regions, and of known mean $\mu > 0$ corresponding to the radar signal for the correct region. The problem was solved by applying a certain two-stage searching strategy, which was deemed as suboptimal by the author. The author then introduced the FTL problem in [36]: consider N, $N \in \mathbf{N}$, independent standard Brownian motions W_1, \ldots, W_N over a probability space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) and define N independent stochastic processes X_1, \ldots, X_N such that there exist $i^* \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ for which

$$dX_{i^*}(t) = dW_{i^*}(t) + \mu dt$$

 $\mu \in \mathbf{R}, \ \mu \neq 0, \ t \geq 0$, that is, there exist a unique $i^* \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ such that $(X_{i^*}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a Brownian motion with drift μ , whereas the other N-1 processes are standard Brownian motions. The goal of the authors is to identify which Brownian motion has drift $\mu \neq 0$ in the minimum average searching time and by controlling the probability of a wrong terminal decision. This class of problems has been studied extensively in decision theory (see for example [28]), but in [36] the authors introduce a major constraint which makes the problem more interesting: at any time $t \geq 0$ only one process $X_i, \ i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$, can be observed. This assumption comes naturally from the setting in [35]. The authors consider a prior distribution $\pi = (\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_N)$ and a posterior distribution $\Pi(t) = (\Pi_1(t), \ldots, \Pi_N(t))$, such that $\Pi_i(t) = P(i = i^* | \mathcal{F}_t)$ for all $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}, \ t \geq 0$, $(\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ the observing the processes until time t. In particular we have $\Pi(0) = \pi$, the prior distribution. Define a tolerance error $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{1}{2})$ and set an arbitrary

threshold $1 - \varepsilon$ and a \mathcal{F} - stopping time

$$\tau = \inf\{t \ge 0 | \exists i \in \{1, \dots, N\} \text{ s.t } \Pi_i(t) = 1 - \varepsilon\}$$

The authors reformulate the FTL problem as finding the policy that minimizes the average searching time $\mathbf{E}_{\pi}(\tau)$, given that the probability of wrong terminal error does not exceed $1 - \varepsilon$. In [36] the authors claim that the optimal strategy is the so-called *Follow the Leader* strategy, which also gives the name to the problem: at each time $t \geq 0$ always observe the process $X_i(t)$ associated with the largest posterior probability $\Pi_i(t)$, which we will call the *leader* from now on. To do so, the authors restrict their focus to a specific class of strategies called δ *perturbed strategies*. A δ -perturbed strategy keeps observing one process X_i until its associated posterior probability Π_i drops below the starting probability π_i by $\frac{\delta}{N}$. In that case it starts to observe the leader. The authors show the optimality of the FTL strategy within this class of strategies and claim that such a result can be extended to the class of all strategies that observe only one process at each time $t \geq 0$.

The author of [42] approached a very similar problem in the same year: consider N independent Brownian motions defined on a common probability space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) . One process X_{i^*} has a non-zero drift μ , whereas the others N-1are standard Brownian motions. Considering just the strategies that observe one process at each time $t \geq 0$, compute the optimal searching strategy, that is, the strategy that minimises the average searching time to find the process with the drift. The only two major differences between [42] and [36] are that in [42] the author assumes that the stochastic processes all start from the same position, that is, if we denote the processes as $X = (X_1, \ldots, X_N)$, we have $X(0) = (x, \ldots, x)$. Using the notation introduced in [36], this corresponds to setting the prior distribution π as uniform. Therefore, we can regard the results in [42] as a special case of [36]. It is unclear if the author was aware of the results contained in [36] and since [42] was initially published in Russian, it is possible that the western scientific community was not aware of the results obtained in [42]. The author computes the likelihood process T of X. If we are observing the *i*-th process X_i in the time interval $(t, t+s), t, s \ge 0$, we have

$$T_i(t+s) = T_i(t) \exp\left\{X_i(t+s) - X_i(t) - \frac{s}{2}\right\},\$$

$$T_j(t+s) = T_j(t),$$

for $j \in \{1, ..., N\}$, $j \neq i$. The fact that the prior distribution is uniform implies that $T_k(0) = \frac{1}{N}$ for all $k \in \{1, ..., N\}$. The author defines the risk function to be minimized as

$$r(T_1, \dots, T_N | d) = \sum_{k=1}^N \prod_k \left(\alpha_k(T_1, \dots, T_N | d) + cN_k(T_1, \dots, T_N | d) \right)$$

where Π_k is the posterior probability process of the k-th process, d is a chosen strategy, N_k is the mean scanning time under the strategy d and α_k is the probability of acceptance of the hypothesis "the k-th process has a non-zero drift", as in this version of the problem the probability of acceptance is not fixed a priori. The author then consider the Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) equation ([33] is a good introduction to the topic) of the problem as

$$\inf_{i} \left\{ \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 r}{\partial T_i^2} T_i^2 + \frac{T_i^2}{\sum_k T_k} \frac{\partial r}{\partial T_i} \right\} = -c.$$

As far as we know, this is the first time in which the FTL problem has been studied as *dynamic programming problem* ([33] and [39] are great introductions to the topic). The problem with the results in [42] comes when the author tries to prove that the FTL strategy, that is, the strategy that consists in observing the process $X_i(t)$ with likelihood $T_i(t) = \max_k T_k(t)$ for all $t \ge 0$, is the optimal policy. As pointed out in [17], the proof lacks clarity in several passages and neither we nor the authors of [17] were able to understand it.

The FTL problem was considered again in 1971 in [25], where the authors pointed out several flaws in the reasoning of [36]: in particular, the authors show that the class of δ - perturbed strategy is not tight. Therefore, the notion of weak limit used in [36] to prove the optimality of the FTL strategy is not appropriate. The same authors considered the problem once more in [24]: the approach of the authors is to consider a new set of strategies, denoted by $D_{\delta\gamma}$. A strategy $I_{\delta\gamma} \in D_{\delta\gamma}$ is such that

$$\alpha_m \ge \delta, \quad \beta_m \ge \gamma,$$

$$T_{m+1} = T(\Pi_1(T_m), \dots, \Pi_N(T_m), \alpha_m, \beta_m) + T_m,$$

$$I_{\delta\gamma}(t) = i_m, \quad T_m \le t \le T_{m+1},$$

$$\Pi_i(T_m) + \alpha_{m+1} \le 1 - \varepsilon,$$

$$\Pi_i(T_m) - \beta_{m+1} > 0,$$

where $m \in \mathbb{N}$, $T_0 = 0$, ε , α_m , β_m are arbitrarily chosen, $i_m \in \mathbb{N}$. Here the function $T(\Pi_1, \ldots, \Pi_N, \alpha, \beta, i_m)$ is the first time at which Π_i crosses either $\pi_i + \alpha$ or $\pi_i - \beta$. Note that the controls in $D_{\delta\gamma}$ correspond to the strategies which search the same target *i* as long as the posterior probability $\Pi_i(t)$ does not change by more than a predetermined quantity. The authors prove that the FTL policy is optimal in $D_{\delta\gamma}$. This proof, although limited to $\delta\gamma$ strategies only, seemed to satisfy the mathematical community for many years and the interest focused on variations of the FTL problem: in Section 4 of [13] the author shows that a cyclic application of the same expected searching time of the FTL strategy. In Section 5 the author shows that such a policy can be also applied for *change point detection problems*, that is, for problems where the drift μ appears at a random time τ , rather than being present in one of the processes X_1, \ldots, X_N from the beginning.

Another variation of the FTL problem was considered in [27], where the authors studied the case where the number of processes is infinite and it is not known, a priori, how many of them have a non-zero drift $\mu \neq 0$. Moreover, the authors consider processes in discrete time, that is, time-series data. All these assumptions make it possible for the authors to obtain an elegant and relatively simple solution: they prove that the cumulative sum (CUSUM) test (see [7] for an introduction) is optimal in this context. In [8] the authors address the same problem in continuous time: it is important to point out that, although similar to the FTL problem, the version with infinitely many processes allows the author to make use of methods not available in the finite case. Indeed, the results in [27] and [8] rely on the fact that, once we switch from process X_i to process X_{i+1} , $i \in \mathbf{N}$, we will never observe X_i again, as there are still infinitely many processes to be observed. Clearly, such a reasoning cannot be applied in the formulation proposed in [36]. However, as pointed out in [27] and [8], this solution is still good enough, for practical purposes, when the number of processes is very large, as it is the case in many applications. Another interesting variation of the FTL problem is considered in [31], where the authors propose the following problem: suppose the adversary picks at random a real number $y_t \in [0,1]$, for $t = 1, \ldots, T$, and keeps it secret. We guess that number by picking another number $x_t \in [0, 1]$. We then pay the squared difference $(x_t - y_t)^2$. The author then generalizes the problem to different loss functions and shows, using machine learning techniques, that the so called *Follow the Regularized Leader* (FTRL) algorithm minimizes the loss function of the problem. The FTRL algorithm consists in choosing at each time t the minimizer of the sum of the past losses plus a time-varying regularization.

A similar problem is considered in [23], where the authors proposed the *Follow the Perturbed Leader* approach, which consists in slightly perturbing the loss function at each time t and then choose the strategy that minimizes the expected loss. The authors show that this strategy is nearly as good as the optimal strategy and more efficient from a computational point of view.

As far as the classical FTL problem is concerned the breakthrough came in 2018 with the publication of [17]. The authors propose a counterexample to the optimality of the FTL policy. The setting is the same as in [36], [25] and [24]. The authors introduce an alternative strategy, simply named *Strategy B*: let us assume that, at t = 0, the processes are sorted decreasingly, so that $x_1 \ge x_2 \ge \cdots \ge x_N$. In [17] the authors show that the posterior probability associated to X_i , $i \in \mathbf{N}$, can be written as

$$\Pi_i(t) = \frac{e^{\mu X_i(t)}}{\sum_{j=1}^N e^{\mu X_j(t)}}.$$

Strategy B observes X_2 until it reaches either x_1 or a specific level a such that

$$\Pi_1(t) = \frac{e^{\mu X_1(t)}}{\sum_{j \neq 2} e^{\mu X_j(t)} + e^{\mu a}} = 1 - \varepsilon$$

where a is the unique value of X_2 for which $\Pi_1(t) = 1 - \varepsilon$. If X_2 reaches a first, the search is over, if X_2 reaches x_1 first, we continue with the FTL strategy. The authors show that in several cases Strategy B outperforms the FTL strategy, achieving a smaller expected searching time than the FTL policy. The complete table of counterexamples can be found in Section 5 of [17]. The authors also point out issues in the proof of the optimality of the FTL strategy given in [24]: to prove Lemma 3.4 and Theorem 3.5 the authors assume that the posterior distribution of the stopping time τ , that is, the first time at which $\Pi_1(t)$ reaches either $\pi_1 + \alpha$ or $\pi_1 - \beta$, is independent of the search rule, which is clearly incorrect. Refer to Section 6.1 of [17] for a complete explanation.

Such a result leaves several open questions: if the FTL policy is not optimal. which is the optimal strategy? What about the case where the prior distribution is uniform, that is, the case considered in [42]? The counterexamples given in [17] are insufficient to disprove the claim that the FTL strategy is optimal for a uniform prior distribution, so the question remains open. A slight variation of the problem has been studied recently in [16], where the authors considered the associated optimal stopping problem (see [32] for a comprehensive overview of optimal stopping): they consider a 3-dimensional stochastic process for which 2 coordinates are standard Brownian motions and the remaining coordinate is a Brownian motion with drift $\mu \neq 0$, but we do not know which coordinate has the drift. The goal is to find such a coordinate as soon as possible and with minimal probabilities of the wrong terminal decisions. The central difference between the FTL problem and the work in [16] is that in the latter the observer has no control over which coordinate to observe next. In fact, this approach can also be interpreted as the case where we can observe all processes at the same time. Eventually, we note that deep learning techniques have been applied to stochastic optimal control problems recently: in particular in [21] the authors used a simple neural network to approximate the value function of a market making problem, obtaining good results. It is possible that such methods can be applied to the FTL problem successfully.

The goal of this thesis is to study the FTL problem and to understand which is the optimal policy. The work will be structured as follows:

1. in Chapter 1, we will study the setting of the FTL problem and derive a rigorous formulation of the problem as a dynamic programming problem. We will show that the *value function* of the problem can be characterized as the viscosity solution (see [33] and [39] for a solid introduction) of a certain HJB equation and proceed to study it;

- 2. in Chapter 2, we will focus on the case studied by [42], that is, the case with uniform prior distribution. We will discuss the results of the paper, the issues with such results and show the results we achieved in that particular setting;
- 3. in Chapter 3 we will discuss the case with general prior distribution and show numerical results that support the results obtained in [17].

Chapter 1 The Follow The Leader problem

In this chapter we will first recall the classical setting of the FTL problem as introduced in [36]. We will provide a modern formulation to the problem: to do so, we will take advantage of the notation introduced in [17]. Consider a complete filtered probability space $\Omega = (E, \mathcal{F}, \mathbf{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}, \mathbf{P})$, where E = $\{1, \ldots, N\} \times C([0, \infty)^N)$ and \mathbb{P} is a probability measure on Ω such that

$$\mathbf{P}\left(i=j^*, (X_1,\ldots,X_N)\in\prod_{k=1}^N A_k\right) = \prod_{k=1,k\neq i}^N \mathbb{W}_0(A_k)\mathbb{W}_\mu(A_i)\pi_i,$$

where $\pi_i \in [0, 1], A_i \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{C}([0, \infty)))$, for $i \in \{1, ..., N\}$ and

$$\mathbb{W}_{\mu}(A) = \tilde{\mathbf{P}}\left((\tilde{W}_t + \mu t)_{t \ge 0} \in A\right),$$

 $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$, \tilde{W} is $\tilde{\mathbf{P}}$ - Brownian motion and $A \in \mathcal{B}(\mathcal{C}([0,\infty)^N))$. Hence, under \mathbf{P} we choose an index j^* with probability π_{j^*} and X_1, \ldots, X_N are iid Brownian motions conditional on j^* , with X_{j^*} a Brownian motion with drift μ and the other X_i , $i \neq j^*$, are Brownian motions with drift 0. Then, we choose \mathcal{F}_t to be the natural filtration generated by j^*, W_1, \ldots, W_N augmented in the usual way. Consider now an \mathcal{F}_t -progressively measurable process J_t taking values in $\{1, \ldots, N\}$. Define the process Y_t by

$$dY_t = dX_{J_t}(t) \tag{1.1}$$

$$Y_0 = 0,$$
 (1.2)

and the natural filtration \mathcal{F}^{Y} generated by Y, augmented in the usual manner. Hence J is an admissible control if J is \mathcal{F}^{Y}_{t} -progressively measurable. Note that such a control is well-defined: consider controls that are constant up to \mathcal{F}^{Y} stopping times τ_i , and at τ_i choose a new \mathcal{F}_{τ_i} -measurable value for $J_t, t \in [\tau_i, \tau_{i+1})$.
If $\tau_i \to \infty$ as $i \to \infty$ P-a.s., the control is admissible. We will always consider
the version of $(W_1(t), \ldots, W_N(t))_{t\geq 0}$ with continuous paths. Let us construct Nprocesses $(X_1(t), \ldots, X_N(t))_{t\geq 0}$ such that:

$$dX_i(t) = dW_i(t) + \mu \mathbb{1}\{i = j^*\}dt,$$

for $t \ge 0$, $\mu > 0$ and where $\mathbb{1}\{A\}$ is the indicator function of the set $A \in \mathcal{B}(\Omega)$, where $\mathcal{B}(\Omega)$ are the Borel sets of Ω .

The starting points $X(0) = (X_1(0), \ldots, X_N(0)) = (x_1, \ldots, x_N)$ are known real numbers, $X(0) \in \mathbb{R}^N$. Our goal is to identify j^* in the shortest possible time and by minimizing the probability of wrong terminal decisions. To do so we have one key restriction: at each time t we can observe only one particle, that is, only one $X_i(t), i \in I$. The key feature of the problem is that if we observe X_i in the time period $(t, t + s), t, s \geq 0$, only the value of X_i changes during (t, t + s), whereas all the other processes $X_j, j \in I \setminus \{i\}$, remain at the initial level, that is, $X_j(t + s) = X_j(t)$. Consider the function $J : \mathbb{R}^+ \to I$ and denote by J(t) the particle under observation at time t. The observation process $Y = (Y(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is the unique strong solution to the stochastic differential equation (SDE) (refer to [30] for a comprehensive treatment of the topic)

$$dY(t) = dX_{J(t)}(t),$$
 (1.3)

for $t \ge 0$. Note that the process J(t) is such that:

- 1. $J(t) \in I$ for all $t \ge 0$;
- 2. $(J(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is progressively measurable, that is, for all $t \geq 0$ the map $[0, t] \times \Omega \to \mathbf{R}$ defined by $(s, \omega) \mapsto J_s(\omega)$ is $\mathcal{B}([0, t]) \otimes \mathcal{Y}_t$ -measurable. In particular, this implies that $(J(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is $(\mathcal{Y}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ -adapted (see [1] for a proof of this), where $(\mathcal{Y}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is the natural filtration of the observation process $Y = (Y(t))_{t\geq 0}$, that is

$$\mathcal{Y}_t = \sigma \left(\sigma(Y_s, 0 \le s \le t) \cup \mathcal{N} \right),$$

where \mathcal{N} is the collection of all null sets of the probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbf{P})$. Therefore, $(\mathcal{Y}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ is the augmented natural filtration of the process Y.

Remark 1.0.1. We consider $(\mathcal{Y}_t)_{t\geq 0}$ to be the augmented natural filtration as this assumption is needed to show that the posterior probability process Π (which we are going to define shortly) is progressively measurable (see [1] for a detailed explanation).

Note that 1 and 2 together imply that $(W_{J(t)})_{t\geq 0}$ is a well-defined Brownian motion.

Remark 1.0.2. The process $(J(t))_{t\geq 0}$ represents the control the observer has over the system. The fact that $(J(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is \mathcal{Y}_t -measurable implies that every decision we make is based only on the data we have observed up to time t. This makes the FTL problem a continuous- time sequential stochastic optimal control problem.

Remark 1.0.3. In the discussion above, we formulate the control problem in terms of an adapted control over a probability space. However because the process Ywhich generates the observed filtration is itself controlled, it is non-trivial to setup the control problem in a fully rigorous manner, for example, to determine the Dynamic Programming Principle (DPP) for the control problem. One approach would be to take a formal delayed approach, for example, to consider controls which are constant on deterministic time intervals, and which only switch value according to the information available at these time points. However even in this setup, it would seem difficult to formulate and prove a satisfactory DPP. We note also that while there is a significant literature on controlled filtering problems, of which this is closely related, many results in this setting are not immediately applicable, since this literature (e.g. [18], [20], [3], [2], [10], [15],[14]) tends to focus on problems where there is a controlled process X, which is not fully observed, and the control of X must be adapted to a filtration Y, where Y is typically given in terms of dynamics such as $dY_t = h(X_t) dt + dW_t$, where W is a Brownian noise term which may be independent of, or correlated to the noise generating the dynamics of the unseen process X. A notable exception is [2], where the function h may also depend on the control (although not in a framework that would include the problem we study).

Another approach to rigorously formulating a DPP for this problem would be via a weak control approach. In this case, rather than working on a fixed filtered probability space, and optimising over adapted controls (which is complicated by the fact that the control will determine the filtration that the process can then be adapted to), we would choose to optimise over the space of probability measures on the appropriate path space, where the construction of the control and the adapted process are produced simultaneously, that is, one optimises over classes of probability measures which support a controlled process Y, a control process α , which is adapted to the filtration generated by Y, and such that the dynamics of Y satisfy the required constraints. In this context, the difficulty is proving a sort of concatenation property, as required for the DPP. However powerful tools are available, and the paper [43] provides a good framework for establishing these types of properties.

In this thesis, we do not pursue these approaches. Instead, our approach will be similar to the 'separation' problem described in e.g. [2]: that is, we consider the process enhanced by the current posterior belief about the likelihoods of different outcomes. In this setting, it is common, e.g. as in [2], to consider the unnormalized likelihoods, although through normalisation, we expect to get a similar characterisation, but with one fewer degree of freedom.

Remark 1.0.4. The process Y defined in (1.3) is a well-defined controlled diffusion process.

Define now the *prior* distribution (π_1, \ldots, π_N) as the probability that each particle is the correct one (that is the one with drift μ) a priori, so that

$$\pi_i = \mathbf{P}\left(i = j^*\right),\tag{1.4}$$

for $i \in I$.

We now want to compute the *likelihood* process $(L(t))_{t\geq 0} = (L_1(t), \ldots, L_N(t))_{t\geq 0}$. The likelihood process L can be seen as the unnormalized version of the posterior probability process Π . Fix J(t) = i, for $i \in I$: a straightforward application of Girsanov's formula (see [30]) shows that the posterior likelihood that the *i*-th particle has drift μ , given $\mathcal{Y}(t)$, with respect to the Wiener measure, is

$$L_i(t) = \pi_i \exp\left(\mu \int_0^t \mathbf{1}\{J(s) = i\} dY(s) - \frac{1}{2}\mu^2 \int_0^t \mathbf{1}\{J(s) = i\} ds\right).$$
(1.5)

Note that the first integral on the right hand side of (1.5) is well-defined, as J is progressively measurable and Y is continuous (see Chapter 3 of [1]). We can now compute the *posterior probability* of the *i*-th particle having drift μ , given everything we observed till time t, that is, given $\mathcal{Y}(t)$, as

$$\Pi_i(t) = \frac{L_i(t)}{\sum_{k=1}^N L_k(t)}.$$
(1.6)

The existence of the process Π_i such that $\Pi_i(t) = \mathbf{P}\left(\hat{J} = i | \mathcal{Y}(t)\right)$, for $t \ge 0$ and $i \in I$ is non-trivial. Let us recall Theorem 2.1 of [1], as this is particularly important in the construction of the posterior probability process Π .

Theorem 1.0.5 ([1]). Let S be a complete separable metric space and S be the associated Borel σ -algebra. Then there exists a $\mathbf{P}(S)$ -valued $\mathcal{Y}(t)$ -adapted process $\Pi = {\Pi(t), t \ge 0}$ such that for any $f \in B(S)$

$$\Pi_i(t)(f) = \mathbf{E}[f(X_i(t))|\mathcal{Y}(t)] \quad \mathbf{P} - a.s.$$

Moreover, if Y satisfies the evolution equation

$$Y_t = Y_0 + \int_0^t h(X_s) ds + W_t,$$
(1.7)

where W is a standard Brownian motion and $h: S \to \mathbf{R}$ is such that

$$\mathbf{E}\left[\int_0^t ||h(X_s)||^2 ds\right] < \infty,$$

for all $t \geq 0$, then Π has a $\mathcal{Y}(t)$ -adapted progressively measurable modification. Furthermore, if X is càdlàg then Π can be chosen to have càdlàg paths. Remark 1.0.6. The vast majority of Theorem 1.0.5 can be readily applied to our case. The only part that requires a more careful study is whether the observation process Y satisfies (1.7). In [1], and more in general in the *stochastic filtering* literature, the observation process is always assumed to satisfy (1.7). In practice, this boils down to assume that there exist a function h, satisfying the conditions of Theorem 1.0.5, for which Y satisfies (1.7). The modern formulation to the FTL problem was developed in [17], where the authors assume that the process Y satisfies (1.7). We will therefore assume that Y satisfies (1.7) from now on.

Let us denote by $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$ the terminal tolerance error, that is, the maximum probability of terminal error that we are ready to accept. We define the \mathcal{Y} stopping time

$$\tau = \inf\{t \ge 0 | \max_{j} \Pi_{j}(t) = 1 - \varepsilon\},\tag{1.8}$$

and we declare that the *i*-th particle, for some $i \in I$, is the particle with drift μ if at time τ , $\max_j \prod_j(\tau) = \prod_i(\tau)$. By Theorem 1.0.5 we can choose a version of Π with càdlàg paths almost surely and, since L_j , $j \in I$, has continuous paths almost surely, also Π has continuous paths almost surely.

Remark 1.0.7. By definition the posterior probability process $\Pi(t) = (\Pi_1(t), \ldots, \Pi_N(t))$ is a probability measure on Ω for each $t \ge 0$. Hence for $i \in I$ we have

$$\Pi_{i}(t) = 1 - \sum_{k \neq i} \Pi_{k}(t)$$
(1.9)

for all $t \ge 0$. We will see that this property is very useful as it implies a "dimensionality reduction": rather than keeping track of N processes, as we would do by considering the original processes (X_1, \ldots, X_N) , we can consider only N - 1processes, as the posterior probability of the N-th process is given by (1.9). However (1.9) also implies that the processes (Π_1, \ldots, Π_N) are dependent whereas the original processes (X_1, \ldots, X_N) and the likelihood processes (L_1, \ldots, L_N) are independent given the control J. As a consequence of the dependence of the processes (Π_1, \ldots, Π_N) we can rule out the case N = 2 from the set of non-trivial cases. The value of the FTL problem for N = 2 can be easily computed as, by equation (1.9), we have $\Pi_1(t) = 1 - \Pi_2(t)$ for all $t \ge 0$. This implies that at any time $t \ge 0$ it does not matter which process we are observing, as the value of the other one can be immediately deduced by (1.9). Hence for N = 2, all strategies that observe only one process at any time $t \ge 0$ are equivalent and there is not a unique optimal searching strategy. From now on we will consider $N \ge 3$.

Let us now write the FTL problem as a dynamic programming problem. Dynamic programming was introduced in the 1950s by Richard Bellman and has since become one of the main and most important approaches in stochastic optimal control. We will use this approach to give a formal set up to the FTL problem and we will mostly use the notation introduced in [33] and [39]. We can write the value function of the FTL problem as

$$V(l_1, ..., l_N) = \inf_{J \in \mathbf{J}} \mathbf{E}[\tau | L_1(0) = l_1, ..., L_N(0) = l_N, \text{strategy} = J]$$

:= $\inf_{I \in \mathbf{I}} \mathbf{E}_{J,l}[\tau],$ (1.10)

where **J** is the set of admissible searching strategies, V is the value function of the problem, l_1, \ldots, l_N are the starting points of the processes L_1, \ldots, L_N and τ is the stopping time in (1.8), rewritten in terms of likelihood processes using (1.6). We can characterize the set of admissible searching strategies **J** as the set of strategies $(J(t))_{t\geq 0}$.

Remark 1.0.8. Note that the value function of the FTL problem $V(l_1, \ldots, l_N)$ does not depend on the starting time t_0 but only on the starting points l_1, \ldots, l_N . Indeed, we can assume $t_0 = 0$ without losing generality. We can therefore formulate the Follow The Leader problem as an *infinite horizon* dynamic programming problem (see [33] for a detailed explanation of the topic).

1.1 The Generalised FTL problem

A key feature of the FTL problem is that we can only observe one process at each time $t \ge 0$. However, we can obtain very useful insights about the problem by introducing a slight variation of the original problem where we can observe multiple processes at once. To do so we consider the generalized observation process Y(t),

$$Y(t) = \int_0^t \sum_{k=1}^N J_k(s) dX_k(s)$$
 (1.11)

where $J_k(s) \in [0, 1]$ for $k \in I$, $s \leq t$ and, for example,

$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} J_k^2(t) = 1, \qquad (1.12)$$

for $t \geq 0$.

Remark 1.1.1. Model (1.11) allows us to observe "fractions" of particles at each time t, that is, we can dedicate a "portion" of our observation to several particles at once. Note that the original model, used in [17], [36], [25], [24] and [42], considers one-dimensional controls such that $J(t) \in I$, for all $t \ge 0$. It is immediate to see that such a control is equivalent to the following N-dimensional control:

1. $J_k(s) \in \{0, 1\}, k \in I;$ 2. $\sum_{k=1}^{N} J_k(s) = 1$

2.
$$\sum_{k=1}^{N} J_k(s) = 1.$$

Therefore the model we have just introduced can be seen as a generalization of the original model. Furthermore, constraint (1.12) is a further relaxation of the original model and we impose it merely for computational convenience, as it will become clear in the following.

As in the original formulation we assume that the N Brownian motions W_1, \ldots, W_N driving the processes X_1, \ldots, X_N are independent. Given the filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbf{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \geq 0}, \mathbf{P})$, let us define the σ -finite probability measures:

- \mathbf{P}^{0} : probability measure under which all particles are standard Brownian motions. Under this measure no process has a non-zero drift μ and our search would never stop. In such a case the random variable \hat{J} takes value 0;
- \mathbf{P}^i : probability measure under which particle *i*, for $i \in I$, is the Brownian motion with positive drift μ . Under this measure X_i is our target.

Under the measure \mathbf{P}^0 the observation process (1.11) can be written as

$$dY(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} J_k(t) dW_k^0(t)$$
(1.13)

where W_k^0 are \mathbf{P}^0 - Brownian motions for all $k \in I$. Under the measure \mathbf{P}^i , $i \in I$, the observation process (1.11) can be written as

$$dY(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} J_k(s) dW_k^i(s) + \mu J_i(t) dt,$$

where W_k^i are \mathbf{P}^i - Brownian motions.

Remark 1.1.2. Note that the measures \mathbf{P}^0 , \mathbf{P}^i , $i \in I$, are absolutely continuous w.r.t the probability measure \mathbf{P} for T > 0 finite. Moreover, \mathbf{P}^i , $i \in I$, is absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbf{P}^0 for T > 0 finite.

Consider now the probability measure on E, $\mathbf{P}^{0,i}$ under which all $X_i, i \in I$, are standard Brownian motion and we are observing the *i*-th particle, that is $i = j^*$. Note that

$$\mathbf{P}^{0} = \sum_{i=0}^{N} \pi_{i} \mathbf{P}^{0,i}.$$
(1.14)

Therefore we define the *likelihood* of the *i*-th particle X_i having drift $\mu \neq 0$ as

$$\hat{L}_i(t) = \frac{d\mathbf{P}^i}{d\mathbf{P}^{0,i}}(t).$$
(1.15)

Remark 1.1.3. Note that the likelihood \hat{L}_i , $i \in I$, is the unnormalized posterior probability that the *i*-th particle has drift $\mu > 0$. Indeed, note that

$$\Pi_{i}(t) = \mathbf{P}(i = j^{*} | \mathcal{Y}_{t}) = \mathbf{E}[\mathbb{1}\{i = j^{*}\} | \mathcal{Y}_{t}]$$

$$= \mathbf{E}_{0} \left[\mathbb{1}\{i = j^{*}\} \frac{d\mathbf{P}}{d\mathbf{P}^{0}} \middle| \mathcal{Y}_{t} \right]$$

$$= \frac{\mathbf{E}_{0}[\hat{L}_{i}(t) | \mathcal{Y}_{t}]}{\mathbf{E}_{0}[\frac{d\mathbf{P}}{d\mathbf{P}^{0}} | \mathcal{Y}_{t}]}, \qquad (1.16)$$

where the last equality is obtained by Bayes' rule. Note that the numerator $\mathbf{E}_0[\hat{L}_i(t)|\mathcal{Y}_t]$ is the projection of the likelihood \hat{L}_i onto the observation filtration \mathcal{Y} . Let us denote such a process by L_i , that is,

$$L_i(t) = \frac{d\mathbf{P}^i}{d\mathbf{P}^{0,i}}(t)\Big|_{\mathcal{Y}_t}.$$
(1.17)

We can then write (1.16) as

$$\Pi_i(t) = \mathbf{P}(i = j^* | \mathcal{Y}_t) = \frac{L_i(t)}{\sum_j \pi_j L_j(t)}$$

Remark 1.1.4. The likelihood \hat{L}_i , $i \in I$, is a well-defined function. However, there is no guarantee that $\hat{L}_i(t)$ is \mathcal{Y}_t -adapted, which is an essential property that the likelihoods of the model have to satisfy. We overcome this issue by considering the restriction of the likelihood process to the observation filtration L_i .

By definition of Radon-Nikodym derivative (we refer to [1]) the restricted likelihood L_i can be equivalently written as

$$L_{i}(t) = \mathbf{E}_{0}[\hat{L}_{i}(t)|\mathcal{Y}_{t}] =$$

$$= \mathbf{E}_{0} \left[\exp \left\{ \mu W_{i}(t) - \frac{1}{2}\mu^{2}t \right\} \left| \mathcal{Y}_{t} \right] =$$

$$= \exp \left\{ -\frac{1}{2}\mu^{2}t \right\} \mathbf{E}_{0} \left[\exp \left\{ \mu W_{i}(t) \right\} \left| \mathcal{Y}_{t} \right], \qquad (1.18)$$

where \mathbf{E}_0 denotes the expectation under \mathbf{P}^0 . To compute the conditional expectation $\mathbf{E}_0 \left[\exp \left\{ \mu W_j(t) \right\} \middle| \mathcal{Y}_t \right]$ we consider a generic process

$$dZ(t) = \sum_{k} \alpha_k(t) dW_k(t),$$

where $(\alpha(t))_{t\geq 0}$ is a \mathcal{Y}_t -adapted process. Our goal is to decompose Z(t) in two orthogonal components, one that is \mathcal{Y}_t -measurable and a second one that is \mathcal{Y}_t orthogonal, that is

$$dZ(t) = \gamma(t)dY(t) + \gamma^{\perp}(t)dY^{\perp}(t).$$

Denoting by $Y^{\perp,n}$ the *n*-th component of $Y^{\perp} \in \mathbf{R}^{N-1}$, we have $d\langle Y(t), Y^{\perp,n}(t) \rangle = 0$ for $n \in \{1, \ldots, N-1\}$, $\gamma(t) \in \mathbf{R}$ and $\gamma^{\perp}(t) \in \mathbf{R}^{N-1}$, for $t \geq 0$. Consider an orthonormal basis $(J^{\perp}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ for \mathbf{R}^{N-1} . Then we have

$$dZ(t) = \gamma(t) \sum_{k} J_k(t) dW_k(t) + \sum_{k} \gamma_k^{\perp}(t) J_k^{\perp,n}(t) dW_k(t)$$

so that

$$d\langle Y(t),Y^{\perp,n}(t)\rangle = \langle J(t),J^{\perp,n}(t)\rangle dt = 0,$$

for all $n \in \{1, \ldots, N-1\}$. Our goal is to find $(J^{\perp}(t))_{t\geq 0}$ such that

$$\alpha(t) = \gamma(t)J(t) + \gamma^{\perp}(t)J^{\perp}(t)$$

and $\langle J(t), J^{\perp,n}(t) \rangle = 0, n \in \{1, \dots, N-1\}$. If we take $\gamma^{\perp}(t) = \mathbb{1}_{N-1}$, where $\mathbb{1}_{N-1}$ is the identity matrix of dimension N-1, we see that

$$\langle \alpha(t) - \gamma(t)J(t), J(t) \rangle = 0,$$

hence we obtain

$$\gamma(t) = \frac{\langle \alpha(t), J(t) \rangle}{\langle J(t), J(t) \rangle}$$

By choosing $\alpha_k = e_k, k \in I$, where e_k is the k-th vector of the canonical basis of \mathbb{R}^N , we get

$$\gamma(t) = \frac{J_k(t)}{\sum_i J_i^2(t)} = J_k(t),$$

where we used (1.12) to obtain the second equality. We can now write

$$dW_k(t) = J_k(t) \sum_{k'} J_{k'}(t) dW_{k'}(t) + \sum_k J_{k'}^{\perp,n}(t) dW_{k'}(t),$$

where $J_{k'}^{\perp,n}(t) = e_k - J_k(t)J_{k'}(t), \ k' \in I \text{ and } n \in \{1, ..., N-1\}$. Hence we have

$$dW_k(t) = J_k(t) \sum_{k'} J_{k'}(t) dW_{k'}(t) + \sum_{k'} (\delta_{k'=k} - J_k(t) J_{k'}(t)) dW_{k'}(t).$$
(1.19)

By (1.19) we can write (1.18) as

$$\begin{split} L_{j}(t) &= \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}\mu^{2}t\right\} \times \\ &\times \mathbf{E}_{0}\left[\exp\left\{\mu\left(\int_{0}^{t}J_{j}(s)dY(s) + \int_{0}^{t}\sum_{k}(\delta_{k=j} - J_{k}(t)J_{j}(t))dW_{k}(t)\right)\right\} \left|\mathcal{Y}_{t}\right] \\ &= \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}\mu^{2}t\right\}\exp\left\{\mu\int_{0}^{t}J_{j}(s)dY(s)\right\} \times \\ &\times \mathbf{E}_{0}\left[\int_{0}^{t}\sum_{k}(\delta_{k=j} - J_{k}(t)J_{j}(t))dW_{k}(t) \left|\mathcal{Y}_{t}\right] \\ &= \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}\mu^{2}t\right\}\exp\left\{\mu\int_{0}^{t}J_{j}(s)dY(s)\right\} \times \\ &\times \mathbf{E}_{0}\left[\exp\left\{\mu\int_{0}^{t}\sum_{k}\beta_{k}(s)dW_{k}(s)\right\} \left|\mathcal{Y}_{t}\right], \end{split}$$

where

$$\beta_k(t) = \begin{cases} -J_j(t)J_k(t) & k \neq j \\ -J_j(t)^2 + 1 & k = j \end{cases}.$$

Conditioning $\mathbf{E}_0 \left[\exp \left\{ \mu \int_0^t \sum_k \beta_k(s) dW_k(s) \right\} \middle| \mathcal{Y}_t \right]$ on J(t), we see that

$$\mathbf{E}_0\left[\exp\left\{\mu\int_0^t\sum_k\beta_k(s)dW_k(s)\right\}\Big|\mathcal{Y}_t\right]=\exp\left\{\frac{1}{2}\mu^2\int_0^t(1-J_j^2(s))ds\right\}.$$

Therefore we can write (1.18) as

$$L_j(t) = \exp\left\{-\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 \int_0^t J_j^2(s)ds + \mu \int_0^t J_j(s)dY(s)\right\}.$$
 (1.20)

By Ito's formula and using (1.12) we conclude that

$$dL_j(t) = \mu J_j(t) L_j(t) dY(t).$$
 (1.21)

Remark 1.1.5. Note that the likelihood L_j , $j \in I$, is a martingale under \mathbf{P}^0 . The standard way to show this is to check Novikov's condition (see [30]), but this can be quite difficult to verify. Alternatively, we can exploit Lemma 3.9 of [1], which shows that L_j is a \mathbf{P}^0 -martingale under slightly weaker conditions.

Equation (1.21) describes the likelihood of the *j*-th particle L_j , $j \in I$, under the measure \mathbf{P}^0 . However under \mathbf{P}^0 all particles are standard Brownian motions, which removes any information gain from the problem. To properly model the FTL problem we need to define a new measure that we call *posterior probability* measure \mathbf{P}_{π} , defined as

$$\mathbf{P}_{\pi} = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \pi_k \mathbf{P}^k, \qquad (1.22)$$

where $\pi = (\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_N)$ is the prior distribution defined in (1.4). Let us now define the process Z_{π} as

$$Z_{\pi}(t) = \frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{P}^{0}}(t)\Big|_{\mathcal{Y}(t)},\tag{1.23}$$

the Radon-Nikodym derivative of \mathbf{P}_{π} with respect to \mathbf{P}^{0} restricted to the observation filtration $\mathcal{Y}(t)$. Since \mathbf{P}^{i} is absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbf{P}^{0} , $i \in I$, also \mathbf{P}_{π} is absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbf{P}^{0} and (1.23) is well-defined. By definition of \mathbf{P}_{π} we see that

$$Z_{\pi}(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \pi_k \frac{d\mathbf{P}^k}{d\mathbf{P}^0}(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} \pi_k L_k(t).$$
(1.24)

To derive an equation describing the behavior of the likelihood processes L_i , $i \in I$, under the posterior measure \mathbf{P}_{π} , we first need to study the processes $(W_i(t))_{t\geq 0}$, $i \in I$, driving the particles: we know that W is a N-dimensional Brownian motion under \mathbf{P}^0 , but we do not know anything about its behavior under \mathbf{P}_{π} . To do so, let us define the *posterior probability process* of the *i*-th particle Π_i , $i \in I$, as

$$\Pi_i(t) = \frac{\pi_i L_i(t)}{\sum_{k=1}^N \pi_k L_k(t)},$$
(1.25)

and note that if the prior distribution is uniform, that is, if $\pi = \pi_1 = \pi_2 = \cdots = \pi_N$, equation (1.25) simplifies to (1.6).

Remark 1.1.6. This approach is well understood in the filtering literature. In this literature there is often a distinction between the normalized filtered distribution of the unknown state variable, that is $\Pi(t) = (\Pi_i(t), \ldots, \Pi_N(t))$, whose dynamics are described by the Kushner-Stratonovich equation, and the unnormalized filtered distribution $L(t) = (L_1(t), \ldots, L_N(t))$, whose dynamics are given by the Zakai equation (see for example [1]).

Lemma 1.1.7. Denote by W^i_{π} , $i \in I$, the stochastic process defined on the filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbf{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \geq 0}, \mathbf{P})$, specified by the following SDE:

$$dW^i_{\pi}(t) = dW_i(t) - \Pi_i(t)dt, \quad t \ge 0.$$

Then W^i_{π} , $i \in I$, is a \mathbf{P}_{π} -Brownian motion.

Proof. We prove this by Lévy's characterization of Brownian motion (see for example [38]). To do so we need to verify 3 conditions:

- 1. $W^{i}_{\pi}(0) = 0 \mathbf{P}_{\pi}$ -a.s., $i \in I$;
- 2. $W^i_{\pi}(t)$ is a \mathbf{P}_{π} -local martingale (see [38]), $i \in I$.
- 3. the quadratic variation of W^i_{π} is such that $[W^i_{\pi}]_t = t$, for all t > 0.

In this particular case we can show that W^i_{π} , $i \in I$, is a \mathbf{P}_{π} -martingale, which in turn implies property 2. It is readily verifiable that $W^i_{\pi}(0) = 0 \ \mathbf{P}_{\pi}$ -a.s., for all $i \in I$. To show that property 2 holds true we need to prove that, for $s \leq t$, $s, t \geq 0$,

$$\mathbf{E}_{\pi}\left[\left(W_{i}(t)-W_{i}(s)\right)-\mu\int_{s}^{t}\Pi_{i}(r)dr\Big|\mathcal{Y}(s)\right]=0.$$

Since L_i , for $i \in I$, is a \mathbf{P}^0 -martingale, it can be readily proved that $\Pi_i(t)$ is a \mathbf{P}_{π} -martingale, as Π_i is defined as in (1.25). Hence

$$\begin{split} \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[(W_i(t) - W_i(s)) - \mu \int_s^t \Pi_i(r) dr \Big| \mathcal{Y}(s) \right] &= \\ &= \sum_{k=1}^N \pi_k \mathbf{E}_k \left[(W_i(t) - W_i(s)) - \mu \int_s^t \Pi_i(r) dr \Big| \mathcal{Y}(s) \right] = \\ &= \mu \pi_i(t-s) - \mu \sum_{k=1}^N \pi_k \mathbf{E}_k \left[\int_s^t \Pi_i(r) dr \Big| \mathcal{Y}(s) \right] = \\ &= \mu \pi_i(t-s) - \mu \sum_{k=1}^N \pi_k \mathbf{E}_0 \left[L_k(t) \int_s^t \Pi_i(r) dr \Big| \mathcal{Y}(s) \right] = \\ &= \mu \pi_i(t-s) - \mu \sum_{k=1}^N \pi_k \mathbf{E}_0 \left[L_k(t) \int_s^t \Pi_i(r) dr \Big| \mathcal{Y}(s) \right] = \\ &= \mu \pi_i(t-s) - \mu \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[\int_s^t \Pi_i(r) dr \Big| \mathcal{Y}(s) \right] = \\ &= \mu \pi_i(t-s) - \mu \pi_i(t-s) = 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore W_{π}^{i} is a \mathbf{P}_{π} -martingale, $i \in I$. To show property 3 recall that the quadratic variation of an Ito's process $X(t) = X(0) + \int_{0}^{t} \sigma(s) dW(s) + \int_{0}^{t} \mu(s) ds$ can be computed as $[X]_{t} = \int_{0}^{t} \sigma^{2}(s) ds$. Hence, we can immediately see that $[W_{\pi}^{i}]_{t} = t$, for all $t \geq 0$.

This proves that W^i_{π} is a \mathbf{P}_{π} -standard Brownian motion.

By Lemma 1.1.7 we can rewrite the observation process (1.13) as

$$dY(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} J_k(t) dW_k(t) = \sum_{k=1}^{N} J_k(t) \{ dW_{\pi}^k(t) + \mu \Pi_k(t) dt \},$$
(1.26)

which, given (1.21), leads to

$$dL_{i}^{\pi}(t) = \mu J_{i}(t)L_{i}^{\pi}(t)dY(t) =$$

= $\mu J_{i}(t)L_{i}^{\pi}(t)\sum_{k=1}^{N} J_{k}(t)\{dW_{\pi}^{k}(t) + \mu \Pi_{k}(t)dt\}.$ (1.27)

Remark 1.1.8. Clearly L_i^{π} is not a P_{π} -martingale for any $i \in I$. However, Π_i is a P_{π} -martingale for all $i \in I$, as we have shown in Lemma 1.1.7 (in particular, Π_i is a P_{π} - standard Brownian motion, $i \in I$).

Remark 1.1.9. Let $i^* \in I$ denote the observed particle at time $t \ge 0$. Then we have $J_{i^*}(t) = 1$ and $J_i(t) = 0$ for all $i \ne i^*$, $i \in I$. Therefore the likelihood process at time $t \ge 0$ looks like

$$dL_{i^*}^{\pi}(t) = \mu L_{i^*}^{\pi}(t) dY(t) =$$

= $\mu L_{i^*}^{\pi}(t) \sum_{k=1}^{N} \{ dW_{\pi}^k(t) + \mu \Pi_k(t) dt \},$
 $dL_i^{\pi}(t) = 0, \quad i \neq i^*.$

We can rewrite the value of the FTL problem (1.10) as

$$V(\pi_1, \dots, \pi_N) = \min_{J \in \mathbf{J}} \mathbf{E}_{\pi}[\tau_J | \Pi_1(0) = \pi_1, \dots, \Pi_N(0) = \pi_N], \qquad (1.28)$$

where τ_J is defined as in (1.8) and \mathbf{E}_{π} denotes the expectation under the posterior measure P^{π} .

Remark 1.1.10. The value functions (1.10) and (1.28) are equivalent. By switching our attention from (1.10) to (1.28) we are passing from a problem on the original process X, with values in \mathbb{R}^N , to a different problem on the posterior probability process II. As $\Pi(t)$ is a probability measure on Ω for all $t \geq 0$, Π takes values on $\mathcal{P}(\Omega)$, the set of probability measures on Ω . This makes the FTL problem a *measure-valued* stochastic optimal control problem. This kind of optimization problems are often used in mathematical finance and have many interesting applications (see for example [11]).

The posterior probability of the *i*-th particle at time $t \ge 0$, $\Pi_i(t)$, as defined in (1.25) differs from the likelihood of the *i*-th particle at time $t \ge 0$, $L_i^{\pi}(t)$ only by a multiplicative factor. Therefore we expect the optimal strategy and the value function in the space of likelihoods to be the same as in the space of posterior probabilities. This implies that we can either focus on (1.28) or on

$$V(l_1, \dots, l_N) = \min_{J \in \mathbf{J}} \mathbf{E}_{\pi}[\tau_{J^L} | L_1^{\pi}(0) = l_1, \dots, L_N^{\pi}(0) = l_N],$$
(1.29)

where

$$\tau_{JL} = \inf\left\{ t \ge 0 \middle| \max_{j} L_{j}^{\pi}(t) = \frac{1-\varepsilon}{\varepsilon} \sum_{k \ne j} \frac{\pi_{k}}{\pi_{j}} L_{k}^{\pi}(t) \right\}.$$
 (1.30)

This is equivalent to say that

$$V(l_1, \dots, l_N) = V(\pi_1, \dots, \pi_N).$$
 (1.31)

Remark 1.1.11. More generally we expect $V(\alpha l_1, \ldots, \alpha l_N) = V(l_1, \ldots, l_N) \ \forall \alpha > 0$. This assumption is pretty natural as it states that multiplying all likelihoods by a constant does not affect the average searching time of a given strategy $J \in \mathbf{J}$. Indeed, by multiplying all particles by a common constant $\alpha > 0$ we also change the stopping time τ_{JL} in equation (1.30) by the same quantity, to get

$$\tau_{J^L} = \inf\left\{ t \ge 0 \, \Big| \, \max_j \left(\alpha L_j^{\pi}(t) \right) = \frac{1 - \varepsilon}{\varepsilon} \sum_{k \ne j} \frac{\pi_k}{\pi_j} \left(\alpha L_k^{\pi}(t) \right) \right\}.$$

Remark 1.1.12. The version of the FTL problem with value (1.28) has nice theoretical properties and we will make use of it when needed, but we will consider, for the most part, the FTL problem in the space of likelihoods, that is, the value function (1.29), as the independence of the likelihood processes $L_1^{\pi}, \ldots, L_N^{\pi}$ makes computations and numerical simulations much easier.

As pointed out in Remark 1.1.11, we expect the value function of the FTL problem to be invariant to multiplication of constants $\alpha > 0$. In the following theorem we are going to show that the value of the FTL problem is also invariant to permutation of the prior distribution π .

Theorem 1.1.13. Consider a prior distribution $\Pi(0) = \pi = (\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_N)$ and let us sort it in a decreasing way $\hat{\pi} = (\hat{\pi}_1, \ldots, \hat{\pi}_N)$, so that $\hat{\pi}_1 \ge \cdots \ge \hat{\pi}_N$. Denote by V the value function of the FTL problem as defined in (1.28). Then we have

$$V(\hat{\pi}_1,\ldots,\hat{\pi}_N)=V(\pi_1,\ldots,\pi_N).$$

Proof. Consider J_{π} as the set of admissible strategies given a prior distribution π . Consider a permutation $P: I \to I$ and define J_{π^p} as the set of admissible strategies given the prior distribution $\pi^p = (\pi_{P(1)}, \ldots, \pi_{P(N)})$. Consider a control $J' \in J_{\pi}$. Let us fix $\omega \in \Omega$ and apply J' so to get likelihoods $L^{\pi}(t, \omega) = (L_1^{\pi}(t, \omega), \ldots, L_N^{\pi}(t, \omega))$. By Remark 1.1.11, we can equivalently consider the problem in the space of likelihoods. Recall that $L_i^{\pi}(t)$ is the unique strong solution (given $L_i^{\pi}(0) = l_i$) of (1.27), $t \geq 0$ and $i \in I$, and that the likelihoods are driven by a collection of independent P_{π} -Brownian motions $W_1^{\pi}(t), \ldots, W_N^{\pi}(t)$. Consider a new filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{G}, \mathbf{G} = (\mathcal{G}_t)_{t>0}, \mathbf{P})$ on which are defined N

independent Brownian motions $W_{P(1)}^{\pi}(t), \ldots, W_{P(N)}^{\pi}(t)$. On this probability space we can define a new collection of likelihood processes $L_{P(1)}^{\pi}, \ldots, L_{P(N)}^{\pi}$ as

$$dL_{P(i)}^{\pi}(t) = \mu J_{P(i)}(t) L_{P(i)}^{\pi}(t) dY(t) = \mu J_{P(i)}(t) L_{P(i)}^{\pi}(t) \sum_{k=1}^{N} J_{P(k)}(t) \{ dW_{P(k)}^{\pi}(t) + \mu \Pi_{P(k)}(t) dt \}.$$
 (1.32)

Note that $(L_{P(1)}^{\pi}, \ldots, L_{P(N)}^{\pi})$ has prior distribution l^{p} and that $L_{P(i)}^{\pi}$ is the unique strong solution of (1.32) on $(\Omega, \mathcal{G}, \mathbf{G} = (\mathcal{G}_{t})_{t \geq 0}, \mathbf{P})$. Define a strategy $J'' \in J_{\pi^{p}}$ such that $J''(t) = (J'_{P(1)}(t), \ldots, J'_{P(N)}(t))$ for all $t \geq 0$. By the bijectivity of P, J'' is unique. Let us apply J'' on $(L_{P(1)}^{\pi}, \ldots, L_{P(N)}^{\pi})$ and consider the same path $\omega \in \Omega$. Then $(L_{P(1)}^{\pi}(t, \omega), \ldots, L_{P(N)}^{\pi}(t, \omega)) = (L_{1}^{\pi}(t, \omega), \ldots, L_{N}^{\pi}(t, \omega))$. Moreover J'' inherits the progressive measurability and therefore the \mathcal{Y}_{t} -adaptivity of J'. \Box

One of the most important feature of the dynamic programming approach is to associate to each strategy $J \in \mathbf{J}'$ a value function V_J of the form

$$V_J(l_1,\ldots,l_N) = \mathbf{E}_{\pi}[\tau_{J^L}|L_1^{\pi}(0) = l_1,\ldots,L_N^{\pi}(0) = l_N, \text{ strategy} = J], \quad (1.33)$$

and a corresponding Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman (HJB) equation (see [33] and [39] for an extensive introduction) which can be regarded as the "infinitesimal" version of the dynamic programming principle (DPP). The associated HJB equation is a second-order linear ordinary differential equation (ODE) of the form

$$H_{i}(f) = \frac{\partial f}{\partial l_{i}} \mu^{2} \frac{l_{i}^{2}}{\sum_{k} l_{i}} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^{2} f}{\partial l_{i}^{2}} \mu^{2} l_{i}^{2} + 1, \qquad (1.34)$$

where $f \in C^2(\mathbf{R}^N)$, $f : \mathbf{R}^N \to \mathbf{R}$. In particular, we expect the value function V_J of the policy $J \in \mathbf{J}$ to solve equation (1.34), that is,

$$\frac{\partial V_J}{\partial l_i} \frac{\mu^2 l_i^2}{\sum_k l_i} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 V_J}{\partial l_i^2} \mu^2 l_i^2 + 1 = 0, \qquad (1.35)$$

with associated boundary conditions. By equations (1.33) and (1.34), we can rewrite equation (1.29) as

$$V(l_1,\ldots,l_N)=\min_{J\in\mathbf{J}}V_J(l_1,\ldots,l_N),$$

and we can define the *optimal strategy* $J^* \in \mathbf{J}$ as the policy such that

$$V_{J^*}(l_1,\ldots,l_N) = V(l_1,\ldots,l_N) = \min_{J \in \mathbf{J}} V_J(l_1,\ldots,l_N).$$
(1.36)

We would expect the value function of the FTL problem V to solve the following ODE:

$$\min_{k} H_k(V)(l) = 0, \tag{1.37}$$

with associated boundary conditions. Unfortunately, there are no guarantees that $V \in C^2(\mathbf{R}^N)$. In fact, this is in general not true even with value functions of relatively simple stochastic control problems. To overcome this issue we need to resort to the notion of viscosity solution: viscosity solutions were introduced in the 1990s in [12] and provide a method to find solutions to second-order partial differential equations (PDE) when a classical strong solution is not well-defined. In particular, the viscosity solutions approach provides powerful means to study in great generality stochastic optimal control problems and gives a rigorous formulation of the HJB equation for functions that are only assumed to be locally bounded. By combining these results with comparison principles for viscosity solution of the associated HJB equation. [33] and [39] have great chapters about this topic. Given the central role of viscosity solutions in the following, we recall the definition of viscosity solution for a second-order PDE.

1.2 The value as viscosity solution of the HJB equation

Definition 1.2.1 (Definition 4.2.1, [33]). Consider an open subset \mathcal{O} of \mathbb{R}^N , $N \in \mathbb{N}$, and w a locally bounded function $w : \mathcal{O} \to \mathbb{R}$. Consider a second-order PDE of the form

$$F(x, w(x), Dw(x), D^2w(x)) = 0, \quad x \in \mathcal{O},$$
 (1.38)

where F is a continuous function on $\mathcal{O} \times \mathbf{R} \times \mathbf{R}^n \times \mathcal{S}_n$ taking values in \mathbf{R} , where \mathcal{S}_n is the space of symmetric $n \times n$ matrices. We assume that F satisfies the ellipticity condition, that is, for all $x \in \mathcal{O}$, $r \in \mathbf{R}$, $p \in \mathbf{R}^n$, $M, \hat{M} \in \mathcal{S}_n$,

$$M \le \hat{M} \implies F(x, r, p, M) \ge F(x, r, p, \hat{M}),$$

where $M \leq \hat{M} \iff M - \hat{M} \in S_n^+$, and S_n^+ is the set of non-negative definite matrices in S_n . Denote by w^*, w_* the smallest (resp. largest) upper-semicontinuous function above (resp. lower-semicontinuous function below) w on \mathcal{O} . Then:

1. w is a viscosity subsolution of (1.38) on \mathcal{O} if

$$F(\bar{x}, w^*(\bar{x}), D\phi(\bar{x}), D^2\phi(\bar{x})) \le 0 \quad x \in \mathcal{O},$$
(1.39)

for $\bar{x} \in \mathcal{O}$ and for all $\phi \in C^2(\mathcal{O})$, such that \bar{x} is a maximum point of $w^* - \phi$;

2. w is a viscosity supersolution of (1.38) on \mathcal{O} if

$$F(\bar{x}, w_*(\bar{x}), D\phi(\bar{x}), D^2\phi(\bar{x})) \ge 0 \quad x \in \mathcal{O},$$

$$(1.40)$$

for $\bar{x} \in \mathcal{O}$ and for all $\phi \in C^2(\mathcal{O})$, such that \bar{x} is a minimum point of $w_* - \phi$;

3. We say that w is a viscosity solution of (1.38) on \mathcal{O} , if it is both a subsolution and a supersolution of (1.38).

Remark 1.2.2. We can interpret the notion of viscosity solution as follows: we evaluate the PDE (1.38) on the "closest" semicontinuous function to w (either w^* or w_*) but at the same time we evaluate the gradient and the second derivatives on a smooth function $\phi \in C^2(\mathcal{O})$. The idea underneath it is to ignore the kinks of w and substitute the gradient and second derivatives of w on those points with gradient and second derivatives of a smooth function $\phi \in C^2(\mathcal{O})$.

Remark 1.2.3. A deep treatment of the theory of viscosity solutions is beyond the scope of this thesis. What interest us the most is to characterize the value function of an infinite horizon stochastic optimal control problem as the unique viscosity solution of the corresponding *variational* HJB equation. To do so, let us recall one more theoretical result.

Consider a general controlled diffusion process X on the filtered probability space $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbf{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t \geq 0}, \mathbf{P})$, with values on \mathbf{R}^n described by the following SDE:

$$dX(s) = b(X(s), \alpha(s))ds + \sigma(X(s), \alpha(s))dW(s), \qquad (1.41)$$

where W is a d-dimensional Brownian motion on $(\Omega, \mathcal{F}, \mathbf{F} = (\mathcal{F}_t)_{t\geq 0}, \mathbf{P})$ and the control process $\alpha = (\alpha(s))$ is **F**-progressively measurable and valued in $A \subset \mathbf{R}^m$. The coefficients b and σ satisfy the usual regularity conditions that guarantee that (1.41) has a unique strong solution (see Chapter 1 of [33]). The Hamiltonian associated to a stochastic optimal control problem for the controlled diffusion (1.41) has the general form

$$H(x, p, M) = \sup_{\alpha \in A} \left\{ b(x, \alpha)p + \frac{1}{2}tr(\sigma(x, \alpha)\sigma'(x, \alpha)M) + f(x, \alpha) \right\}.$$
 (1.42)

Assumption 1.2.4. Let us assume that H is continuous on $\operatorname{int}(\operatorname{dom}(H))$, that the function f in (1.42) has quadratic growth and that $f(., \alpha)$ is continuous in x for all $\alpha \in A$. Assume that there exist a continuous function $G : \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathbb{R}^n \times \mathcal{S}_n \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$(x, p, M) \in dom(H) \iff G(x, p, M) \ge 0.$$

Then the following theorem holds true:

Theorem 1.2.5 (Theorem 4.3.1, [33]). Suppose the value function v is locally bounded and that assumptions 1.2.4 hold true. Then for all $\beta > 0$, where β is a discount factor, v is a viscosity solution of the HJB variational inequality:

$$\min\{\beta v(x) - H(x, Dv(x), D^2 v(x)), G(x, Dv(x), D^2 v(x))\} = 0$$
(1.43)

for $x \in \mathbf{R}^n$.

We cannot apply Theorem 1.2.5 directly to our case, as the result requires a discount factor $\beta > 0$. To apply Theorem 1.2.5 to our case we will approach the problem as a discounted problem with bounded horizon and discount rate $\beta \searrow 0$.

Theorem 1.2.6. Given a prior distribution $l = (l_1, \ldots, l_N)$ for the likelihood process $L^{\pi} = (L_1^{\pi}, \ldots, L_N^{\pi})$ defined by (1.25), the value function of the Follow The Leader problem V, that is the unique solution of the minimization problem (1.28), is the unique viscosity solution of the equation

$$\min_{k} H_k(V)(l) = 0, \tag{1.44}$$

with boundary condition

$$V(\partial^{\varepsilon} D) = 0, \tag{1.45}$$

where

$$D = \left\{ l \in \mathbf{R}^N \middle| l_k \ge 0 \ \forall k \right\}$$
(1.46)

and $\partial^{\varepsilon} D = \{ l \in D | l_{k^*} = \max_k l_k = \frac{1-\varepsilon}{\varepsilon} \sum_{k \neq k^*} l_k \}.$

Proof. Let us introduce the notation $L^u = (L^{1,u}, \ldots, L^{N,u})$, where $L^{i,u}$ is the likelihood of the *i*-th box, $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$, under the admissible control u. For readability we will write $L^{i,u}$ in place of $L^{\pi}_{i,u}$ for the remainder of the proof.

In the FTL case the dynamics of the likelihood L^i are given (in law) by (see equation (1.27) with k = 1):

$$dL_t^{i,u} = \mathbb{1}_{\{u_t=i\}} \frac{(L_t^{i,u})^2}{\sum_k L_t^{k,u}} \mu^2, dt + \mathbb{1}_{\{u_t=i\}} \mu L_t^{i,u} dW_t.$$

Note that, as pointed out in Remark 1.1.11, the dynamics of the likelihood process are invariant to scaling. That is, scaling the likelihood process L by a constant α will scale through the future likelihood in a common manner. If our objectives in the control problem are invariant to scaling, then the value will be invariant to scaling too.

In the case of the posterior distribution, we can compute the posterior probability of the *j*-th box in terms of the likelihoods, by $\Pi^j = L^j / \sum_k L^k$. When we observe the *i*-th box, we then see:

$$d\Pi_t^{j,u} = \mu \Pi_t^{j,u} \left(\mathbb{1}_{\{j=u_t\}} - \sum_k \mathbb{1}_{\{k=u_t\}} \Pi_t^{k,u} \right) \, dW_t.$$
(1.47)

Observe also that, since $\sum_k \Pi_t^{k,u} = 1$, we have that $d \sum_k \Pi_t^{k,u} = 0$.

Note that by Theorem 1.1.13 and Remark 1.1.11, the original value function $v(\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_N)$ satisfies a reordering condition $v(\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_N) = v(\ell_{\sigma(1)}, \ldots, \ell_{\sigma(N)})$

where σ is an arbitrary permutation of $\{1, \ldots, N\}$, and also a rescaling condition, that is

$$v(\ell_1,\ldots,\ell_N) = v(\alpha\ell_1,\ldots,\alpha\ell_N)$$

where $\alpha > 0$. Consequently, we can define the value for the problem given in terms of π in a rescaled fashion, namely:

$$\hat{v}(\pi^1,\ldots,\pi^N) := v(\pi^1,\ldots,\pi^N)$$

where we only interpret \hat{v} on the set of probability vectors, $\pi^i \in [0, 1]$ and $\sum_k \pi^k = 1$.

We first aim to prove:

- 1. The function \hat{v} is bounded on $\mathcal{P}(\{1, \ldots, N\})$.
- 2. The function \hat{v} is continuous on $\mathcal{P}(\{1, \ldots, N\})$.

To see the first, we argue as follows. Fix a stopping probability ε , we want to run until $\tau_{\varepsilon} := \inf\{t \ge 0 : \pi^j > 1 - \varepsilon\}$, some $j \in \{1, \ldots, N\}\}$, and we want to show that there exists K > 0 such that

$$\tau_{\varepsilon} \leq K$$

for some observation strategy. Fix $\eta \in (0, 1/N)$.

Fix a prior distribution π . Since $\sum_k \pi^i = 1$, there exists an index j such that $\pi^j \geq \frac{1}{N}$. We observe this index j until either $\Pi^j = 1 - \varepsilon$, or $\Pi^j = \eta$. We observe that the expected time to exit for the process given we start at $\pi^j = \pi_0$ can be computed as $w(\cdot)$, where $w(\cdot)$ is the solution to the second order ODE:

$$w(\eta) = 0 = w(1 - \varepsilon), \quad \mu^2 \pi^2 (1 - \pi)^2 w''(\pi) = -2.$$
 (1.48)

To see this is a straightforward application of Itô's Lemma.

Note that the resulting function w is bounded, from which we conclude that there is a maximal average time w^* that the process will take to reach either $1-\varepsilon$ or η from any given starting point in $[\eta, \varepsilon]$. Moreover, if we write H_y for the first hitting time of y, since Π is a martingale, it also follows that $\mathbb{P}(H_{1-\varepsilon} < H_{\eta} | \pi_0 = \pi) = \frac{\pi - \eta}{1 - \varepsilon - \eta}$. In particular, if $\pi \geq \frac{1}{N}$, then $\mathbb{P}(H_{1-\varepsilon} < H_{\eta} | \pi_0 = \pi) > \delta$ for some $\delta > 0$.

Finally, observe that the following strategy guarantees on average a searching time of at most w^*/δ : initially choose any index which has $\pi^i \geq \frac{1}{N}$. It is clear that at least one such index must exists. Observe this index until either the probability of this index exceeds $1 - \varepsilon$, or it drops below η . On average, this will take time at most w^* . With probability at least δ , the index will stop with probability at least $1 - \varepsilon$ and we have identified the valid index. Otherwise we can choose another index, again choosing an index with initial probability at least 1/N, and repeat. The number of repeated trials is bounded above in law by a geometric distribution with parameter δ , and therefore we need an average of at most δ^{-1} such trials. Conditional on the initial starting point, each trial has average length at most w^* , giving the upper bound.

We now turn to the proof of continuity. First observe that using the equivalence of formulation as v or \hat{v} , it is sufficient to prove continuity of v, rather than continuity of \hat{v} in the interior of \mathcal{P} . It is straightforward to see, using similar ideas to above, that for any $(\ell_1, \ldots, \ell_N) \in \mathbb{R}^N$, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that an appropriate choice of strategy can reach any point in the ball of radius δ in small time, with high probability: following a similar calculation to that in (1.48), it is straightforward to see that one can move from (ℓ_1, \ldots, ℓ_N) to $(\ell'_1, \ell_2, \ldots, \ell_N)$ in small (average) time, with high probability of success. Repeating, continuity follows.

To show continuity in general, that is, continuity including the boundary where $\pi^i = 0$ for some $i \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$ is harder, and is not standard, see for example [9]. First observe that if π is sufficiently close to the stopping region, then we can find a strategy that stops within small time on average. That is, given $\xi > 0$, there exists $\delta > 0$ such that for any π such that $\pi^j > 1 - \varepsilon - \delta$ for some $j \in \{1, \ldots, N\}$, then there exists a strategy which will stop in average time less than ξ . This follows immediately from running the argument above.

Now consider $\hat{v}(\pi)$. We show that for any $\xi > 0$, we can find a ball around π such that $\hat{v}(\pi') \leq \hat{v}(\pi) + \xi$, for all π' in the ball.

Since the diffusion coefficient in (1.47) is Lipschitz in π , standard results on diffusions imply that for a given control u that has expected exit time smaller than $\hat{v}(\pi) + \xi/4$, and T > 0, we can find a ball around π such that $\mathbb{P}(\sup_{s \leq T} ||\pi_s - \pi'_s|| > \delta') < \xi/(4w^*)$, where $(\pi'_s)_{s \leq T}$ is the controlled process following the same strategy as $(\pi_s)_{s \leq T}$, but starting at π' . Fix T large enough that $(\pi_s)_{s \leq T}$ reaches the stopping set

$$P := \{ \pi : \pi^i \ge 1 - \varepsilon \text{ for some } i \}$$

with probability at least $1 - \xi/(4w^*)$ before time T (such a time T exists since $\hat{v}(\pi)$ is finite). Then we run the $(\pi'_s)_{s \leq T}$ process until we stop π , or T. If we stop π , then by the argument above, π' is sufficiently close to the stopping region, and we can choose our original ball such that the expected time to reach the exit region from this position is less than $\xi/4$. If we reach time T, then we can still construct a strategy to reach P with average time at most w^* . The conclusion follows.

Once we have continuity of the value function on the whole domain, it is easy to verify that it is the unique value function: we can, for example, approximate from below by a well-behaved approximation (see for example [19]), and take limits, using Dini's Theorem to deduce uniform convergence. Specifically, consider an increasing sequence of connected, compact, subsets K^N of \mathbb{R}^N with smooth boundaries, increasing in \mathbb{R}^N . Consider the problem of minimising the expected time to exit from $int(K^N) \cap P^C$ using the control strategies as above. Standard results (e.g. [9, Theorem 4.1]) show that under these additional assumptions, the corresponding value functions are continuous viscosity solutions to the corresponding HJB equation, and taking the limit as $N \to \infty$, we recover the value of the original problem.

The limit is then also a viscosity solution by stability results (see Lemma 6.2 from [19]), and we then get the desired conclusion. \Box

We conclude this chapter by formally defining the FTL strategy: such a policy is deceptively simple, but in fact is not trivial to define it rigorously. To see why, consider the following situation: we start with a generic prior distribution l. By Theorem 1.1.13 we can sort the prior distribution decreasingly without affecting the value of the problem, so that we have $l = (l_1, l_2, \ldots, l_N)$ with $l_1 \ge l_2 \ge \cdots \ge l_N$. We choose to apply the FTL policy and to observe the first particle L_1 at time t = 0. There are 2 possible outcomes:

- 1. the process X_1 is easily identified as having the drift μ and the likelihood L_1 reaches the threshold $l^* := m_{\varepsilon} \sum_{k>1} l_k$ before going down to the level l_2 . In this case the search is over;
- 2. we still do not have enough data to confidently say that X_1 has drift μ , so the likelihood L_1 goes down to the level l_2 before touching l^* .

In principle, outcome 2 could happen an infinite number of times and infinitely often. Recalling that L_1^{π} is characterised as the unique strong solution of equation (1.27) (with $J_1(t) = 1$ for $t \ge 0$), we see that the behaviour in outcome 2 implies that equation (1.27) has no strong solution and, therefore, that the likelihood L_1 is not well-defined. To solve this issue, we observe that we can understand the phenomenon by introducing a *local time effect* at point *l*. Indeed, note that equation (1.27) under the FTL strategy can be rewritten as

$$dL_{i}^{\pi}(t) = \mathbb{1}_{\{t \ge 0 | L_{i}^{\pi}(t) = \max_{k} L_{k}^{\pi}(t)\}} \mu L_{i}^{\pi}(t) \{ dW_{i}^{\pi}(t) + \mu \Pi_{i}(t) dt \},$$
(1.49)

for $i \in I$, $t \ge 0$. It is evident that the coefficients of (1.49) are not Lipschitz, or even continuous, so the sense in which the SDE (1.49) has a solution needs to be clarified. Equation (1.49) has strong similarities with the celebrated Tanaka SDE: in particular, if we take N = 2, we ignore the drift term and we define $y(t) = L_1^{\pi}(t) - L_2^{\pi}(t)$, we see that (1.49) can be written as

$$dy(t) = sign(y(t))\mu dW^{\pi}(t),$$

for $t \ge 0$, which is exactly Tanaka SDE. There is no strong solution to such SDE, but there exists a weak solution, represented by taking Y to be a Brownian motion started at $y(0) = L_1^{\pi}(0) - L_2^{\pi}(0)$, which we may as well suppose is positive,

and then defining dW(t) = sign(y(t))dy(t) = d|y(t)| - dE(t), where E is the local time of y at zero. Then we have

$$L_1^{\pi}(t) = L_1^{\pi}(0) + y^+(t) - \frac{1}{2}E(t)$$

$$L_2^{\pi}(t) = L_2^{\pi}(0) + y^-(t) - \frac{1}{2}E(t).$$

It is beyond the scope of this thesis to study the theory of excursions and local times, but we will see how to use local times to construct the FTL policy in the next section. Theorem 1 of [17], which we will partially recall in the next section, will be extremely useful in this regard. We refer to [38] and [40] for a in-depth treatment of the topic.

1.3 Local time effect

Following the approach proposed by [17], we define the log-likelihood of the *i*-th particle Z_i^{π} , $i \in I$, as

$$Z_i^{\pi}(t) := \mu^{-1} \log(L_i^{\pi}(t)), \quad t \ge 0, \quad \mu \ne 0.$$
(1.50)

Given $Z_i^{\pi}(0) = z_i$, a straightforward application of Ito's formula shows that Z_i^{π} is the unique strong solution of

$$dZ_i^{\pi}(t) = J_i(t) \left(dY(t) - \frac{\mu}{2} J_i(t) dt \right).$$
 (1.51)

Note that by applying the FTL policy we obtain

$$dZ_1^{\pi}(t) = \left(dY(t) - \frac{\mu}{2}dt\right) = dW_1^{\pi}(t) + \mu\left(\Pi_1(t) - \frac{1}{2}\right)dt, \quad t \ge 0,$$

and $dZ_i^{\pi}(t) = 0$ for $i \in \{2, \dots, N\}, t \ge 0$.

Remark 1.3.1. Note that $Z_i^{\pi}(t)$ is a monotone function of $L_i^{\pi}(t)$, $i \in I$. Therefore the value of the FTL strategy in the space of log-likelihoods is equivalent to the value in the space of likelihoods.

Clearly, the space of likelihoods L and the space of log-likelihoods Z are isomorphic, that is, any point $l = (l_1, l_2, \ldots, l_N)$ in the space of likelihoods corresponds to only one point $z = (z_1, z_2, \ldots, z_N)$ in the space of log-likelihoods and the converse holds true as well. Hence, we consider the prior distribution $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_N)$, where $z_1 \ge z_2 \ge \cdots \ge z_N$. If we apply the FTL strategy to this configuration, one of the two outcomes listed above can happen: either Z_1^{π} reaches z^* , where $z^* = \mu^{-1} \log(l^*)$, or it first goes down to the level of Z_2^{π} . In the latter case, we obtain the configuration $Z_1^{\pi}(t) \simeq Z_2^{\pi}(t) \ge Z_3^{\pi}(t) \ge \cdots \ge Z_N^{\pi}(t)$. In this situation, is not at all clear which, between Z_1^{π} and Z_2^{π} , is the leader and applying the FTL policy becomes non trivial. To overcome this issue we consider the local reparametrisation $Z_M^{\pi}(t) := \max_i Z_i^{\pi}(t) = \max\{Z_1^{\pi}(t), Z_2^{\pi}(t)\},$ $Z_m^{\pi}(t) := \min_i Z_i^{\pi}(t) = \min\{Z_1^{\pi}(t), Z_2^{\pi}(t)\}$. Such a parametrisation is very useful as in [17] the authors show the following results:

Theorem 1.3.2 (Theorem 1, [17]). For all starting value $z = (z_1, \ldots, z_N)$, for all $t \ge 0$, we have

- 1. $dZ_m^{\pi}(t) = \frac{1}{N} dW_m^{\pi}(t);$
- 2. $Z_M^{\pi}(t) Z_m^{\pi}(t) = W^{\pi}(t) W_m^{\pi}(t) \stackrel{d}{=} |W^{\pi}(t)|,$

where W^{π} is a P_{π} -Brownian motion, W_m^{π} denotes the running minimum process of the Brownian motion W^{π} and the last equality in point 2, due to Lèvy (see [37]), is an equality in distribution.

Remark 1.3.3. Point 2 of Theorem 1.3.2 is especially interesting as it shows that at the boundary $Z_1^{\pi}(t) \simeq Z_2^{\pi}(t) \ge Z_3^{\pi}(t) \ge \cdots \ge Z_N^{\pi}(t)$ we have a local time behavior: we are uncertain about which particle is the leader and we therefore run each particle for a very short time to establish which will be the next leader.

Hence, we have

$$dZ_M^{\pi}(t) = dZ_m^{\pi}(t) + dW^{\pi}(t) - dW_m^{\pi}(t) = dW^{\pi}(t) - \frac{1}{2}dW_m^{\pi}(t),$$

and since the set $\{t \ge 0 | Z_1^{\pi}(t) = Z_2^{\pi}(t) \ge \cdots \ge Z_N^{\pi}(t)\}$ is negligible with respect to the Lebesgue measure we have

$$dZ_M^{\pi}(t) = -\frac{1}{2}dW_m^{\pi}(t) = -dZ_m^{\pi}(t).$$
(1.52)

By applying Ito's formula once more we obtain

$$dV(Z_M^{\pi}(t), Z_m^{\pi}(t), Z_3^{\pi}(t), \dots, Z_N^{\pi}(t)) = \frac{\partial V}{\partial Z_M^{\pi}} dZ_M^{\pi}(t) + \frac{\partial V}{\partial Z_m^{\pi}} dZ_m^{\pi}(t) =$$
$$= \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial V}{\partial Z_m^{\pi}} dW_m^{\pi}(t) - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial V}{\partial Z_M^{\pi}} dW_m^{\pi}(t).$$

By standard arguments (see for example [33] or [39]), V has to be a martingale on $\{t \ge 0 | Z_M^{\pi}(t) = Z_m^{\pi}(t)\}$. Therefore we must have

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial Z_M^{\pi}} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial Z_m^{\pi}}.$$
(1.53)

Remark 1.3.4. This result will be particularly important in Chapter 3, when we will study the optimal strategy of the FTL problem for a generic prior distribution. In chapter 2 we will study the optimal strategy of the FTL problem when the prior distribution is uniform. In that particular case we will make use of what we obtained so far to argue a very similar result.
1.4 Summary

In this chapter we formally defined the FTL problem. We converted a stochastic optimal control problem on the sample paths space, \mathbb{R}^N , $N \in \mathbb{N}$, to a measurevalued stochastic control problem on the space of probability measures on Ω , $\mathcal{P}(\Omega)$. We then showed that such a problem is equivalent to a stochastic control problem in the space of likelihoods. We characterized the value of the FTL problem (1.28) as the unique viscosity solution of the HJB equation (1.44), and we used the theory of excursions and local times to formally define the FTL strategy even at the boundary $\{t \ge 0 | L_1^{\pi}(t) \simeq L_2^{\pi}(t) \ge L_3^{\pi}(t) \ge \cdots \ge L_N^{\pi}(t)\}$. In the next chapter, we are going to study the FTL problem in the particular case where the prior distribution π is uniform, that is, $\pi = \pi_1 = \cdots = \pi_N$, for $\pi \in [0, 1]$.

Chapter 2 The optimal strategy with uniform prior distribution

In this chapter we will study the optimal strategy for the FTL problem (1.28) when the prior distribution π is uniform, that is, $\Pi(0) = (\pi, \ldots, \pi)$, for $\pi \in [0, 1]$. In particular, we will show that the policy that was conjectured to be optimal, that is, the FTL policy, is in fact suboptimal. To do so, we will firstly rewrite the HJB equation (1.34) for the FTL policy when the prior distribution is uniform. We will compute the value of the FTL strategy and provide visualisations and numerical simulations to understand its behavior. Eventually, we will propose a novel approach to evaluate if the FTL strategy is the optimal strategy and we will show that the results we obtain are in contrast with the claims in [42]. We will always consider the case N = 3 throughout the entire chapter. We will see that our arguments are not easily generalizable to higher dimensions and we will point out where this hypothesis play an important role in our arguments. At the end of the chapter we will discuss how such results could be generalized to N > 3 and which difficulties we need to overcome to do so.

2.1 The FTL strategy

In this chapter we will consider the case where the prior distribution π is uniform, that is, $\pi = \pi_1 = \pi_2 = \pi_3$, for $\pi \in [0, 1]$. For the most part, we will study the problem in the space of likelihoods, in order to use the independence hypothesis to simplify computations and numerical simulations. Let us denote by l the starting level of all particles and by \mathcal{S} the following region:

$$\mathcal{S} := \left\{ (l_1, l, l) \in \mathbb{R}^{3^+} | l_1 \in [l, l^*] \right\},$$
(2.1)

where $l^* = 2lm_{\varepsilon}$, $m_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1-\varepsilon}{\varepsilon}$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{2}{3})$.

Remark 2.1.1. The upper limit of ε is $\frac{2}{3}$ for a simple reason: if the N posterior probabilities Π_i , $i \in I$, start with uniform prior distribution, we have $(\pi_1, \pi_2, \pi_3) = (\frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{3}, \frac{1}{3})$. This means that if $\varepsilon > \frac{2}{3}$ we have $1 - \varepsilon < \frac{1}{3}$. This level of confidence is trivially satisfied at the start of the detection procedure, making the problem trivial. From now on, we will always consider non-trivial searching processes, that is, $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{2}{3})$.

Here the upper boundary l^* can be written as $l^* = 2m_{\varepsilon}l_3$ and it is the threshold at which we declare that the particle with largest likelihood is the correct one, that is, the threshold at which we stop our search and we are at least $1 - \varepsilon$ confident that the chosen particle has drift $\mu \neq 0$. In particular, the threshold is reached at the stopping time (1.30).

Remark 2.1.2. From now on, we will refer to the set S as the south boundary, for reasons that will become apparent in the next chapter. Note that, if we start with a uniform prior distribution l, and we apply the FTL strategy, we will always work in the set S. In other words, by applying the FTL strategy we will never leave the set S.

In the case of uniform prior distribution it is difficult to define the FTL strategy at the boundary $\{t \ge 0 | L_1^{\pi}(t) \simeq L_2^{\pi}(t) = L_3^{\pi}(t)\}$: as we have seen in section 1.3, it might be difficult to identify which particle is the leader and we might have to observe one particle for a very short time before switching to another one and try again. Luckily, the scenario is very similar to the one discussed in section 1.3 and we refer to those results to formally define the FTL strategy in this particular case as well. As we have seen in Chapter 1, the value function associated to the FTL strategy is the unique solution of the ODE (1.34) with i = 1 and appropriate boundary conditions. Let us now establish such boundary conditions: as defined in (1.28), the value function of the FTL problem, as much as the value associated to any strategy $J \in \mathbf{J}'$, can be interpreted as the expectation of the \mathcal{Y}_t - stopping time (1.30) (in the space of likelihoods). Hence, we have

$$V_J(l) \ge 0$$

for all $l \in \mathbb{R}^3$ and any strategy $J \in \mathbf{J}'$. In particular, we can see that $V_J(l) = 0$ if and only if $l = l^*$, as at l^* the target confidence is attained and we stop our search. From this we can say that

$$V_{FTL}(l^*, l, l) = 0, (2.2)$$

where V_{FTL} denotes the value function associated to the FTL policy. Deriving the left boundary condition is less trivial and to do so we propose the following approach: consider the space of ordered likelihoods $(L_1^{\pi}(t), L_2^{\pi}(t), L_3^{\pi}(t))$, where $L_1^{\pi}(t) \geq L_2^{\pi}(t) \geq L_3^{\pi}(t)$. Assume that the prior distribution l is such that $l = (l_3, l_3, l_3)$, so that all 3 particles start from the same level $l_3 > 0$. Consider the set

$$D_{l_3} := \{ t \ge 0 | L_1^{\pi}(t) \ge L_2^{\pi}(t) \ge L_3^{\pi}(t) = l_3 \}.$$
(2.3)



Fig. 2-1: The domain D_{l_3} for different values of the parameters ε and l_3 . On the top-left we have $\varepsilon = 0.01$ and $l_3 = 1$. On the top-right we have $\varepsilon = 0.1$ and $l_3 = 1$. At the bottom we have $\varepsilon = 0.01$ and $l_3 = 10$. The dots represent the grid we used to discretise the domain D_{l_3} .

Remark 2.1.3. In equation (2.3) we are taking $L_3^{\pi}(t) = l_3$. This does not necessarily imply that we will never observe $L_3^{\pi}(t)$, as we can exploit Remark 1.1.11 to renormalize $L_3^{\pi}(t)$ if $L_3^{\pi}(t) < l_3$.

Figure 2-1 shows the shape of D_{l_3} for fixed values of l_3 and ε : on the x-axis we have the L_1^{π} -coordinate and on the y-axis we have the L_2^{π} -coordinate. The line at the bottom of the plots, corresponding to $L_2^{\pi}(t) = l_3$, is the set \mathcal{S} , hence we named it south boundary. On the bottom-left corner, we have the starting position $l = (l_3, l_3, l_3)$. On the left side we have the boundary $\{t \ge 0 | L_1^{\pi}(t) = L_2^{\pi}(t) \ge l_3\}$, which is a natural boundary for the FTL strategy. On the right we have the stopping boundary $L_1^{\pi}(t) = m_{\varepsilon}(L_2^{\pi}(t)+l_3) = l^*(t)$, at which our search terminates. The horizontal line at the top of the plot, that we will often call north boundary, is arbitrary. Note that the parameters l_3 and ε influence both the length of the south boundary \mathcal{S} and the steepness of the right boundary $l^*(t)$.

Remark 2.1.4. Note that the bigger ε , the shorter the south boundary: this is coherent with the fact that ε represents the "difficulty" of the detection problem. The larger ε , the smaller the necessary confidence $1 - \varepsilon$ to finish our search.

Therefore, it makes sense that the south boundary "shrinks" as ε gets larger.

Note that having a uniform prior distribution means that we are always starting the search at the bottom-left of the domain. Starting from there, at (l_3, l_3, l_3) , if we apply the FTL policy, we will always move along the south boundary \mathcal{S} . Therefore, the natural left boundary for the value of the FTL strategy would be the point (l_3, l_3, l_3) . However, as we will show shortly, a slightly different approach is more fruitful. Let us denote by FTS the Follow the Second strategy, that is, the strategy that always observes the process with associated second-largest likelihood L_2^{π} . In the same way, we denote by FTT the strategy that always observes L_3^{π} . Recall now the result claimed by [42]: if we start with a uniform prior distribution, that is, if we start our search on the bottom-left corner (l_3, l_3, l_3) of D_{l_3} , the optimal strategy is to always follow the particle with maximum likelihood $L_{i*}^{\pi}(t) = \max_i L_i^{\pi}(t)$. If the claim is correct, it implies that we will always move along the south boundary \mathcal{S} and never leave it. As pointed out in the Introduction, in [17] the authors have shown that the FTL policy is not always optimal if the prior distribution is unspecified, but they did not obtain any result in the case where the prior distribution is uniform. The main goal of this chapter is to show that, even with uniform prior distribution, the FTL policy is not always optimal. To obtain such a result we ask ourselves the following question: can we find any point $l \in S$ at which it is "better" to leave S? That is, is there any point $l \in \mathcal{S}$ at which the value associated to an alternative strategy (either FTS or FTT) is smaller than the value of the FTL policy? Intuitively speaking, having a uniform prior distribution such that $L_1^{\pi}(0) = L_2^{\pi}(0) = L_3^{\pi}(0) = l_3$, makes it impossible to distinguish between the FTL strategy and the other competing strategies FTS and FTT. In practice, to apply the FTL policy we would need to observe a particle for a short amount of time and see whether the particle is actually the leader or if it comes back to the initial value l_3 . In the latter case, we select another particle and we run the procedure once more. It is easy to see that this behavior is connected naturally to the local time behavior introduced in section 1.3. Define the line

$$\mathcal{S}_{\delta} := \{ (l, l_3 + \delta, l_3) | \quad l \in [l_3 + \delta, m_{\varepsilon}(2l_3 + \delta)] \}, \tag{2.4}$$

where $\delta > 0$, $\delta << 1$. Note that $S_{\delta} \to S$ as $\delta \to 0^+$. By the scaling property of the value function (see Remark 1.1.11) we can rewrite the value of the FTL strategy V_0 at the left boundary of the set S_{δ} , that is at $(l_3 + \delta, l_3 + \delta, l_3)$ as $V_0(l_3 + \delta, l_3 + \delta, l_3) = V_0(l_3, l_3, l_3 - \delta')$, where $\delta' = \delta + O(\delta)$. By Theorem 1.1.13 we can permute the arguments and obtain

$$V_0(l_3, l_3, l_3 - \delta') = V_0(l_3 - \delta', l_3, l_3).$$
(2.5)

Remark 2.1.5. Note how (2.5) requires the hypothesis N = 3. We will discuss how this reasoning can be generalized to higher dimensions at the end of the chapter. Let us therefore compute the value of the FTL strategy on the new domain

$$S' := \{ (l, l_3, l_3) | l \in [l_3 - \delta', 2m_{\varepsilon} l_3] \}.$$

We compute the value of the FTL strategy on \mathcal{S}' as the unique solution of

$$\frac{\partial V_0}{\partial l_1} \frac{\mu^2 l_1^2}{l_1 + 2l_3} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 V_0}{\partial l_1^2} \mu^2 l_1^2 + 1 = 0, \qquad (2.6)$$
$$V_0(2m_{\varepsilon} l_3) = 0,$$
$$V_0(l_3 - \delta) = \beta_{\delta},$$

where $\beta_{\delta} > 0$ is a constant to be determined.

Remark 2.1.6. From now on we will simply write $V_0(l)$ rather than $V_0(l, l_3, l_3)$ to simplify the notation. Note that such a simplification is appropriate, as the value function of any strategy that observes only particle $i, i \in I$, depends only on the likelihood L_i^{π} , as likelihoods are independent. In fact, the value will also depend on the level of other likelihoods, but these will be treated as fixed parameters, rather than variables. For example, the most appropriate notation for the value of the FTL strategy at a generic point (l_1, l_3, l_3) is $V_0(l_1; l_3, l_3)$, but we will simply write $V_0(l_1)$.

Remark 2.1.7. In principle β_{δ} could be any positive real number, as β_{δ} is a boundary condition we set arbitrarily. In the following we will show that the boundary value problem (2.6) has a unique solution on \mathcal{S}' for all values of β_{δ} . However, in Algorithm 2.3.1, we will show how to choose a unique value for β_{δ} .

Remark 2.1.8. We will postpone the proof of the existence and uniqueness of the solution to the boundary value problem (2.6), given $\beta_{\delta} > 0$, to the next section, where we will prove a more general statement that implies the aforementioned result.

Let us now compute the unique solution of the boundary value problem (2.6). The general solution of (2.6) on S' is of the form

$$V_0(l) = \frac{2\log(l)(2l_3 - l)}{\mu^2(2l_3 + l)} - \frac{k_1^0}{2l_3 + l} + k_2^0,$$
(2.7)

where k_0^1 and k_0^2 are constants to be determined. Using the first boundary condition we get

$$k_2^0 = -\frac{2(1-m_{\varepsilon})\log(2m_{\varepsilon}l_3)}{\mu^2(m_{\varepsilon}+1)} + \frac{k_1^0}{2l_3(m_{\varepsilon}+1)},$$
(2.8)

and by the second boundary condition we obtain

$$k_1^0 = \frac{2l_3(3l_3 - \delta)(m_{\varepsilon} + 1)}{l_3(1 - 2m_{\varepsilon}) - \delta} \left\{ \beta_{\delta} - \frac{2(l_3 + \delta)\log(l_3 - \delta)}{\mu^2(3l_3 - \delta)} + \frac{2(1 - m_{\varepsilon})\log(2m_{\varepsilon}l_3)}{\mu^2(m_{\varepsilon} + 1)} \right\}.$$
(2.9)

2.2 The δ -FTL strategy

To compute the correct value of β_{δ} we introduce a new strategy, that we call the δ -FTL strategy. Such a strategy is defined on

$$\mathcal{S}_{\delta}' := \mathcal{S}_{\delta} \cup \left\{ (l_3 + \delta, l, l_3) \in \mathbb{R}^3 | l \in [l_3, l_3 + \delta]
ight\} \cup \mathcal{S}'$$

and can be interpreted as follows: start at any point on \mathcal{S}'_{δ} and run the leader L_1^{π} until it hits either $l = l_3 + \delta$ or $l = m_{\varepsilon}(2l_3 + \delta)$. If it hits the latter first we stop, the target has been reached and we declare that particle X_1 has drift μ with confidence $1 - \varepsilon$. If it hits $l = l_3 + \delta$ first, we keep observing L_1^{π} and we see if it comes back to \mathcal{S}_{δ} or goes down to $(l_3 + \delta, l_3, l_3) \in \mathcal{S}'$. If it hits $(l_3 + \delta, l_3, l_3)$ we switch to the FTL strategy.

Remark 2.2.1. One of the main reason why we introduced the δ -FTL strategy is to understand the local time behavior at (l_3, l_3, l_3) that we already discussed in Section 1.3: note how the δ -FTL policy corresponds to observing a particle at (l_3, l_3, l_3) and wait until it becomes clear whether it is the leader.

Remark 2.2.2. The FTL and the δ -FTL strategy are inherently "coupled": the value of the problem at the left boundary of S_{δ} , $(l_3 + \delta, l_3 + \delta, l_3)$, is equal to the value of the problem at $(l_3 - \delta', l_3, l_3)$, that is,

$$V(l_3 + \delta, l_3 + \delta, l_3) = V(l_3 - \delta', l_3, l_3),$$

as we already pointed out when we defined the set \mathcal{S}' . Such a point lies in both \mathcal{S}_{δ} and \mathcal{S}' .

To define the value of the δ -FTL strategy V_{δ} properly we need to characterise it as the unique solution of a boundary value problem. The right boundary condition is similar to the one for V_0 : at the stopping time τ_l , described in equation (1.30), the likelihood of the leader L_1^{π} is $l_{\delta}^* := m_{\varepsilon}(2l_3 + \delta)$. Hence we must have $V_{\delta}(l_{\delta}^*) = 0$. As far as the left boundary condition is concerned, we assign to it an arbitrary value, that is, $V_{\delta}(l_3 + \delta, l_3, l_3) = \alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}) > 0$.

Remark 2.2.3. The left boundary condition for V_{δ} , $\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta})$, does depend on the left boundary condition for V_0 , β_{δ} . Indeed, as the 2 strategies are effectively just the same strategy applied on different domains, we must have

$$V_{\delta}(l_3) = V_0(l_3 + \delta) = \alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}).$$

We are now going to characterize the value function of the δ -FTL strategy, V_{δ} , as the unique solution of the following boundary value problem:

$$f''(l, f'(l)) = F(l, f'(l)) = -\frac{2}{\mu^2 l^2} - \frac{2}{l+2l_3+\delta} f'(l).$$
(2.10)
$$f(m_{\varepsilon}(2l_3+\delta)) = 0,$$

$$f(l_3+\delta) = \alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}),$$



Fig. 2-2: In orange the domain of V_{δ} , S'_{δ} , in blue the domain of V_0 , S'. The left boundaries of (2.6) and (2.10) are denoted by blue points. The right boundaries, at which the values V_0 and V_{δ} are 0, are denoted by black points.

where $\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}) > 0$ is a constant to be determined and $f \in C^2(S_{\delta})$. Firstly, we need to show that the boundary value problem (2.10) has a unique solution, given $\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta})$. Note that $\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta})$ is determined by β_{δ} . As we mentioned in Remark 2.1.7, this result will also prove the existence and uniqueness of the solution to the boundary value problem (2.6), given β_{δ} .

Proposition 2.2.4. The boundary value problem (2.10) has a unique solution on \mathcal{S}'_{δ} , given $\beta_{\delta} > 0$ (hence $\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta})$).

To prove Proposition 2.2.4 we need to prove a few intermediate results. Let us start by proving the following lemma:

Lemma 2.2.5. Let f be a solution to the boundary value problem (2.10). The second derivative of f with respect to l_1 , f'', is Lipschitz in f' and continuous in l.

Proof. Consider equation (2.10) and take $l', l'' \in \mathcal{S}'$ and compute

$$\begin{split} |f''(l') - f''(l'')| &= \left| -\frac{2}{\mu^2(l')^2} + \frac{2}{\mu^2(l'')^2} - \frac{2}{l'+2l_3+\delta} f'(l') + \frac{2}{l''+2l_3+\delta} f'(l'') \right| \leq \\ \left| -\frac{2}{\mu^2(l')^2} + \frac{2}{\mu^2(l'')^2} \right| + \left| \frac{2}{l''+2l_3+\delta} f'(l'') - \frac{2}{l'+2l_3+\delta} f'(l') \right|. \end{split}$$

Let us focus on the second term, as the first one does not depend on f'. Since $l', l'' \in S'$, we have $l', l'' \geq l_3 - \delta$. Hence

$$\left|\frac{2}{l''+2l_3+\delta}f'(l'') - \frac{2}{l'+2l_3+\delta}f'(l')\right| \le \frac{2}{3l_3-\delta}\left|f'(l'') - f'(l')\right| = \frac{2}{3l_3-\delta}\left|f'(l') - f'(l'')\right|.$$

Hence f''(l) is Lipschitz in f'(l). Moreover f''(l) is clearly continuous in l.

Proof. (of Proposition 2.2.4)

Our goal is to apply the Picard-Lindelof theorem to show that there exists a solution of equation (2.6) in a local closed neighborhood of the initial point $l_3 - \delta'$ (see for example [22]). However, Picard-Lindelof theorem applies to initial value problems and not to boundary value problems. Therefore, before applying the theorem, we need to convert the boundary value problem (2.10) into an initial value problem. Let us rewrite the boundary value problem (2.10) as

$$\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 l^2 f''(l) + \frac{\mu^2 l^2}{l+2l_3+\delta} f'(l) + 1 = 0$$

$$f(l_3-\delta) = \beta_\delta$$

$$f'(l_3-\delta) = c,$$
(2.11)

where $c \in \mathbb{R}$ is a constant we choose to make the initial value problem (2.11) equivalent to the boundary value problem (2.10). Let us consider the vector $V : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}^2$ such that

$$\underline{V}(l) = (V_1(l), V_2(l)) = (V(l), V'(l)),$$

with initial condition

$$\underline{V}(0) = (V_0, V_0')$$

We write $\underline{V}'(l) = F(\underline{V}, l)$, where $F : \mathbb{R}^2 \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}^2$ is such that

$$F(\underline{V}, l) = (V_2, G(V_2, l)),$$

where $G : \mathbb{R} \times [l_3 - \delta', 2m_{\varepsilon}l_3] \to \mathbb{R}$. Therefore the second order initial value problem (2.11) can be rewritten as the following first order initial value problem:

$$x'(l) = G(x(l), l)$$
 (2.12)
 $x(0) = x_0,$

where x is such that

$$V_{2}(l) = x(l)$$

$$V_{1}(l) = y_{0} + \int_{l_{3}-\delta}^{l} x(s)ds.$$
(2.13)

By Lemma 2.2.5 we know that G(l, x(l)) is Lipschitz in x(l) and continuous in l. To apply Picard-Lindelof we need to show that G is locally Lipschitz in l. By equation Lemma 2.2.5 the function G is continuously differentiable in l, which implies that G is locally Lipschitz in l. By Picard-Lindelof theorem we obtain the existence and uniqueness of the solution to (2.11) on a neighborhood of the initial point $l_3 - \delta \in S'$. However, we would like to obtain the existence and

uniqueness of the solution to (2.11) on the entire domain \mathcal{S}' . The existence of the global solution is relatively easy to obtain, as the domain \mathcal{S}' is a compact subset of \mathbb{R} : let us denote the local solution in a neighborhood of $l \in \mathcal{S}'$ by y_l . We can then "glue" the local solutions y_l together to obtain a global solution y such that $y(l) = y_l(l)$, for all $l \in \mathcal{S}'$. To prove the uniqueness of the global solution we need to show the boundedness of the gradient. By (2.12) we have

$$x(l) \le \int_{l_3-\delta}^{l} |G(s, x(s))| ds + x_0 \le x_0 + l(\hat{K}l + G(l_3 - \delta, x(l_3 - \delta)))e^{Kl},$$

for all $l \in S'$, where the second inequality uses the two Lipschitz conditions and Gronwall's lemma (see [22]). Here K is the x-Lipschitz constant and \hat{K} is the *l*-Lipschitz constant. Consider now 2 solutions x(l) and $\hat{x}(l)$ to the ODE (2.12) such that $|x(0) - \hat{x}(0)| < \delta$. Then

$$\begin{aligned} |x(l) - \hat{x}(l)| &\leq |x(0) - \hat{x}(0)| + \int_{l_3 - \delta}^{l} |G(s, x(s)) - G(s, \hat{x}(s))| ds \leq \\ \delta + K \int_{l_3 - \delta}^{l} |x(s) - \hat{x}(s)| ds. \end{aligned}$$

By Gronwall's inequality we obtain

$$|x(l) - \hat{x}(l)| \le \delta \exp(K(l - l_3 + \delta)).$$
 (2.14)

Denote the solution x(l) as $x(l; x_0)$ to stress the dependence on the initial condition. Then, by (2.14) we get that the function $x_0 \mapsto x(s; x_0)$ is continuous. Since the integral operator is also continuous we have that the map $x_0 \mapsto \int_{l_3-\delta}^{2m_{\varepsilon}l_3} x(s; x_0) ds$ is continuous as well. Note that such an integral can be written as

$$\int_{l_3-\delta}^{2m_{\varepsilon}l_3} x(l)dl = y(2m_{\varepsilon}l_3) - y(l_3 - \delta).$$
(2.15)

Hence we can rewrite the initial value problem (2.11) as a boundary value problem of type (2.13) with boundary conditions given by (2.15). Therefore, the boundary value problem (2.6), equivalent to the initial value problem (2.11), can be rewritten as the boundary value problem (2.13) with boundary value condition (2.15), which has a unique solution. Hence, the boundary value problem (2.10) has a unique solution as well.

The general solution of (2.10) has the form

$$V_{\delta}(l) = \frac{2\log(l)(2l_3 - l + \delta)}{\mu^2(l + 2l_3 + \delta)} + \frac{k_1^{\delta}}{l + 2l_3 + \delta} + k_2^{\delta}, \qquad (2.16)$$

where k_1^{δ} and k_2^{δ} are constant to be determined. Considering the first boundary condition we get

$$k_{2}^{\delta} = \frac{2(m_{\varepsilon} - 1)\log(m_{\varepsilon}(2l_{3} + \delta))}{\mu^{2}(m_{\varepsilon} + 1)} - \frac{k_{1}^{\delta}}{(m_{\varepsilon} + 1)(2l_{3} + \delta)},$$
 (2.17)

and by the second boundary condition we have

$$k_1^{\delta} = \frac{(m_{\varepsilon}+1)(2l_3+\delta)(3l_3+\delta)}{l_3(2m_{\varepsilon}-1)+\delta m_{\varepsilon}} \left\{ \alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}) - \frac{2(l_3+\delta)\log(l_3)}{\mu^2(3l_3+\delta)} + \right\}$$
(2.18)

$$\frac{2(1-m_{\varepsilon})\log(m_{\varepsilon}(2l_3+\delta))}{\mu^2(m_{\varepsilon}+1)}\bigg\}.$$
(2.19)

Equations (2.7), (2.9), (2.8) and (2.16), (2.18), (2.17), describe the value function of the FTL and δ -FTL policy, respectively. Let us summarise the results of this section in the following theorem.

Theorem 2.2.6. The functions $V_0 : S \to \mathbb{R}$, $V_\delta : S \to \mathbb{R}$ are the value functions of the FTL and $\delta - FTL$ strategy, respectively. They can be characterized as the unique solutions of boundary value problems (2.6) and (2.10), respectively. In particular, we have that $V_0 \in C^2(S)$ and $C^2(S_\delta)$.

2.3 Numerical simulation of V_0 and V_{δ}

In the previous section we obtained closed- form solutions for the value functions V_0 and V_{δ} . However, they still depend on the arbitrary value $\beta_{\delta} > 0$ for the left boundary condition of V_0 in (2.6). To solve this issue we have to solve the following *fixed point* equation:

$$\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}) = V_0(l_3 + \delta; \beta_{\delta}). \tag{2.20}$$

To solve (2.20) we propose the following algorithm:

Algorithm 2.3.1. set i = 0 and fix a tolerance level $t(\delta)$. Choose an arbitrary $\beta_{\delta}^i > 0$. Then

- 1. compute $V_0(l; \beta^i_{\delta});$
- 2. set $\alpha_{\delta}^i = V_0(l_3 + \delta; \beta_{\delta}^i);$
- 3. compute $V_{\delta}(l; \alpha_{\delta}^i)$;
- 4. evaluate the difference $d_{\beta_{\delta}^{i}} := |\beta_{\delta}^{i} V_{\delta}(l_{3} + \delta; \alpha_{\delta}^{i})|$. If $d_{\beta_{\delta}^{i}} \leq t(\delta)$ stop the procedure, otherwise set $\beta_{\delta}^{i+1} = V_{\delta}(l_{3} + \delta; \alpha_{\delta}^{i}), i = i+1$ and repeat the cycle.

Let us study the behavior of the value functions V_0 and V_{δ} and analyse their dependence on the parameters μ and ε . Note that we are able to simulate V_0 and V_{δ} using the fixed point algorithm 2.3.1, setting the appropriate left boundary conditions for V_0 and V_{δ} , that is, the correct values for β_{δ} and $\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta})$. In the followings, the tolerance function $t(\delta)$ will always be of the form $t(\delta) = \frac{\delta^2}{100}$. In Figure 2-3 we can see the behaviour of the difference $d_{\beta_{\delta}^i} = |\beta_{\delta}^i - V_{\delta}(l_3 + \delta; \alpha_{\delta}^i)|$ for different values of β_{δ}^0 and δ , as a function of the number of iterations of the algorithm. We note that such a difference goes to 0 quickly independently on the values of β_{δ}^0 and δ .



Fig. 2-3: The difference $d_{\beta^i_{\delta}}$ of Algorithm 2.3.1 as a function of the number of iterations, for several values of β^0_{δ} and δ . Note how $d_{\beta^i_{\delta}}$ goes to 0 independently of β^0_{δ} and δ .

From Figure 2-4 and Figure 2-5 we se that:

- 1. the detection problem becomes easier as ε gets larger: this makes sense, as a larger ε leads to a smaller tolerance level $1 - \varepsilon$. For example, in Figure 2-4 we see that for $\varepsilon = 0.3$, that is $1 - \varepsilon = 0.7$, the average searching is much smaller than the value when $\varepsilon = 0.1$, that is $1 - \varepsilon = 0.9$;
- 2. a similar behaviour can be observed with respect to μ , in Figure 2-5: a larger drift makes more evident more quickly which particle is the correct one, and this leads to significantly smaller values for larger values of μ . As an example, see the sharp difference between the value V_0 with $\mu = 1$ and V_0 with $\mu = 10$.

Figure 2-6 and Figure 2-7 show similar results for the value of the δ -FTL strategy V_{δ} . Similar interpretations to the ones provided for V_0 can be done for V_{δ} . In Figure 2-8 we compare the close form solution of the boundary value problem (2.6) to a Monte Carlo approximation of the value functions V_0 . The Monte Carlo algorithm is structured as follows:



Fig. 2-4: The FTL value V_0 for different values of the tolerance parameter ε . Here $\mu = 1$, $l_3 = 1$ and $\delta = 10^{-4}$. The domain \mathcal{S}' is discretised with a grid of 10^3 points. Note that the amplitude of \mathcal{S}' depends on ε and δ . We can see that the smaller ε (hence the larger the tolerance $1 - \varepsilon$) the quicker the value goes to 0.



Fig. 2-5: The FTL value V_0 for different values of the drift μ . Here $\varepsilon = 0.01$, $l_3 = 1$ and $\delta = 10^{-4}$. The domain S' is discretised with a grid of 10^3 points. The larger the drift μ , the smaller the average searching time: indeed a very large drift becomes evident more quickly than a small one, which makes the problem easier for the detection algorithm.

- Algorithm 2.3.2. 1. discretise S' with a grid of N points. Denote such a grid by S'_d .
 - 2. choose a point $\bar{l} = (l, l_3, l_3) \in \mathcal{S}'_d$ and denote by \bar{l}_1 the first coordinate of \bar{l} . Simulate the SDE of the likelihood process L_1^{π} (1.27) starting from \bar{l} , on a time interval dt up to the first exit time $\tau_{\bar{l}}$ of L_1^{π} from the interval \mathcal{S}' . Define a variable c that counts how long each simulation takes to terminate. Set c = 0;
 - 3. after dt, check the value of $L_1^{\pi}(t)$:
 - if $l_3 \delta < L_1^{\pi}(t) < l^*$, set $\bar{l}_1 = L_1^{\pi}(t)$ and come back to point 2. Set c = c + 1;
 - if $L_1^{\pi}(t) \leq l_3$ set $\overline{l}_1 = l_3$ and come back to point 2. Set c = c + 1;
 - if $L_1^{\pi}(t) \ge l^*$ stop the simulation;
 - 4. repeat the procedure n times;
 - 5. for each starting point $\bar{l} \in \mathcal{S}'_{\delta}$, average c over n simulations and multiply it for the time taken by each simulation dt.

Remark 2.3.3. The Monte Carlo simulation described in Algorithm 2.3.1 simulate the average time taken by a searching algorithm that applies the FTL strategy along the south boundary S': as we can see in Figure 2-8, this agrees with the solution of the boundary value problem (2.6).

2.4 Convergence of V_{δ} to V_0

As we pointed out in section 2.2, the δ -FTL strategy boils down to apply the FTL strategy on \mathcal{S}'_{δ} . Since $\mathcal{S}'_{\delta} \to \mathcal{S}' \to \mathcal{S}$ as $\delta \to 0^+$, it stands to reason that V_{δ} should get "closer" to V_0 as $\delta \to 0^+$. In this section we will prove that this is the case. Let us start with a simple visualisation: in Figure 2-9 we see that as δ gets smaller the difference between V_{δ} and V_0 becomes smaller. To prove the result suggested by Figure 2-9, we note that the second-order differential operator in (2.10), \mathcal{L}_{δ} , that is

$$\mathcal{L}_{\delta}(f(l)) = \frac{1}{2}\mu^2 l^2 f''(l) + \frac{\mu^2 l^2}{l+2l_3+\delta}f'(l) + 1, \qquad (2.21)$$

tends to the second-order differential operator in (2.6), \mathcal{L}_0 , that is

$$\mathcal{L}_0(f(l)) = \frac{1}{2}\mu^2 l^2 f''(l) + \frac{\mu^2 l^2}{l+2l_3} f'(l) + 1, \qquad (2.22)$$



Fig. 2-6: The δ -FTL value V_{δ} for different values of the tolerance parameter ε . Here $\mu = 1$, $l_3 = 1$ and $\delta = 10^{-1}$. The domain S'_{δ} is discretised with a grid of 10^3 points. Note that the amplitude of S'_{δ} depends on ε and δ .



Fig. 2-7: The δ -FTL value V_{δ} for different values of the drift μ . Here $\varepsilon = 0.01$, $l_3 = 1$ and $\delta = 10^{-1}$. The domain S'_{δ} is discretised with a grid of 10^3 points.



Fig. 2-8: The FTL value V_0 compared with a Monte Carlo simulation of the FTL strategy on \mathcal{S}' . Here $\varepsilon = 0.01$, $l_3 = 1$, $\delta = 10^{-2}$ and $\mu = 1$. The Monte Carlo simulation consists of 100 simulations for each of the 700 points of the grid over \mathcal{S}' . The time step is $dt = 10^{-4}$.

for all smooth functions $f \in C^2(S')$ as $\delta \to 0^+$. At the same time the right boundary conditions of (2.6) and (2.10) are both 0. Hence, to prove that $V_{\delta} \to V_0$ as $\delta \to 0^+$, we just need to show that the left boundary condition of (2.10) converges to the left boundary condition of (2.6), that is, we need to show that $\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}) \to \beta_{\delta}$ as $\delta \to 0^+$.

Lemma 2.4.1. The left boundary condition of (2.10) converges to the left boundary condition of (2.6), that is,

$$\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}) \to \beta_{\delta},$$

as $\delta \to 0^+$.

Proof. Recall that

$$\alpha_{\delta} = V_0(l_3 + \delta) = -\frac{2(l_3 - \delta)\log(l_3 + \delta)}{\mu^2(3l_3 + \delta)} - \frac{k_1^0}{3l_3 + \delta} + k_2^0$$

Let us make explicit the dependence of $\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta})$ on β_{δ} : by (2.8) we have

$$\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}) = \frac{2(l_{3}-\delta)\log(l_{3}+\delta)}{\mu^{2}(3l_{3}+\delta)} - \frac{2(1-m_{\varepsilon})\log(l^{*})}{\mu^{2}(1+m_{\varepsilon})} + \frac{\delta+l_{3}(1-2m_{\varepsilon})}{2l_{3}(2l_{3}+\delta)(1+m_{\varepsilon})}k_{1}^{0}.$$
(2.23)

By equation (2.9) we can write the last term in (2.23)as

$$\frac{\delta + l_3(1 - 2m_{\varepsilon})}{2l_3(2l_3 + \delta)(1 + m_{\varepsilon})}k_1^0 = \frac{l_3(1 - 2m_{\varepsilon}) + \delta}{l_3(1 - 2m_{\varepsilon}) - \delta} \left\{ \beta_{\delta} - \frac{2(l_3 + \delta)\log(l_3 - \delta)}{\mu^2(3l_3 - \delta)} + \frac{2(1 - m_{\varepsilon})\log(l^*)}{\mu^2(1 + m_{\varepsilon})} \right\}.$$
 (2.24)

Clearly, as $\delta \to 0^+$ (2.24) tends to

$$\beta_{\delta} - \frac{2\log(l_3)}{3\mu^2} + \frac{2(1-m_{\varepsilon})\log(l^*)}{\mu^2(1+m_{\varepsilon})},$$

so that equation (2.23) tends to β_{δ} . In particular, from (2.24) we can see that the order of convergence is $O(\delta)$. In particular, note that

$$\frac{\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}) - \beta_{\delta}}{\delta} = \frac{1}{\delta} \Biggl\{ \frac{2l_3(1 - 2m_{\varepsilon})}{l_3(1 - 2m_{\varepsilon}) - \delta} \left(\beta_{\delta} + \frac{2(1 - m_{\varepsilon})\log l^*}{\mu^2(1 + m_{\varepsilon})} \right) + \frac{2(l_3 - \delta)\log(l_3 + \delta)}{\mu^2(3l_3 + \delta)} - \frac{2(l_3 + \delta)\log(l_3 - \delta)}{\mu^2(3l_3 - \delta)} \frac{l_3(1 - 2m_{\varepsilon}) + \delta}{l_3(1 - 2m_{\varepsilon}) - \delta} \Biggr\} \to 0,$$

as $\delta \to 0^+$.



Fig. 2-9: The FTL value V_0 and the δ -FTL value V_{δ} on \mathcal{S}' compared for fixed δ . Here $\varepsilon = 0.01$, $l_3 = 1$ and $\mu = 1$. The trend is clear: the smaller δ , the smaller the difference between V_0 and V_{δ} .



Fig. 2-10: An illustration of Lemma 2.4.1. On the *x*-axis the values of δ . We can see that the difference $\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}) - \beta_{\delta}$ tends to 0 as $\delta \to 0^+$.

In Figure 2 – 10 we can see an illustration of the result of Lemma 2.4.1. Therefore $V_{\delta} \to V_0$ as $\delta \to 0^+$.

Remark 2.4.2. We have proven that $V_{\delta} \to V_0$ as $\delta \to 0^+$, but we still do not have a way to compare V_{δ} and V_0 . In particular, we would like to have a way to choose between the δ -FTL strategy and the FTL strategy when δ is small. To do so, let us introduce the function h.

2.5 The function h

In this section we are going to introduce the function h. As we mentioned above, our goal is to find a way to compare the FTL and δ -FTL policy, when δ is small. To do so we need to define a common domain over which to compare the value functions V_{δ} and V_0 for all $\delta > 0$. To do so consider the south boundary Sintroduced in (2.1) and note that $S \subset S'$ for all $\delta' > 0$. At the same time we have $S \subset S_{\delta}$, for all $\delta > 0$. Define the first-order differential operator $\hat{\mathcal{L}} : \mathcal{C}^1(S) \to \mathbb{R}$ as

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}f := \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\delta} \left(\mathcal{L}_{\delta} - \mathcal{L}_0 \right) (f), \qquad (2.25)$$

for $f \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathcal{S})$, and the linearised versions of the second-order differential operators \mathcal{L}_{δ} and \mathcal{L}_0 in (2.21) and (2.22) as

$$\mathcal{L}_{\delta}^{lin}f := \mathcal{L}_{\delta}f - 1 \tag{2.26}$$

$$\mathcal{L}_0^{lin}f := \mathcal{L}_0 f - 1, \qquad (2.27)$$

for $f \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathcal{S})$.

Theorem 2.5.1. Consider the function $h : S \to \mathbb{R}$ such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{0}^{lin}h = -\hat{\mathcal{L}}V_{0}$$

$$h(l_{3}) = -V_{0}'(l_{3})$$

$$h(l^{*}) = -m_{\varepsilon}V_{0}'(l^{*}).$$
(2.28)

Then h is such that

$$\left\| \left\| \frac{V_{\delta}(l) - V_0(l) - \delta h(l)}{\delta} \right\|_{\infty} \to 0,$$
(2.29)

as $\delta \to 0^+$, for all $(l, l_3, l_3) \in S$.

To prove such a result we structure the proof in three main steps:

- compute the operator $\hat{\mathcal{L}}$ explicitly;
- show that the limiting function (2.29) satisfies the boundary conditions of the boundary value problem (2.28);

• apply the strong maximum principle to show that h satisfies the limit (2.29).

Let us start by computing the operator $\hat{\mathcal{L}}$: by equations (2.25) we can see that for small $\delta > 0$ we have

$$\mathcal{L}_{\delta}f = \left(\mathcal{L}_0 + \delta\hat{\mathcal{L}}\right)f, \qquad (2.30)$$

for $f \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathcal{S})$. Therefore we have

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}f(l) = -\frac{\mu^2 l^2}{(l+2l_3+\delta)(l+2l_3)}f'(l), \qquad (2.31)$$

for $f \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathcal{S})$ and $\delta > 0$. This form is not satisfactory, as we need the operator $\hat{\mathcal{L}}$, as well as the function h, not to depend on δ . To remove such a dependence note that $\forall \delta > 0$ it exists a positive constant k such that

$$\left| -\frac{\mu^2 l^2}{(l+2l_3+\delta)(l+2l_3)} + \frac{\mu^2 l^2}{(l+2l_3)^2} \right| \le \frac{\mu^2 l^2}{(l+2l_3)^3} \delta + k\delta^2.$$

Hence we can write $\hat{\mathcal{L}}$ as

$$\hat{\mathcal{L}}f(l) = -\frac{\mu^2 l^2}{(l+2l_3)^2} f'(l) + O(\delta^2), \qquad (2.32)$$

for $f \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathcal{S})$, so that

$$\mathcal{L}_{\delta}f(l) = \left(\mathcal{L}_{0} + \delta\hat{\mathcal{L}}\right)f(l) = \left(\mathcal{L}_{0} - \delta\frac{\mu^{2}l^{2}}{(l+2l_{3})^{2}}\right)f(l)$$

for all $f \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathcal{S})$.

Let us now show that the limiting function in (2.29) satisfies the right boundary condition of (2.28):

Lemma 2.5.2. Denote by $\hat{h} : S \to \mathbf{R}$ the function such that

$$\hat{h}(l) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{V_{\delta}(l) - V_0(l)}{\delta},$$

for all $l \in \mathcal{S}$. Then \hat{h} is such that

$$\hat{h}(l^*) = -m_{\varepsilon} V_0'(l^*).$$
 (2.33)

Proof. By definition we have;

$$\hat{h}(l^*) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{V_{\delta}(l^*) - V_0(l^*)}{\delta} = \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{V_{\delta}(l^*)}{\delta},$$

as $V_0(l^*) = 0$ by (2.6). Note that the distance between the right boundary of \mathcal{S}'_{δ} and the right boundary of \mathcal{S} is $|l^*_{\delta} - l^*| = \delta m_{\varepsilon}$. By Theorem 2.2.6 we have that V_{δ} is a $\mathcal{C}^2(\mathcal{S}_{\delta})$ function, we can use the first-order approximation

$$V_{\delta}(l^*) = V_{\delta}(l^*_{\delta}) - \delta m_{\varepsilon} V_{\delta}'(l^*) + O(\delta^2).$$

By (2.10) we have

$$\hat{h}(l^*) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{1}{\delta} \left(V_{\delta}(l^*_{\delta}) - \delta m_{\varepsilon} V_{\delta}'(l^*) \right) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} -m_{\varepsilon} V_{\delta}'(l^*).$$
(2.34)

To get the right boundary condition in (2.28) we need to show that $\lim_{\delta \to 0^+} V'_{\delta}(l^*) = V'_0(l^*)$. To do so recall that the value function associated to any strategy $J \in \mathcal{J}'$, is the expected searching time under strategy J, given the initial position of the particles l. Consider a point \bar{l} such that $l_3 < \bar{l} < l^*$. Consider two positive constants $\eta, \eta_{\delta} > 0$ such that $\frac{\eta_{\delta}}{l_{\delta}^* - l_{\delta}} = \frac{\eta}{l^* - l}$, for all $\delta > 0$. Denote by $H_l(\hat{l})$, for $l, \hat{l} \in \mathcal{S}$, the first hitting time of the likelihood L_1^{π} starting from \hat{l} , that is $L_1^{\pi}(0) = \hat{l}$, of level l. For $l \in (\bar{l}, l^*), l_{\delta} \in (\bar{l}_{\delta}, l_{\delta}^*)$, we can write the value functions at $l^* - \eta$ and $l_{\delta}^* - \eta_{\delta}$, for all $\delta > 0$, as

$$V_{\delta}(l_{\delta}^{*} - \eta_{\delta}) = \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[V_{\delta}(\bar{l}_{\delta}) \mathbf{1} \left\{ H_{\bar{l}_{\delta}}(l_{\delta}) < H_{l_{\delta}^{*}}(l_{\delta}) \right\} + V_{\delta}(l_{\delta}^{*}) \mathbf{1} \left\{ H_{l_{\delta}^{*}}(l_{\delta}) < H_{\bar{l}_{\delta}}(l_{\delta}) \right\} \right] \\ - \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[H_{l_{\delta}^{*}}(l_{\delta}) \wedge H_{\bar{l}_{\delta}}(l_{\delta}) \right],$$

and

$$V_0(l^* - \eta) = \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[V_0(\bar{l}) \mathbf{1} \left\{ H_{\bar{l}}(l) < H_{l^*}(l) \right\} + V_0(l^*) \mathbf{1} \left\{ H_{l^*}(l) < H_{\bar{l}}(l) \right\} \right] - \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[H_{l^*}(l) \land H_{\bar{l}}(l) \right].$$

Since $V_0(l^*) = V_{\delta}(l^*_{\delta}) = 0$ we have

$$V_{\delta}(l_{\delta}^{*} - \eta_{\delta}) = \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[V_{\delta}(\bar{l}_{\delta}) \mathbf{1} \left\{ H_{\bar{l}_{\delta}}(l_{\delta}) < H_{l_{\delta}^{*}}(l_{\delta}) \right\} \right] - \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[H_{l_{\delta}^{*}}(l_{\delta}) \land H_{\bar{l}_{\delta}}(l_{\delta}) \right], \qquad (2.35)$$

and

$$V_{0}(l^{*} - \eta) = \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[V_{0}(\bar{l}) \mathbf{1} \left\{ H_{\bar{l}}(l) < H_{l^{*}}(l) \right\} \right] - \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[H_{l^{*}}(l) \land H_{\bar{l}}(l) \right], \qquad (2.36)$$

where $\mathbf{1}\{A\}$ is the indicator function of the set A. We can rewrite (2.35) and (2.36) as

$$V_{\delta}(l_{\delta}^* - \eta) = V_{\delta}(\bar{l}_{\delta}) \mathbf{P}_{\pi} \left(H_{\bar{l}_{\delta}}(l_{\delta}) < H_{l_{\delta}^*}(l_{\delta}) \right) - \mathbf{E}_{\pi} \left[H_{l_{\delta}^*}(l_{\delta}) \wedge H_{\bar{l}_{\delta}}(l_{\delta}) \right], \quad (2.37)$$

and

$$V_0(\bar{l} - \eta) = V_0(\bar{l}) \mathbf{P}_\pi \left(H_{\bar{l}}(l) < H_{l^*}(l) \right) - \mathbf{E}_\pi \left[H_{l^*}(l) \land H_{\bar{l}}(l) \right].$$
(2.38)

To solve equations (2.38) and (2.37) we have to compute probabilities of the type $\mathbf{P}_{\pi} (H_x < H_y)$ and expectations of the form $\mathbf{E}_{\pi} [H_x \land H_y]$, for $x, y \in \mathbb{R}$. These are easy to compute when the underlying process is a standard Brownian motion, whereas closed form expressions are either not known or difficult to compute in all other cases. The best approach is to construct an equivalent measure \mathbf{Q}_{π} under which L_1^{π} is a \mathbf{Q}_{π} -standard Brownian motion.

Lemma 2.5.3. Denote by $\frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}}(l)$, $l \in \mathcal{S}$, the *Radon-Nikodym derivative* of \mathbf{P}_{π} with respect to \mathbf{Q}_{π} (see for example [30]). Denote by \mathbf{Q}_{π} the measure under which the likelihood process L_{1}^{π} is a standard Brownian motion. Then \mathbf{Q}_{π} is absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbf{P}_{π} , the Radon-Nikodym derivative $\frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}}(l)$ is well-defined on \mathcal{S} , and there exists a previsible process $(\gamma_{s})_{s}$, satisfying Novikov's condition, such that

$$\frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}}(l) = \exp\left\{-\int_{0}^{H_{\bar{l}}(l)\wedge H_{l^{*}}(l)}\gamma_{s}dW_{s}^{\pi}(l) - \frac{1}{2}\int_{0}^{H_{\bar{l}}(l)\wedge H_{l^{*}}(l)}\gamma_{s}^{2}ds\right\},\$$

holds true for all $l \in \mathcal{S}$. Moreover $\frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}}(l) \to 1$ as $\bar{l} \to l^*$.

Proof. The measure \mathbf{Q}_{π} is absolutely continuous with respect to \mathbf{P}_{π} by standard results (see for example [38]). By the same token, the Radon-Nikodym derivative $\frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}}$ is well-defined over \mathcal{S} . To show that $\frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}}(l) \to 1$ as $\bar{l} \to l^*$ note that $H_{\bar{l}}(l) \wedge$ $H_{l^*}(l) \to 0$ as $\bar{l} \to l^*$, for all $l \in (\bar{l}, l^*)$. In turn , this implies that $\frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}}(l) \to 1$ as $\bar{l} \to l^*$, for all $l \in \mathcal{S}$.

Noting that $H_{\bar{l}} \wedge H_{l^*}$ is an almost surely finite \mathcal{Y} -stopping time and that L_1^{π} is an almost surely bounded process, as $l_3 \leq L_1^{\pi}(l) \leq l^*$ for all $l \in \mathcal{S}$, we can apply Doob's optional stopping theorem (see for example [38]) to write

$$\mathbf{P}_{\pi} \left(H_{\bar{l}}(l) < H_{l^{*}}(l) \right) = \mathbf{E}_{\pi}^{\mathbf{P}} \left[\mathbf{1} \left\{ H_{\bar{l}}(l) < H_{l^{*}}(l) \right\} \right] = \mathbf{E}_{\pi}^{\mathbf{Q}} \left[\frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}}(l) \mathbf{1} \left\{ H_{\bar{l}}(l) < H_{l^{*}}(l) \right\} \right]$$
$$\xrightarrow{\bar{l} \to l^{*}} \mathbf{E}_{\pi}^{\mathbf{Q}} \left[\mathbf{1} \left\{ H_{\bar{l}}(l) < H_{l^{*}}(l) \right\} \right] = \frac{\eta}{l^{*} - \bar{l}}, \tag{2.39}$$

and

$$\mathbf{P}_{\pi} \left(H_{\bar{l}_{\delta}}(l_{\delta}) < H_{l_{\delta}^{*}}(l_{\delta}) \right) \xrightarrow{\bar{l}_{\delta} \to l_{\delta}^{*}} \frac{\eta_{\delta}}{l_{\delta}^{*} - \bar{l}_{\delta}}.$$
(2.40)

We can also compute the expectation of $H_{l^*} \wedge H_{\bar{l}}$ (and similarly for $H_{l^*_{\delta}} \wedge H_{\bar{l}_{\delta}}$) by applying Doob's optional stopping theorem on the martingale $L_1^2(l) - l$. Then we get

$$\mathbf{E}_{\pi}^{\mathbf{Q}}\left[H_{l^{*}}(l) \wedge H_{\bar{l}}(l)\right] = \frac{\eta}{l^{*} - \bar{l}}(\bar{l}^{2} - (l^{*})^{2}) + (l^{*})^{2}$$
(2.41)

Similarly we have,

$$\mathbf{E}_{\pi}^{\mathbf{Q}}\left[H_{l_{\delta}^{*}}(l_{\delta}) \wedge H_{\bar{l}_{\delta}}(l_{\delta})\right] = \frac{\eta_{\delta}}{l_{\delta}^{*} - \bar{l}_{\delta}}(\bar{l}_{\delta}^{2} - (l_{\delta}^{*})^{2}) + (l_{\delta}^{*})^{2}.$$
(2.42)

Putting (2.41) and (2.39) together we obtain

$$V_0(l^* - \eta) = \frac{\eta}{l^* - \bar{l}} \left(V_0(\bar{l}) - (\bar{l}^2 - (l^*)^2) \right) - (l^*)^2, \qquad (2.43)$$

and, by (2.42) and (2.40), we have

$$V_{\delta}(l_{\delta}^{*} - \eta_{\delta}) = \frac{\eta_{\delta}}{l_{\delta}^{*} - \bar{l}_{\delta}} \left(V_{\delta}(\bar{l}_{\delta}) - (\bar{l}_{\delta}^{2} - (l_{\delta}^{*})^{2}) \right) - (l_{\delta}^{*})^{2}.$$
(2.44)

By (2.43) and (2.44) we see that

$$\lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{V_{\delta}(l_{\delta}^* - \eta_{\delta})}{\eta_{\delta}} = \lim_{\eta \to 0^+} \frac{V_0(l^* - \eta)}{\eta} = V_0'(l^*), \quad (2.45)$$

as $V_{\delta} \to V_0$ as $\delta \to 0^+$ by Lemma (2.4.1) and $l_{\delta}^* \to l^*$ as $\delta \to 0^+$. Therefore h satisfies (2.33).

We now study the left-hand side boundary.

Lemma 2.5.4. The limiting function $\hat{h} : S \to \mathbf{R}$ is such that

$$\hat{h}(l_3) = -V_0'(l_3). \tag{2.46}$$

Proof. By definition \hat{h} satisfies (2.29). Therefore we have

$$\hat{h}(l_3) = \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{V_{\delta}(l_3) - V_0(l_3)}{\delta}$$
$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{V_{\delta}(l_3) - (V_0(l_3 - \delta) + \delta V_0'(l_3 - \delta))}{\delta}$$
$$= \lim_{\delta \to 0^+} \frac{(\alpha_{\delta}(\beta_{\delta}) - \beta_{\delta}) - \delta V_0'(l_3 - \delta)}{\delta}, \qquad (2.47)$$

where we used a first order Taylor's approximation in the second equality. By applying Lemma 2.4.1 to equation (2.47) we obtain

$$\hat{h}(l_3) = -V_0'(l_3), \tag{2.48}$$

which concludes the proof.

We are now going to show that h satisfies the limit (2.29) in the domain $int(\mathcal{S})$.

Lemma 2.5.5. Consider the function $\hat{V} : S \to \mathbf{R}$ defined as $\hat{V}(l) := V_0(l) + \delta h(l)$, for $\delta > 0$. Then there exists a positive constant k > 0 such that

$$||V_{\delta}(l) - \hat{V}(l)||_{\infty} \le k\delta^2,$$

for $l \in S$. In particular, we have that for all $\delta > 0$, there exists k > 0 such that

$$\begin{aligned} ||\mathcal{L}_{\delta}^{lin}(V_{\delta}(l) - \hat{V}(l))||_{\infty} &\leq k\delta^{2}, \\ V_{\delta}(l_{3}) &= \hat{V}(l_{3}) + k\delta^{2}, \\ V_{\delta}(l_{\delta}^{*}) &= \hat{V}(l_{\delta}^{*}) + k\delta^{2}. \end{aligned}$$

where $\mathcal{L}_{\delta}^{lin}$ is the linearised version of the differential operator \mathcal{L}_{δ} .

Proof. Note that $\mathcal{L}^{lin}_{\delta}$ is uniformly elliptic, as there exist a constant $\lambda > 0$ such that

$$\frac{1}{2}(\mu l)^2 > \lambda,$$

for all $l \in S$. In particular, we may take $\lambda = \frac{1}{2}(\mu l_3)^2$. We note that $\mathcal{L}_{\delta}^{lin}$ has constant term c = 0. Define the function $u := \hat{V} - V_{\delta}$. Our goal is to apply the strong maximum principle for uniformly elliptic operators (see for example [22]): to do so we need to verify that $\mathcal{L}_{\delta}^{lin} u \ge 0$, which in turns requires to check that $\mathcal{L}_{\delta}^{lin} \hat{V} \ge -1$. To check such a condition note that

$$\mathcal{L}^{lin}_{\delta}\hat{V} = \mathcal{L}^{lin}_{\delta}(V_0 + \delta h) = (\mathcal{L}^{lin}_0 + \delta\hat{\mathcal{L}})(V_0 + \delta h) = -1 + \delta^2\hat{\mathcal{L}}h, \qquad (2.49)$$

as $V_0 \in \mathcal{C}^2(\mathcal{S})$ and $h \in \mathcal{C}^1(\mathcal{S})$, where we used (2.28) and (2.30). Hence, there exist $\xi > 0$ such that

$$\mathcal{L}_{\delta}^{lin}u = \mathcal{L}_{\delta}^{lin}(\hat{V} - V_{\delta}) \ge \delta^{2}\hat{\mathcal{L}}h \ge -\xi,$$

by (2.10) and (2.49). Our goal is to find a function $g : S \to \mathbf{R}$ such that $\mathcal{L}_{\delta}^{lin}g \geq 1$, in such a way that the function $\hat{u} := \hat{V} - V_{\delta} + \xi g$ is such that

$$\mathcal{L}^{lin}_{\delta}\hat{u} \ge 0.$$

Let us choose g(l) = Bl, where $B \in \mathbb{R}$. To choose B we need to solve $\mathcal{L}^{lin}_{\delta}g \ge 1$: from doing so we get

$$B \ge \frac{l + 2l_3 + \delta}{\mu^2 l^2}.$$
$$B := \frac{l^* + 2l_3 + \delta}{\mu^2 l_3^2}$$

Let us take

Thus, for g(l) = Bl we have

As \hat{u} is clearly not a constant function, by the strong maximum principle we have that $\sup_{l \in S} \hat{u}(l)$ is attained at the boundary of the domain ∂S . In particular, we see that

 $\mathcal{L}^{lin}_{\delta}\hat{u}(l) \ge 0.$

$$\arg\max_{l\in\mathcal{S}}\hat{u}(l)=l_3.$$



Fig. 2-11: The function h simulated using equation (2.29). Here $\varepsilon = 0.01$, $l_3 = 1$, $\mu = 1$. We consider $\delta = 10^{-5}$ to simulate the limit (2.29).

Moreover , since $g(l) \ge 0$ for all $l \in \mathcal{S}$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} ||V - V_{\delta}||_{\infty} &\leq ||V - V_{\delta} + \xi g||_{\infty} = V(l_3) - V_{\delta}(l_3) + \xi g(l_3) \\ &= -\delta V_0'(l_3) + \xi g(l_3), \end{aligned}$$

where the last equality uses the left boundary condition of h in equation (2.48). Note that the dependence of V'_0 on δ is described by the constant k^0_1 in equation (2.9): thus, it has the same order of convergence of α_{δ} to β_{δ} , which we proved to be $O(\delta)$ in Lemma 2.4.1. As g is clearly linear in δ , we may conclude that it exists k > 0 such that

$$||\hat{V} - V_{\delta}||_{\infty} \le k\delta^2.$$

Putting Lemma 2.5.5, 2.5.4 and 2.5.2 together we see that the solution of the boundary value problem (2.28) satisfies the limit (2.29). Figure 2-11 shows a simulation of h as the limit (2.29). Figure 2-12 shows a comparison between h computed as the limit (2.29) and h obtained as solution of the boundary value problem (2.28).

2.6 A counterexample to the optimality of the FTL strategy along the south boundary

The goal of this section is to show that we can find an alternative strategy which gives a smaller expected searching time than the FTL policy for some



Fig. 2-12: A comparison between h simulated as the limit (2.29) (on the top-left) and h as solution of the boundary value problem (2.28) (on the top-right). Here we used a finite difference method with $\varepsilon = 0.1$, $l_3 = 1$, $\mu = 1$. We considered $\delta = 10^{-5}$ and discretised the south boundary with $N = 10^5$ points. The difference between the 2 solutions is shown in plot at the bottom of the figure.

 $l \in \mathcal{S}$ and a certain set of parameters $\mu, l_3 > 0$ and $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{2}{3})$. This is clearly in contradiction with the main claim of [42]: as we mentioned in the Introduction, the results of [42] were deemed as unclear by the authors in [17], but they did not provide a counterexample to the main claim. Let us start from a generic point $(l, l_3, l_3) \in \mathcal{S}$ and consider 2 possible strategies:

- FTO: the Follow The Other (FTO) strategy prescribes to apply either the FTS or the FTT (Follow the Third) strategy, that is, to move to either $(l, l_3 - \delta^*, l_3)$ or $(l, l_3 + \delta, l_3)$. The parameter δ^* has to be chosen in such a way that $\frac{l_3^2}{l_3 - \delta^*} = l_3 + \delta, \ \delta > 0;$
- FTL: move to either $(l \eta, l_3, l_3)$ or $(l + \eta, l_3, l_3)$ where $\eta > 0$ is chosen such that

$$\mathbf{E}_{FTL}[H_{l-\eta}(l) \wedge H_{l+\eta}(l)] = \mathbf{E}_{FTO}[H_{l+\delta}(l) \wedge H_{l-\delta^*}(l)], \qquad (2.50)$$

where $H_{l+\eta}(l)$ (respectively $H_{l-\eta}(l)$) is the first hitting time of $(l+\eta, l_3, l_3)$ (respectively $(l-\eta, l_3, l_3)$) starting from (l, l_3, l_3) and $H_{l+\delta}(l)$ (respectively $H_{l-\delta^*}(l)$) is the first hitting time of $(l, l_3 + \delta, l_3)$ (respectively $(l, l_3 - \delta^*, l_3)$) starting from (l, l_3, l_3) .

Remark 2.6.1. Intuitively speaking, at $(l, l_3, l_3) \in S$ the second and third particles, L^2_{π} and L^3_{π} , are at the same level. Hence we cannot distinguish between the FTS and FTT strategy and the FTO policy consists in just observing either L^2_{π} or L^3_{π} . If the particle goes "up" by δ , we are actually applying the FTS policy and we reach the point $(l, l_3 + \delta, l_3) \in S_{\delta}$. If it goes "down" by δ^* , we we are actually applying the FTT policy and we can use the scalability property of the value function (see Remark 1.1.11) to ensure that the value at $(l, l_3 - \delta^*, l_3)$ is equal to the value of a corresponding point $(l + \hat{\delta}, l_3 + \delta, l_3) \in S_{\delta}$. In this section we will study how to properly choose η , δ^* and $\hat{\delta}$.

Theorem 2.6.2. Let $g : S \to \mathbf{R}$ be the function defined by

$$g(l) := h(l) + \frac{l}{2l_3} V_0'(l).$$
(2.51)

Then the FTL strategy is suboptimal at $(l, l_3, l_3) \in S$ if g(l) < 0.

Proof. To set appropriate η and δ^* recall that the likelihood process L^1_{π} under the FTL policy is a \mathbf{P}_{π} - Brownian motion with drift $\mu > 0$ and $L^1_{\pi}(0) = l \in [l_3, 2m_{\varepsilon}l_3]$. At $(l, l_3, l_3) \in \mathcal{S}$ the residual expected searching time under the FTL strategy is

$$\mathbb{E}_{FTL}^{\eta,-\eta} := \mathbf{P}_{\pi}(H_{l+\eta}(l) < H_{l-\eta}(l))V_0(l+\eta) + \mathbf{P}_{\pi}(H_{l-\eta}(l) < H_{l+\eta}(l))V_0(l-\eta), \quad (2.52)$$

whereas the residual expected searching time under the FTO strategy is

$$\mathbb{E}_{FTO}^{\delta,-\delta^*} := \mathbf{P}_{\pi}(H_{l_3+\delta}(l_3) < H_{l_3-\delta^*}(l_3))V_{\delta}(l_3+\delta) + \mathbf{P}_{\pi}(H_{l_3-\delta^*}(l_3) < H_{l_3+\delta}(l_3))V_{\delta}(l_3-\delta^*)$$
(2.53)

Once more we need to compute probabilities of the type $\mathbf{P}_{\pi}(H_x < H_y)$ for some $x, y \in \mathbf{R}$. To do so, we can apply the same methods we used in section 2.5: find an equivalent measure \mathbf{Q}_{π} under which the likelihood process is a standard Brownian motion. We refer to section 2.5 for a complete explanation of such methods. We have

$$\mathbf{P}_{\pi}(H_{l+\eta} < H_{l-\eta}) = \mathbb{E}_{\pi}^{\mathbf{P}}(\mathbb{1}\{H_{l+\eta} < H_{l-\eta}\}) = \mathbb{E}_{\pi}^{\mathbf{Q}}\left(\frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}}\mathbb{1}\{H_{l+\eta} < H_{l-\eta}\}\right).$$

Once more, note that as $\eta \to 0^+$, $H_{l-\eta} \wedge H_{l+\eta} \to 0^+$, so that $\frac{d\mathbf{P}_{\pi}}{d\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}} \to 1$. Therefore, for $\eta \approx 0^+$, we have

$$\mathbf{P}_{\pi}(H_{l+\eta}(l) < H_{l-\eta}(l)) = \mathbb{E}_{\pi}^{\mathbf{Q}} \left(\mathbb{1}\{H_{l+\eta}(l) < H_{l-\eta}(l)\} \right) = \mathbf{Q}_{\pi}(H_{l+\eta}(l) < H_{l-\eta}(l)).$$

Since L^1_{π} is a \mathbf{Q}_{π} - Brownian motion we have

$$\mathbf{P}_{\pi}(H_{l+\eta}(l)(< H_{l-\eta}(l)) = \mathbf{Q}_{\pi}(H_{l+\eta}(l) < H_{l-\eta}(l)) = \frac{l+\eta-l}{l+\eta-(l-\eta)} = \frac{\eta}{2\eta} = \frac{1}{2},$$
(2.54)

which is consistent with L^1_{π} being a \mathbf{Q}_{π} - standard Brownian motion. By the same reasoning we compute $\mathbf{P}_{\pi}(H_{l_3+\delta}(l) < H_{l_3-\delta^*}(l))$ as

$$\mathbf{P}_{\pi}(H_{l_3+\delta}(l_3) < H_{l_3-\delta^*}(l_3)) = \mathbf{Q}_{\pi}(H_{l_3+\delta}(l_3) < H_{l_3-\delta^*}(l_3)) = \frac{\delta^*}{\delta+\delta^*}, \quad (2.55)$$

where $\frac{l_3^2}{l_3-\delta^*} = l_3+\delta$. Here the idea is that we want to find a point $(l+\hat{\delta}, l_3+\delta, l_3) \in \mathcal{S}_{\delta}$ such that $V(l+\hat{\delta}, l_3+\delta, l_3) = V(l, l_3-\delta^*, l_3)$, for some $\hat{\delta} > 0$. This can be done by exploiting the scalability property (see Remark 1.1.11): we have that $\hat{\delta}$ is such that $l+\hat{\delta} = l\frac{l_3}{l_3-\delta^*}$, for all $(l, l_3+\delta, l_3) \in \mathcal{S}_{\delta}$. Hence we can rewrite (2.55) as

$$\mathbf{Q}_{\pi}(H_{l_3+\delta}(l_3) < H_{l_3-\delta^*}(l_3)) = \mathbf{Q}_{\pi}(H_l < H_{l+\hat{\delta}}) = \frac{l_3}{2l_3+\delta}.$$
 (2.56)

By (2.54) and (2.56) we obtain

$$\mathbf{E}_{FTL}[H_{l-\eta}(l) \wedge H_{l+\eta}(l)] = l^2 + \eta^2, \qquad (2.57)$$

$$\mathbf{E}_{FTO}[H_l \wedge H_{l+\hat{\delta}}] = l^2 \frac{l_3}{2l_3+\delta} + l^2 \left(\frac{l_3+\delta}{l_3}\right)^2 \frac{l_3+\delta}{2l_3+\delta}.$$
(2.58)

Hence we select η , δ , δ^* in such a way that

$$l^{2} + \eta^{2} = l^{2} \frac{l_{3}}{2l_{3} + \delta} + l^{2} \left(\frac{l_{3} + \delta}{l_{3}}\right)^{2} \frac{l_{3} + \delta}{2l_{3} + \delta},$$

that is,

$$\eta = \sqrt{\delta \frac{l^2(l_3 + \delta)}{l_3^2}}.$$

We can now rewrite (2.52) and (2.53) as

$$\mathbf{E}_{FTL}^{\eta,-\eta} = \frac{1}{2} V_0 \left(l + \sqrt{\delta \frac{l^2(l_3+\delta)}{l_3^2}} \right) + \frac{1}{2} V_0 \left(l - \sqrt{\delta \frac{l^2(l_3+\delta)}{l_3^2}} \right)$$
(2.59)
$$\mathbf{E}_{FTO}^{\delta,-\delta^*} = \frac{l_3}{2l_3+\delta} V_{\delta}(l) + \frac{l_3+\delta}{2l_3+\delta} V_{\delta}(l+\hat{\delta}).$$
(2.60)

Note that, as $\delta \to 0^+$, (2.59) tends to

$$\mathbf{E}_{FTL}^{\eta,-\eta} = \frac{1}{2}V_0(l) + \frac{1}{2}V_0(l) = V_0(l).$$

As $V_{\delta} = V_0 + \delta h + \mathcal{O}(\delta^2)$, and taking $\delta \to 0^+$, we can rewrite (2.60) as

$$\mathbf{E}_{FTO}^{\delta,-\delta^*} = V_0(l) + \delta\left(h(l) + \frac{l}{2l_3}V_0'(l)\right).$$
(2.61)

Therefore the FTL strategy is suboptimal at $(l, l_3, l_3) \in \mathcal{S}$ if

$$h(l) + \frac{l}{2l_3} V_0'(l) < 0, (2.62)$$

which proves our claim.

We now have a criterion to understand at which point and for which values of the parameters l_3 , μ and $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{2}{3})$ the FTL policy returns a lower expected searching time with respect to the alternative FTO policy. Let us note that the FTL value V_0 in equation (2.7), with constants (2.9), (2.8), is clearly decreasing as

$$V_0'(l) = \frac{l(\mu^2 k_1^0 - 2l) + 8l_3(l_3 - l\log(l))}{\mu^2 l(l + 2l_3)^2} \le 0,$$

for all $(l, l_3, l_3) \in S$, $l_3 > 0$ and $\mu > 0$. As we do not have an analytical solution to the boundary value problem (2.29), we have to rely on numerical methods to study the sign of g. Let us start by noting that

$$g(l_3) = h(l_3) + \frac{1}{2}V_0'(l_3) = -V_0'(l_3) + \frac{1}{2}V_0'(l_3) = -\frac{1}{2}V_0'(l_3), \qquad (2.63)$$

$$g(l^*) = h(l^*) + \frac{2m_{\varepsilon}l_3}{2l_3}V_0'(l^*) = -m_{\varepsilon}V_0'(l^*) + m_{\varepsilon}V_0'(l^*) = 0.$$
(2.64)



Fig. 2-13: A comparison between g simulated through the limiting process (on the top-left) and g constructed using h obtained by finite difference method (on the top-right). Here we used a finite difference method with $\varepsilon = 0.1$, $l_3 = 1$, $\mu = 1$. We considered $\delta = 10^{-5}$ and discretised the south boundary with $N = 10^5$ points. The difference between the 2 solutions is shown in plot at the bottom of the figure.

To simulate the function q numerically, we are going to use the finite difference approximation of the function h, whereas we have the closed form solution of the gradient of V_0, V'_0 . We will also compare it to the "limiting" version of g, that is, the function g computed using as h the function that numerically satisfies limit (2.29). As we can see in Figure 2-13, the function g is negative for all $(l, l_3, l_3) \in \mathcal{S}$, for $l_3 = 1$, $\mu = 1$ and $\varepsilon = 0.1$. This is in direct contradiction with the claim of [42]: in such a paper the author proposes the FTL policy as the optimal strategy on the south boundary \mathcal{S} . This would imply that the function g, as defined in (2.51), should be positive, g(l) > 0, for any $(l, l_3.l_3) \in \mathcal{S}$. This is in contradiction with our numerical findings in Figure 2 - 13. As we already mentioned, the proof of the optimality of the FTL policy on the south boundary \mathcal{S} offered in [42] is considered unclear by both us and the authors of [17]: in the latter paper the authors showed that the FTL strategy is not always optimal when the prior distribution is not uniform, but did not obtain any conclusive findings in the case where the prior distribution is uniform. We can now confirm that the FTL strategy is not optimal even on the south boundary \mathcal{S} , at least not for all $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{2}{3})$. Note that, as shown in Figure 2-14, there are values of ε for



Fig. 2-14: A comparison between g simulated through the limiting process (on the top-left) and g constructed using h obtained by finite difference method (on the top-right). Here we used a finite difference method with $\varepsilon = 0.4$, $l_3 = 1$, $\mu = 1$. We considered $\delta = 10^{-5}$ and discretised the south boundary with $N = 10^5$ points. The difference between the 2 solutions is shown in plot at the bottom of the figure.

which g(l) > 0 for all $l \in \mathcal{S}$.

Remark 2.6.3. A comparison between Figure 2-13 and 2-14 shows that the optimality of the FTL strategy depends on the tolerance parameter ε . This finding is quite interesting and, to some extent, counter intuitive: recall that ε sets the level of confidence $1 - \varepsilon$ that we require to declare which particle has the drift $\mu \neq 0$. This makes clear that the smaller ε , the larger the confidence $1 - \varepsilon$ required, the longer the average time needed to reach such a level of confidence. However, considering the result we have just shown, we can say that the value of ε affects not only the average searching time, but the optimal strategy as well.

We still do not have a clear result to show for which values of ε the FTL strategy is optimal, but we can see in Figure 2–15 that g(l) > 0 for $(l, l_3, l_3) \in S$, with $l \in [0.35, 0.7]$. Note that:

1. even for $(l, l_3, l_3) \in S$ and $\varepsilon \in [0.35, 0.7]$, we cannot conclude that the FTL strategy is optimal, only that it yields a lower expected searching time than the alternative FTO policy;



Fig. 2-15: The function g for different values of ε . Here g is approximated using the finite difference method and $l_3 = 1$, $\mu = 1$. We considered $\delta = 10^{-5}$ and discretised the south boundary with $N = 10^{-5}$ points.

2. the FTL policy seems to perform better than the FTO strategy when ε is large, that is, when the required confidence level $1 - \varepsilon$ is small.

2.7 Extension to the case N > 3

As we pointed out at the beginning of the chapter, the results we have discussed hold true for the case N = 3. In particular, as we have shown in Remark 2.1.5, the study of the boundary behavior of the value function at (l_3, l_3, l_3) is specific to the case N = 3. We believe that such an approach can be extended to the case N > 3. Suppose for instance N = 4: define the south boundary as

$$\mathcal{S}_4 := \{ (l, l_3, l_3, l_3) | l \in [l_3, l_4^*) \},\$$

where $l_4^* = 3m_{\varepsilon}l_3$. Suppose we start at $(l_3, l_3, l_3, l_3) \in S_4$ and we apply the FTL strategy. There are two possible outcomes:

- 1. if $L_1^{\pi}(t)$ increases by $\delta > 0$ we reach the level $(l_3 + \delta, l_3, l_3, l_3)$;
- 2. if $L_1^{\pi}(t)$ decreases by $\delta' > 0$ we reach the level $(l_3 \delta', l_3, l_3, l_3)$, where $\delta' = \delta + O(\delta)$ is such that $V(l_3 \delta', l_3, l_3, l_3) = V(l_3 + \delta, l_3 + \delta, l_3 + \delta, l_3)$.

Therefore, we should be able to study the boundary behavior of the value function using similar arguments to the ones we exploited for N = 3.

2.8 Summary

In this chapter we studied the optimality of the FTL policy when the prior distribution is uniform, that is, when the processes all start from the same initial level l. We characterized the FTL strategy as the unique solution of the boundary value problem (2.6). We have also properly constructed the FTL strategy by exploiting the notion of local time. We then introduced the S_{δ} domain and studied the δ -FTL strategy on \mathcal{S}_{δ} . We used such a strategy to study the limit behaviour of the value function on the south boundary \mathcal{S} . To do so we defined the function h in equation (2.29). We then used such a function to compare the FTL strategy to an alternative strategy, defined on the south boundary \mathcal{S} , that we denoted as FTO, the Follow The Other strategy. Using numerical methods, which included both direct simulations of the value functions and finite difference methods to approximate the solutions to boundary value problems, we have shown that there exist values of the tolerance parameter ε for which the FTL policy is not optimal for any $(l, l_3, l_3) \in \mathcal{S}$. We can therefore reiterate the conclusion of [17]: we do not know which is the optimal strategy, but we know that, even when the prior distribution is uniform, is not always best (optimal) to follow the leader!

Chapter 3 The optimal strategy with generic prior distribution

In the previous chapter we studied the case where the prior distribution is uniform. This is equivalent to saying that all likelihoods L_i^{π} , $i \in I$ (respectively all the probability processes Π_i , $i \in I$) start from a same common level l (respectively π). In this chapter we remove such an assumption and study the behaviour of the value function of the FTL problem (1.10) when we do not have any information about the prior distribution. We will denote the prior distribution as $\pi = (\pi_1, \ldots, \pi_N), N \in \mathbb{N}, \pi \in D_{\pi}$, where

$$D_{\pi} = \left\{ \pi = (\pi_1, \dots, \pi_N) \middle| \pi_i \in [0, 1] \text{ and } \sum_i \pi_i = 1 \right\}.$$
 (3.1)

As we have done in the previous chapter, we will mostly work in the space of likelihoods L^{π} , so to exploit the independence between the processes L_i^{π} , $i \in I$, but we will also exploit relevant properties of the posterior probability processes Π_i , $i \in I$, when necessary. Let us start by constructing the FTL strategy for generic prior distributions.

3.1 The FTL strategy

Consider the prior distribution $l = (l_1, \ldots, l_N), N \in \mathbb{N}$. To define the FTL policy we sort the prior distribution $l = (l_1, \ldots, l_N), N \in \mathbb{N}$, in decreasing order, in such a way that $l_1 \geq l_2 \geq \cdots \geq l_N$. By Remark (1.1.13), this does not affect the value of the problem. As we have seen in section 1.3 of Chapter 1, it is not immediate to define the FTL policy when two or more particles have the same value. To see this take for example N = 3 and consider a generic prior distribution $l = (l_1, l_2, l_3), l_1 > l_2 \geq l_3$. At time t = 0 the FTL strategy prescribes to observe the likelihood process $L_1^{\pi}(t) = \max_{i \in I} L_i^{\pi}(t)$ until:

- 1. at some time t > 0, $L_1^{\pi}(t)$ reaches the threshold $L_1^{\pi}(t) = m_{\varepsilon}(L_2^{\pi}(t) + L_3^{\pi}(t))$ before reaching the level $L_1^{\pi}(t) = l_2$. In this case we declare that the first process X_1 has drift $\mu \neq 0$ with probability $1 - \varepsilon$ and the search is over;
- 2. at some time t > 0, $L_1^{\pi}(t)$ reaches the level $L_1^{\pi}(t) = l_2$ before reaching the target value $L_1^{\pi}(t) = m_{\varepsilon}(L_2^{\pi}(t) + L_3^{\pi}(t))$. In this case $L_1^{\pi}(t) = L_2^{\pi}(t) \ge L_3^{\pi}(t)$ and it is not clear which particle is now the leader.

To resolve case 2 we can exploit the results developed in section 1.3: we map the likelihood processes L_1^{π} , L_2^{π} into the running maximum process L_M^{π} and the running minimum process L_m^{π} . See section 1.3 for a detailed analysis of the problem. In Chapter 1 we have shown that the value function of the FTL policy V_{FTL} is the unique viscosity solution to the second-order ODE (2.6). We now need to compute the boundary of the problem: the right boundary associated to the ODE (2.6) is naturally $(m_{\varepsilon}(l_2 + l_3), l_2, l_3)$: at this point the search is over as we can declare that the particle X_1 has drift $\mu \neq 0$ with probability $1 - \varepsilon$, $\varepsilon \in (0, \frac{N-1}{N})$. This means that the residual average time to complete the searching process under the FTL strategy at $(m_{\varepsilon}(l_2 + l_3), l_2, l_3)$ is 0, that is,

$$V_{FTL}(m_{\varepsilon}(l_2 + l_3), l_2, l_3) = 0.$$
(3.2)

As far as the left boundary is concerned, a natural choice is at (l_2, l_2, l_3) : as we already mentioned, here the particles L_1^{π} and L_2^{π} are at the same level and we cannot easily distinguish which one is the leader. By exploiting the results obtained in section 1.3 and making use of the martingale condition, as detailed in Remark 1.3.3, we impose the following boundary condition:

$$\frac{\partial V_{FTL}}{\partial l_1}\Big|_{l_1=l_2^+} = \left.\frac{\partial V_{FTL}}{\partial l_2}\Big|_{l_2=l_1^+}.$$
(3.3)

Remark 3.1.1. Starting at any point $l \in D$, where D is defined as in equation (1.46), we can interpret the FTL strategy as a *horizontal* move in D. To see this, recall Figure 2-1 and note that the FTL policy, starting at $l \in D$, prescribes to move horizontally between the west boundary $l_1 = l_2$ and the east boundary $l_1 = m_{\varepsilon}(l_2 + l_3)$, which corresponds to observing the likelihood process L_1^{π} until it reaches either l_2 or $m_{\varepsilon}(l_2 + l_3)$.

Considering the boundary conditions (3.3) and (3.2), and the second-order ODE (2.6), we claim that the value of the FTL policy V_{FTL} is a viscosity solution to the following boundary value problem

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial l_1} \frac{(\mu l_1)^2}{l_1 + l_2 + l_3} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial l_1^2} (\mu l_1)^2 + 1 = 0,$$

$$f \left(\frac{1 - \varepsilon}{\varepsilon} (l_2 + l_3), l_2, l_3 \right) = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial l_1} \Big|_{l_1 = l_2^+} = \frac{\partial f}{\partial l_2} \Big|_{l_2 = l_1^+},$$
(3.4)
where $f \in \mathcal{C}(D)$.

Remark 3.1.2. The boundary value problem (3.4) needs to be interpreted in the sense of viscosity theory. In particular the boundary conditions (3.3) and (3.2) have the form described in section 7.A of [12]. We can see that the Dirichlet condition (3.2) can be obtained by taking the function B(x, r, p), which in [12] represents the boundary value of the problem, as B(x, r, p) = r - f(x), with f(x) = 0 for all $x \in \partial\Omega$, and the Neumann condition (3.3) can be obtained by taking $B(x, r, p) = \langle n(x), p \rangle - f(x)$ with f(x) = 0 for all $x \in \partial\Omega$, where n(x) denotes the outward unit normal to $x \in \partial\Omega$.

Theorem 3.1.3. The value function of the FTL policy V_{FTL} is the unique viscosity solution to the boundary value problem (3.4).

Proof. Denote the left boundary by $D^l = \{(l, l, l_3) | l \ge l_3\}$ and consider a function $g: D^l \to \mathbb{R}^+$ such that $V_{FTL}(l_2, l_2, l_3) = g(l_2, l_2)$. In the following we will simply write $g(l_2)$ in place of $g(l_2, l_2)$. For each $l_2 \ge l_3$ it exists a function $h: \mathbb{R}^+ \times D^l \to \mathbb{R}$ such that by solving the ODE (3.4) on $[l_2, m_{\varepsilon}(l_3 + l_2)]$ with boundary conditions

$$f\left(\frac{1-\varepsilon}{\varepsilon}(l_2+l_3), l_2, l_3\right) = 0, \qquad (3.5)$$
$$f(l_2, l_2, l_3) = g(l_2),$$

we have

$$V'_{+,FTL}(l_2) = h(l_2,g).$$

Consider now $\delta > 0$. Then we have

$$V_{FTL}(l_2 - \delta, l_2, l_3) = V_{FTL}(l_2 - \delta, l_2 - \delta, l_3) + h(l_2 - \delta, g(l_2) - g(l_2)'\delta)$$

= $g(l_2) - h(l_2, g(l_2)).$

A straightforward application of Taylor's expansion gives

$$g' = \left(h + \frac{\partial h}{\partial l_2}\right) \left(\frac{\partial h}{\partial l_2} + \delta\right)^{-1}.$$
 (3.6)

Equation (3.6) is a first-order ODE. To obtain a unique solution we augment (3.6) with the boundary condition

$$g(l_3) = V_0(l_3, l_3, l_3), (3.7)$$

where V_0 denotes the value function of the FTL policy in the case of uniform prior distribution, as computed in (2.7). Denote the value function of the FTL policy with such a boundary condition by $V(l_1, l_2) := V_{FTL}(l_1; g(l_3), l_2)$. Consider now a bounded stopping time τ and let us apply Ito-Tanaka's equation to $V(L^1_{t\wedge\tau},L^2_{t\wedge\tau})$ to get

$$dV(l_1, l_2) = -dt + \left(\frac{\partial V_+}{\partial l_1} + \frac{\partial V_-}{\partial l_2}\right) dT,$$

where T is the local time process as defined in Remark 1.3.3. By construction we have $\frac{\partial V_+}{\partial l_1} = -\frac{\partial V_-}{\partial l_2}$, so that the local time effect goes to zero. Therefore we have a unique solution to the first order ODE (3.6) augmented with the boundary condition (3.7), which implies a unique solution to the boundary value problem (3.4).

Remark 3.1.4. The boundary condition (3.3) is much weaker than a classical boundary condition. In view of that, we cannot hope to uniquely identify the two constants k_1 and k_2 that we will obtain from the general solution of equation (3.4).

The general solution of the second-order differential equation (3.4) can be written as

$$V_{FTL}(l_1, l_2, l_3) = \frac{2\log(l_1)(l_2 + l_3 - l_1)}{\mu^2(l_2 + l_3 + l_1)} + \frac{k_1(l_2)}{l_2 + l_3 + l_1} + k_2(l_2).$$
(3.8)

Remark 3.1.5. Note that the functions k_1 and k_2 are constants with respect to l_1 but depend on l_2 . Condition (3.3) is not enough to write k_1 and k_2 as constants, as we have done in the case where the prior distribution is uniform. In the following we are going to characterise k_1 as the solution of a first-order ODE. Condition (3.2) will then allow us to write k_2 as a function of k_1 .

By condition (3.2) we have

$$k_2 = \frac{2(m_{\varepsilon} - 1)\log(m_{\varepsilon}(l_2 + l_3))}{\mu^2(1 + m_{\varepsilon})} - \frac{k_1}{(l_2 + l_3)(1 + m_{\varepsilon})}.$$
(3.9)

To use condition (3.3) we first need to compute the gradient of V_{FTL} at (l_2, l_2, l_3) . We have

$$\frac{\partial V_{FTL}}{\partial l_1}\Big|_{l_1=l_2^+} = \frac{2(l_3^2 - 2l_2^2 \log(l_2) + 2l_2 l_3 (1 - \log(l_2)))}{\mu^2 l_2 (2l_2 + l_3)^2} - \frac{k_1 (l_2)}{(2l_2 + l_3)^2}$$
(3.10)

$$\frac{\partial V_{FTL}}{\partial l_2}\Big|_{l_1=l_2^+} = \frac{\partial k_2(l_2)}{\partial l_2} + \frac{1}{2l_2+l_3}\frac{\partial k_1(l_2)}{\partial l_2} - \frac{k_1(l_2)}{(2l_2+l_3)^2} + \frac{4l_2\log(l_2)}{\mu^2(2l_2+l_3)^2}.$$
 (3.11)

By equation (3.9) we have

$$\frac{\partial k_2(l_2)}{\partial l_2} = \frac{2(m_{\varepsilon} - 1)}{\mu^2(1 + m_{\varepsilon})(l_2 + l_3)} - \frac{1}{(1 + m_{\varepsilon})(l_2 + l_3)} \frac{\partial k_1(l_2)}{\partial l_2} + \frac{k_1(l_2)}{(1 + m_{\varepsilon})(l_2 + l_3)^2},$$

so that (3.11) can be rewritten as

$$\frac{\partial V_{FTL}}{\partial l_2}\Big|_{l_1=l_2^+} = \frac{2(m_{\varepsilon}-1)}{\mu^2(1+m_{\varepsilon})(l_2+l_3)} + \frac{4l_2\log(l_2)}{\mu^2(2l_2+l_3)^2} \\
+ \frac{l_2(m_{\varepsilon}-1)+m_{\varepsilon}l_3}{(1+m_{\varepsilon})(l_2+l_3)(2l_2+l_3)}\frac{\partial k_1(l_2)}{\partial l_2} + \\
\frac{l_2^2(3-m_{\varepsilon})+2l_2l_3(1-m_{\varepsilon})-m_{\varepsilon}l_3^2}{(1+m_{\varepsilon})(l_2+l_3)^2(2l_2+l_3)^2}k_1(l_2).$$
(3.12)

By equating equations (3.10) and (3.12) we obtain

$$\frac{l_2(m_{\varepsilon}-1)+m_{\varepsilon}l_3}{(1+m_{\varepsilon})(l_2+l_3)(2l_2+l_3)}\frac{\partial k_1(l_2)}{\partial l_2} + \frac{4l_2(l_2+l_3)+l_3^2}{(1+m_{\varepsilon})(l_2+l_3)^2(2l_2+l_3)^2}k_1(l_2)
= \frac{2l_3(2l_2+l_3)-(4l_2+l_3)4l_2\log(l_2)}{\mu^2 l_2(2l_2+l_3)^2} + \frac{2(1-m_{\varepsilon})}{\mu^2(1+m_{\varepsilon})(l_2+l_3)}.$$
(3.13)

We rewrite equation (3.13) by introducing the integrating factor

$$M(l_2) := \exp\left\{\int_{l_3}^{l_2} \frac{4l(l+l_3)+l_3^2}{(l+l_3)(2l+l_3)(l_2(m_{\varepsilon}-1)+m_{\varepsilon}l_3)}dl\right\}.$$

Using $M(l_2)$ we can write equation (3.13) as

$$k_{1}(l_{2}) = \frac{1}{M(l_{2})} \int_{l_{3}}^{l_{2}} \frac{(1+m_{\varepsilon})(l+l_{3})(2l+l_{3})}{l(m_{\varepsilon}-1)+m_{\varepsilon}l_{3}} \\ \left\{ \frac{2l_{3}(2l+l_{3})-(4l+l_{3})4l\log(l)}{\mu^{2}l(2l+l_{3})^{2}} + \frac{2(1-m_{\varepsilon})}{\mu^{2}(1+m_{\varepsilon})(l+l_{3})} \right\} M(l)dl \\ + \frac{1}{M(l_{2})}.$$

$$(3.14)$$

To solve equation (3.14) we need to add one boundary condition: here we can use the value of k_1 when the likelihood of the second particle L_2^{π} is equal to the likelihood of the third particle L_3^{π} , that is, the value of k_1 at (l_3, l_3) . In particular, note that this is the value of the constant k_0^1 in the case where the prior distribution is uniform. We have

$$k_1(l_3, l_3) = 2\mu^{-2}l_3(3 - 4\log(l_3)).$$
(3.15)

Hence, we can compute $k_1(l_2)$ as solution of the initial value problem constituted by equation (3.14) with initial condition (3.15). Solving the integral equation (3.14) is not straightforward, which makes finding the solution to the boundary value problem (3.4) particularly hard. Hence, we will use numerical methods to solve the initial value problem (3.14) and (3.15). We will then use such approximation to compute the numerical solution to the boundary value problem (3.4).



Fig. 3-1: The value of the FTL strategy V_{FTL} as a function of L_1^{π} and L_2^{π} . Here $\mu = 1$, $l_3 = 10$ and $\varepsilon = 0.01$. The domain D is discretised with 40000 points.

Figures 3-1, 3-2 and 3-3 show the value of the FTL function as a function of the likelihoods L_1^{π} and L_2^{π} . The likelihood of the third particle L_3^{π} is kept fixed. By comparing Figures 3-1, 3-2 and 3-3 we can understand some interesting pattern:

- 1. a larger drift μ makes the detection problem easier, as the signal to be found is larger. Indeed, we can see that the values attained by V_{FTL} in Figure 3-3 are much smaller than the values of V_{FTL} in figures 3-1 and 3-2;
- 2. the smaller the error tolerance ε , the harder the detection problem. To see this, note that the values attained by V_{FTL} in Figure 3-2 are much smaller than the values of V_{FTL} in Figure 3-1;
- 3. the average searching time reaches its maximum at the left boundary D^l , where the uncertainty about which particle is the leader is maximal;
- 4. the value function reaches 0 at the right boundary, in accordance with the boundary condition (3.2).

In Figure 3-4 we can see that the value of the FTL strategy restricted on the south boundary S coincides with the value we have computed in Figure 2-5 in Chapter 2 in the case of uniform prior distribution.



Fig. 3-2: The value of the FTL strategy V_{FTL} as a function of L_1^{π} and L_2^{π} . Here $\mu = 1, l_3 = 10$ and $\varepsilon = 0.1$. The domain D is discretised with 40000 points.



Fig. 3-3: The value of the FTL strategy V_{FTL} as a function of L_1^{π} and L_2^{π} . Here $\mu = 10, l_3 = 10$ and $\varepsilon = 0.01$. The domain D is discretised with 40000 points.

V_{FTL}



Fig. 3-4: The value of the FTL strategy V_{FTL} on the south boundary S. Here $l_3 = 1, \mu = 1$ and $\varepsilon = 0.01$. The south boundary S has been discretised with 200 points.

3.2 A study on the optimality of the FTL strategy

In the previous section we studied the value function of the FTL strategy V_{FTL} . However, as the authors have shown in [17], the FTL strategy is not the optimal policy. In particular, the authors have shown that an alternative strategy, which they simply named Strategy B, outperforms the FTL policy for certain values of the parameters μ and ε . The complete table of counterexamples can be found in section 5 of [17]. Recall that Strategy B consists of:

- at time t = 0 start with a prior distribution π such that $\pi_1 > \pi_2 > \pi_3$. Observe the second largest posterior probability $\Pi_2(t)$ until it reaches either π_1 or a specific level a;
- if it reaches π_1 first, switch to the FTL strategy;
- recalling that

$$\Pi_1(t) = \frac{e^{\mu X_1(t)}}{\sum_{j=1}^3 e^{\mu X_j(t)}},$$

and by taking a as the unique value of $\Pi_2(t)$ such that $\Pi_1(t) = 1 - \varepsilon$, if $\Pi_2(t)$ reaches a first then the search is over.

Although the insights in [17] are of great interest, the numerical examples provided are limited. Therefore our first goal is to construct a coherent and welldefined numerical scheme to evaluate the optimal strategy at any point $l \in D$. In Chapter 1, Theorem 1.2.6, we have shown that the value function of the optimal strategy is the unique viscosity solution of equation (1.44). In our particle case, where N = 3, Theorem 1.2.6 tells us that the value function V of the optimal strategy at $l \in D$ is the unique viscosity solution of

$$H_{J^*}(V)(l) = \min\{H_1(V)(l), H_2(V)(l), H_3(V)(l)\},$$
(3.16)

with associated boundary conditions (1.45), where the operator H_i , $i \in I$, is the second-order differential operator described in equation (1.34). Here H_{J^*} denotes the Hamiltonian operator associated to the optimal strategy $J^* \in \mathcal{J}$. The minimization problem is relatively straightforward in the interior of the domain, but it requires more care at the boundaries:

• at the east boundary $l_1 = l_2$, the boundary condition (3.3) implies that we cannot distinguish between FTL and FTS strategy. One possibility is to run the third particle by $\delta > 0$, which amounts to move by δ along the east boundary, as by normalization moving up by δ along the third coordinate

amounts to move up by δ along both the first and second coordinate. We have

$$(l_2, l_2, l_3) \to (l_2, l_2, l_3 + \delta) = (l_2 + \delta, l_2 + \delta, l_3),$$

for $0 < l_3 < l_2$, where once more we exploited Remark 1.1.11. Another possible strategy is to move either the first or the second particle, which amounts to evaluate the boundary condition (3.3), so that the optimal strategy on the east boundary is such that

$$H_{J^{*}}(V) = \min\left\{H_{3}(V), \frac{\partial V}{\partial l_{1}}\Big|_{l_{1}=l_{2}^{+}} - \frac{\partial V}{\partial l_{2}}\Big|_{l_{2}=l_{1}^{+}}\right\};$$
(3.17)

• a similar argument can be used on the south boundary: we can either run the leader, which will diffuse along the south boundary, or run either the second or the third particle. We can see that the optimal strategy is such that

$$H_{J^{*}}(V) = \min\left\{H_{1}(V), \frac{\partial V}{\partial l_{2}}\Big|_{l_{1}=l_{3}^{+}} - \frac{\partial V}{\partial l_{3}}\Big|_{l_{3}=l_{2}^{+}}\right\}.$$
 (3.18)

To see why this is the case recall that the south boundary is in fact the domain S considered in Chapter 2 when studying the FTL problem with uniform prior distribution. On such a boundary the second and third likelihood, L_2^{π} and L_3^{π} , are equal, $l_2 = l_3$. At $l_2 = l_3$ we cannot distinguish between L_2^{π} and L_3^{π} , and if we choose not to move L_1^{π} we can only observe either L_2^{π} or L_3^{π} , which amounts to the FTO strategy that we introduced in Chapter 2. Such a situation leads to the following boundary condition:

$$\frac{\partial V}{\partial l_2}\Big|_{l_2=l_3^+} = \frac{\partial V}{\partial l_3}\Big|_{l_3=l_2^+}.$$
(3.19)

Taking this into account, our goal is to construct a numerical scheme to solve equations (3.16), (3.17) and (3.18) iteratively. As we are going to see, the construction of such an algorithm is non trivial, as standard methods, as well as standard ways to discretise the domain D, are not suitable for this problem. Let us start by describing the iterative procedure:

Algorithm 3.2.1. 1. Denote by n the current iteration. At n = 0, for all $l \in D$ compute V_0 as $V_0(l) = \min\{V_L(l), V_S(l), V_T(l)\}$ where $V_L, V_S, V_T : D \to \mathbf{R}_+$ are such that

$$H_1(V_L)(l) = 0, H_2(V_S)(l) = 0, H_3(V_T)(l) = 0.$$

2. for n > 0, for all $l \in int(D)$, compute V_n as

$$V_n(l) = \min\{H_1 V_{n-1}(l), H_2 V_{n-1}(l), H_3 V_{n-1}(l)\}.$$

For $l \in \partial D$ we instead evaluate the appropriate boundary condition;

3. stop the procedure at step m > 0 such that

$$|V_m(l) - V_{m-1}(l)| < \delta,$$

for all $l \in D$ and $\delta > 0$ a fixed tolerance level.

In light of Algorithm 3.2.1, we see that a critical condition is the monotonicity of the numerical scheme, that is, we need to guarantee that $V_n(l) \geq V_{n-1}(l)$ for all $l \in D$ and all iterations n. This condition is essential, as we cannot allow the searching time at iteration n to be smaller than the searching time at a previous iteration. Unfortunately, the monotonicity of the scheme is not guaranteed by most standard algorithms to solve second-order ODEs. The natural approach to discretise an irregular domain such as D would be a triangular mesh, but to numerically solve a second-order ODE on a triangular mesh we would need to implement a finite element method (FEM) (see [41] for a detailed explanation of such an algorithm). However, the FEM does not satisfy the monotonicity property and, to the best of our knowledge, there are no modifications of the FEM that guarantee such a property. Therefore, we decide to use an irregular rectangular grid to discretise the domain D: for each value of l_2 , we consider a one dimensional grid with M points, where M is the same for all $l_2 \geq l_3$.

Remark 3.2.2. Such a choice of mesh will result in a slanted grid over D: consider for example the Hamiltonian of the FTL strategy in equation (1.34) (i=1). For each $l_2 \geq l_3$, the first and last value of the corresponding grid are $l_1 = l_2$ and $l_1 = m_{\varepsilon}(l_2 + l_3)$ (as shown in section 2.1 of Chapter 2). This means that the boundaries of the boundary value problem vary with the parameter l_2 , resulting in the aforementioned slanted grid.

Remark 3.2.3. Choosing a slanted rectangular grid does not automatically solve the issue of the monotonicity of Algorithm 3.2.1: for each $l_2 \geq l_3$ (each l_1 , respectively) the value of the FTL strategy (FTS strategy, respectively) can be computed by solving equation (1.34) by finite difference method (FDM). However, the standard version of the FDM does not guarantee the monotonicity of Algorithm 3.2.1 yet. That said, we can introduce an appropriate modification of the FDM that satisfies such a property.

We now have to find a suitable numerical scheme that guarantees the monotonicity of the approximation $(V_n)_n$ of the value function V. Such a problem has been studied extensively in the last 20 years: in [26] the author used a mixture of PDE theory and probabilistic methods to compute the convergence rate of an appropriately modified FDM. These results were then extended by [5], [4] and [6]. Following their presentation, let us consider a sufficiently smooth function $\phi: D \to \mathbf{R}$ and the second-order differential operator

$$L^{\alpha}\phi(l) = tr(a^{\alpha}(l)D^{2}\phi(l)) + b^{\alpha}(l)D\phi(l), \qquad (3.20)$$

where tr(a) denotes the trace of the matrix of coefficients $a \in \mathbf{R}^{N \times N}$ and $\alpha \in \mathcal{A}$ is an admissible control. Let us write the finite difference approximation

$$L_h^{\alpha}\phi(l) = \sum_{\beta \in \mathcal{S}} C_h^{\alpha}(l,\beta) \{ \phi(l+\beta h) - \phi(l) \}, \qquad (3.21)$$

where h > 0 is the spatial step and S denotes a stencil over which we approximate the operator, which is a subset of $\mathbb{Z}^N \setminus \{0\}$. It can be proven (see [5]) that a sufficient assumption for the monotonicity of the scheme (3.21) is

$$C_h^{\alpha}(l,\beta) \ge 0, \tag{3.22}$$

for all $l \in D$ and $\beta \in S$.

Remark 3.2.4. It is straightforward to see that the standard FDM approximation of a second-order differential operator of type (3.20), written in the form (3.21), does not necessarily satisfy condition (3.22). Indeed, the FDM has no constraints on the positivity of coefficients $C_h^{\alpha}(l, \beta)$.

One of the main contribution of [5] and [4] is to provide *Kushner's approxi*mation of the second order differential operator (3.20): we can write the approximation (3.21) as

$$L_{h}^{\alpha}\phi = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \left\{ \frac{a_{ii}^{\alpha}}{2} \Delta_{ii} + \sum_{j \neq i} \left(\frac{a_{ij}^{\alpha +}}{2} \Delta_{ij}^{+} - \frac{a_{ij}^{\alpha -}}{2} \Delta_{ij}^{-} \right) + b_{i}^{\alpha +} \delta_{i}^{+} - b_{i}^{\alpha -} \delta_{i}^{-} \right\} \phi, \quad (3.23)$$

where $b^+ = \max\{b, 0\}, b^- = (-b)^+$ and

$$\begin{split} \delta_i^{\pm} \phi(l) &= \pm \frac{1}{h} \left\{ \phi(l \pm e_i h) - \phi(l) \right\} \\ \Delta_{ii} &= \frac{1}{h^2} \left\{ \phi(l + e_i h) - 2\phi(l) + \phi(l - e_i h) \right\} \\ \Delta_{ij}^{+} \phi(l) &= \frac{1}{2h^2} \left\{ 2\phi(l) + \phi(l + e_i h + e_j h) + \phi(l - e_i h - e_j h) \right\} - \\ &= \frac{1}{h^2} \left\{ \phi(l + e_i h) + \phi(l - e_i h) + \phi(l + e_j h) + \phi(l - e_j h) \right\} \\ \Delta_{ij}^{-} \phi(l) &= \frac{1}{2h^2} \left\{ 2\phi(l) + \phi(l + e_i h - e_j h) + \phi(l - e_i h + e_j h) \right\} - \\ &= \frac{1}{h^2} \left\{ \phi(l + e_i h) + \phi(l - e_i h) + \phi(l - e_j h) + \phi(l + e_j h) \right\}. \end{split}$$

Using such an approximation the coefficients $C_h^{\alpha}(l,\beta)$ in (3.21) can be written as

$$C_{h}(l, \pm e_{i}) = \frac{a_{ii}(l)}{2h^{2}} - \sum_{j \neq i} \frac{|a_{ij}(l)|}{4h^{2}} + \frac{b_{ij}^{\pm}(l)}{h}$$
(3.24)
$$C_{h}(l, e_{i}h \pm e_{j}h) = \frac{a_{ij}^{\pm}(l)}{2h^{2}} \quad i \neq j$$

$$C_{h}(l, -e_{i}h \pm e_{j}h) = \frac{a_{ij}^{\mp}(l)}{2h^{2}} \quad i \neq j,$$

where $(e_k)_k$ is the canonical base of \mathbb{R}^N . In [5] and [4] the authors show that the approximation (3.21) of (3.20) is of positive type, that is, satisfies (3.22), if and only if the matrix a is diagonally dominant. Having such a simple criteria to verify the positivity of the scheme is extremely useful, especially since the operators we are interested in, that is the Hamiltonians (1.34) (for i = 1, 2, 3), are uni-dimensional operators, which makes checking the positivity condition straightforward. Indeed, it is enough to note that the second-order coefficient of the operator (1.34) is positive for all $l \in D$, $\frac{1}{2}\mu^2 l^2 > 0$.

One of the limitations of the results in [5], [4] and [6] is that they do not take into account the boundary conditions, but consider only the ODE itself over an unbounded domain. That is, the Kushner approximation (3.23) is constructed over an open subset $A \subset \mathbb{R}$. Unfortunately, this is not enough in our case and we have to understand how to deal with the boundary conditions. To do so, we first have to establish an important difference between the boundaries of D (refer to Figure 2-1 for a graphical representation):

- 1. the "west" boundary $l_1 = l_2$, with boundary condition (3.3), and the "east" boundary, $l_1 = m_{\varepsilon}(l_2 + l_3)$, with boundary condition (3.2), are natural boundaries of D, that is, they are part of the definition of the FTL problem;
- 2. the same is true for the "south" boundary $l_2 = l_3$;
- 3. the "north" boundary, that is, the upper boundary in Figure 2-1, is not an natural boundary. Instead, it is an artificial boundary needed to guarantee that the modified FDM (3.23) terminates in a finite time.

Because of such reasons, setting an appropriate boundary condition for the north boundary is not trivial, as in doing so we need to take care not to modify the value of the FTL problem. To do so we impose the following consistency condition:

$$\lim_{N \to \infty} V\left(N\frac{l_1}{l_2}, N, l_3\right) = V_2(l_1, l_2), \tag{3.25}$$

where $V_2(l_1, l_2)$ is the value function of the FTL problem in the 2-dimensional case.

Remark 3.2.5. The idea underneath (3.25) is that if the second particle L_2^{π} is much bigger than the third particle L_3^{π} , $L_2^{\pi} >> L_3^{\pi}$, then the third particle should have a negligible effect on the value of the problem. Note that, since we are studying the FTL problem on D, $L_1^{\pi} > L_2^{\pi}$, so that on the north boundary we have $L_1^{\pi} > L_2^{\pi} >> L_3^{\pi}$. In the limit, we expect the value function of the FTL problem on the north boundary to behave as the value function in the case N = 2.

Remark 3.2.6. As far as the numerical scheme is concerned, we are going to implement the consistency condition (3.25) in the following way: denote by l_2^M the maximum value of the coordinate l_2 in the finite case, that is, the value of L_2^{π} on the north boundary. Then we choose l_2^M as the smallest value of l_2 such that

$$|V(l_1, l_2, l_3) - V_2(l_1, l_2)| < \xi, \tag{3.26}$$

where $\xi > 0$ is a numerical tolerance.

Remark 3.2.7. The value function of the 2-dimensional FTL problem $V_2(l_1, l_2)$ can be easily computed as in the 2-dimensional case, all searching strategies are equivalent and we can just compute the value of the FTL policy as the value of the problem. To see why that is the case, note that for N = 2 we must have $\Pi_1(t) = 1 - \Pi_2(t)$ for all $t \ge 0$, as Π is a probability measure on D. This means that we can infer information about both particles no matter which one we decide to run, making FTL and FTS equivalent. To compute such value, note that in the 2-dimensional case the value function of the FTL policy is the unique solution (see [29] for a detailed analysis) of the following boundary value problem:

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial l_1} \frac{(\mu l_1)^2}{l_1 + l_2} + \frac{1}{2} \frac{\partial^2 f}{\partial l_1^2} (\mu l_1)^2 + 1 = 0, \qquad (3.27)$$

$$f\left(\frac{1-\varepsilon}{\varepsilon} l_2, l_2\right) = 0,$$

$$\frac{\partial f}{\partial l_1}\Big|_{l_1 = l_2^+} = 0,$$

for $f \in \mathcal{C}^2([l_2, m_{\varepsilon} l_2])$, where $m_{\varepsilon} = \frac{1-\varepsilon}{\varepsilon}$. By standard calculations we see that the value function of the FTL policy V_{FTL} , that is, the unique solution of (3.27) on $[l_2, m_{\varepsilon} l_2]$, can be written as

$$V_{FTL}(l_1, l_2) = \frac{2(l_2 - l_1)\log(l_1)}{\mu^2(l_1 + l_2)} + \frac{k_1}{l_1 + l_2} + k_2,$$

with

$$k_2 = -\frac{2(1-m_{\varepsilon})\log(m_{\varepsilon}l_2)}{\mu^2(1+m_{\varepsilon})} - \frac{k_1}{l_2(1+m_{\varepsilon})},$$

and

$$k_1 = \frac{1}{1 - 2\varepsilon} \mu^{-2} \log(l_2).$$



Fig. 3-5: The domain D discretised by the slanted grid introduced in Remark 3.2.2. In this example we have $\varepsilon = 0.1$ and $l_3 = 1$.

We have now established how to implement the boundary conditions, therefore we can implement Algorithm 3.2.1 taking care of using the appropriate finite differences to ensure the positivity of the coefficients (see equation (3.22)) and therefore the monotonicity of the schema.

From Figure 3-5 we see that the slanted grid introduced in Remark 3.2.2 is not uniform in the l_2 direction. In particular, we choose to have more points near the west and south boundary, as the possible local times effects detailed in Remark 1.3.3 require more numerical precision. Another consequence of the slanted grid is that computing the finite differences needed to approximate the first and second-order derivatives in the Hamiltonian operators (1.34) is not trivial: to compute the finite differences we need to identify the grid points immediately to the left/right and up/down with respect to the current grid point. Indeed, to approximate the derivatives in the internal of the domain int(D) we need to compute the value function as a weighted average of two points immediately to the north-east and north-west with respect to the current grid point. We need to be more careful at the boundaries. Depending on the position, there are various possibilities. In some cases, immediately to the north/south will be a boundary value, and we should either compute this value (on the west boundary, via interpolating the nearest boundary points), or on the east boundary by using the boundary condition. It is clear that at the boundaries we may need to use onesided differences to compute the first derivatives. In Figure 3-6 we evaluate the



Fig. 3-6: The matrix multiplication between the approximation of the derivatives and the corresponding coordinates. From the left $\frac{\partial}{\partial l_1} \times l_1$, $\frac{\partial}{\partial l_2} \times l_2$, $-\frac{\partial}{\partial l_3} \times l_1$ and $-\frac{\partial}{\partial l_3} \times l_2$. On the *x*-axis we have the number of grid points.

goodness of the approximation of the first derivatives: the plots show the matrix multiplication between the approximations of $\frac{\partial}{\partial l_1}$ and l_1 (on the left), between $\frac{\partial}{\partial l_2}$ and l_2 and between $-\frac{\partial}{\partial l_3}$ and either l_1 or l_2 . Ideally the results should converge to 1 as the grid gets finer, which is the case for l_1 and l_2 . The approximation is not as good for the derivative in l_3 , but that is to be expected: by normalization we have $\frac{\partial}{\partial l_3} \times l_1 = -1$ (respectively $\frac{\partial}{\partial l_3} \times l_2 = -1$), but this relationship is not linear, so the approximation does not behave as well.

We will now set up differential operators for FTL, FTS and FTT which are chosen to ensure that the "signs" of the coefficients are always positive away from the point at which we evaluate, and negative at the centre. This ensures that in Algorithm 3.2.1 the value function will increase with iterations, and will converge to the solution of the (discretised) HJB equation, and for sufficiently fine grids, also to the true solution. Key to being able to do this are two observations:

- 1. for second order derivatives, the usual approximation satisfies this property, and this is not disturbed when we have to approximate on the "slanted" grid, provided we approximate by taking positive averages at nearby points;
- 2. for first order derivatives, we need to be more careful. Specifically, if the first order derivative of a function u appears with a positive sign, we can approximate by the right-sided derivative, $u_x = (u(x + \eta) u(x))/\eta$, while if it has a negative sign, we use the left-sided approximation, $u_x = (u(x) u(x))/\eta$.

Second derivative in I1



Fig. 3-7: The approximation of the second derivative in l_1 of the value of the FTL strategy on a 40x40 grid.

 $u(x - \eta)/\eta$, where $\eta > 0$. In practice, because the sign is positive for FTL and FTS, we can always get away with using the right-sided derivative. This is more complicated in the FTT case, because the "right" derivative in l_3 becomes in fact a "southwest" derivative in l_1 or l_2 . As a result, and because the sign difference in the l_3 case is the same as the other cases, we want to use the "right derivative" in the l_3 case, which corresponds to computing in the south west direction.

Figures 3-7 and 3-8 show the approximation of the second-order derivatives in l_1 and l_2 of the value of the FTL strategy V_{FTL} using the method described above. By running Algorithm 3.2.1 we obtain an approximation of the value function of the FTL policy, as shown in Figure 3-9. In Figure 3-10 we compare it to the value obtained by numerically solving the boundary value problem (3.4). As we can see the difference between the two solutions is relatively small across the whole domain but at the south west corner.

In Figures 3-11 and 3-12 we can see the iterative approximations of the FTS and FTT value functions. One way to check the goodness of such approximations is to recall that V_{FTL} is the unique viscosity solution of the HJB equation (3.4). In Figure 3-13 we can see the result of $\hat{H}_{FTL}\hat{V}_{FTL}$, where \hat{H}_{FTL} is the iterative approximation of the Hamiltonian operator H_{FTL} and \hat{V}_{FTL} is the iterative approximation of the FTL value. We expect the result to tend to 0 as the grid gets Second derivative in I2



Fig. 3-8: The approximation of the second derivative in l_2 of the value of the FTL strategy on a 40x40 grid.

Iterative approximation of VFTL



Fig. 3-9: The iterative approximation of the value function of the FTL policy obtained by implementing Algorithm 3.2.1. Here $\mu = 5$, $\varepsilon = 0.2$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 10000 iterations.

Difference between numerical and iterative V_{FTL}



Fig. 3-10: The difference between the iterative approximation of V_{FTL} and the numerical solution of the boundary value problem (3.4). Here we used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 10000 iterations.

finer. In Figures 3-14 and 3-15 we do the same for the FTS and FTT policies. Once more, we can see that the approximation is not as good close to the south west corner. The approximation is also better for FTL then for FTS and FTT.

One last sanity check on Algorithm 3.2.1 can be obtained by looking at the convergence of the value function through iterations: in Figure 3-16 we can see the values of the 3 strategies as a function of the number of iterations. Note that:

- the value of the strategies increases with the number of iterations. This confirms that Algorithm 3.2.1 is indeed monotonic, as shown in [5] and [4];
- the rate of convergence starts to slow down around N = 20000 iterations;
- the rate of convergence at the south west corner behaves similarly to the rate of convergence inside the domain *D*. We decided to study the rate of convergence at the bottom left separately, as in that region the approximation of the value function via iterative method does not behave as well.

Let us now study the result of Algorithm 3.2.1: we will use the approximation of the value function to detect which strategy is optimal at each point $l \in D$. Our main interest is to study the "switching" boundary, that is, the region of Dwhere the optimal strategy changes. Our goal is to study the geometry of the Iterative approximation of V_{FTS}



Fig. 3-11: The iterative approximation of the value function of the FTS policy obtained by implementing Algorithm 3.2.1. Here $\mu = 5$, $\varepsilon = 0.2$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 10000 iterations.

switching boundary, so to understand in which subset of D the FTL strategy is optimal and where is better to run either the second or the third particle rather than the leader. We will study the switching boundary for different values of the parameters ε and μ : recall that these parameters represent the tolerance error and the signal or drift of the target process, respectively. Together they provide information about the difficulty of the detection problem, as a larger μ (respectively a larger ε) make the detection problem "easier" with respect to the same problem with smaller parameters. Considering the rate of convergence illustrated in Figure 3-16, from now on we will run Algorithm 3.2.1 with at least N = 20000 iterations. In Figure 3-17 we can see the switching boundary with $\varepsilon = 0.1$ and $\mu = 1$. In Figure 3-18 we can see the same simulation but where the size of the grid points is proportional to the difference between the two values, that is, if a grid point l is blue than is optimal to apply the FTL strategy and the size of the grid point is proportional to $V_{FTS}(l) - V_{FTL}(l)$. From this simulation we can see that:

- 1. the switching boundary has an irregular shape and it is not easy to interpret;
- 2. the FTT policy is never optimal: there is no point $l \in D$ where we are better off running the third particle rather than one of the others;

Iterative approximation of V_{FTT}



Fig. 3-12: The iterative approximation of the value function of the FTT policy obtained by implementing Algorithm 3.2.1. Here $\mu = 5$, $\varepsilon = 0.2$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 10000 iterations.

3. the FTS strategy is optimal over a large subset of the south boundary S: this confirms our findings in Chapter 2, that is, it is not necessarily optimal to run the leader when the prior distribution is uniform.

In Figures 3-19 and 3-20 we can see another simulation with $\varepsilon = 0.05$: note how the region where FTS is optimal is now more compact and "squeezed" on the west boundary.

Recalling that the FTL problem can be studied both in the space of likelihoods L^{π} and the space of posterior probabilities II, we can see in Figure 3-21 the same simulation in the space of posterior probabilities. Note how the shape of the switching boundary is more regular in this space: in particular, we can see that the unusual behavior close to the north boundary in the space of likelihoods is less evident here. To properly interpret Figure 3-21 note that the west boundary in the space of likelihoods corresponds to the line $\pi_1 = \pi_2$ in the space of probabilities and that the east boundary in the space of likelihoods is projected onto the boundary $\pi_1 = 1 - \varepsilon$, on the bottom-right of the domain. In Figures 3-22 and 3-23 we can see another simulation with $\varepsilon = 0.2$ and N = 50000. We also used a finer grid of 90x90 points. Thanks to the large number of iterations we can see a clear division between the two regions:

1. the subset of D where the FTS strategy is optimal is now larger and seems



Fig. 3-13: The iterative approximation of $H_{FTL}V_{FTL}$ obtained by implementing Algorithm 3.2.1. This should tend to 0 as the grid gets finer. Here $\mu = 5$, $\varepsilon = 0.2$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 10000 iterations.

to cover a large region of the domain. The only regions where FTL is optimal are close to the south and north boundary. This can be seen in the space of posterior probability as well;

- 2. the switching boundary has now a more pronounced "butterfly" shape in the space of likelihoods;
- 3. the region above the south boundary where FTL is optimal has now a clearly defined shape.

Considering all results obtained from the simulations so far, we can now draw some conclusions:

- 1. the shape of the switching boundary seems to be highly sensitive to the value of the tolerance parameter ε . In particular, the region where the FTS strategy is optimal seems to get larger as ε increases, that is, as the detection problem becomes "easier";
- 2. such strong sensitivity on the parameter ε could explain why the optimal strategy is so hard to compute: there does not seem to be an optimal strategy for all values of ε and μ ;



Fig. 3-14: The iterative approximation of $H_{FTS}V_{FTS}$ obtained by implementing Algorithm 3.2.1. These should tend to 0 as the grid gets finer. Here $\mu = 5$, $\varepsilon = 0.2$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 10000 iterations.



Fig. 3-15: The iterative approximation of $H_{FTT}V_{FTT}$ obtained by implementing Algorithm 3.2.1. These should tend to 0 as the grid gets finer. Here $\mu = 5$, $\varepsilon = 0.2$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 10000 iterations.



Fig. 3-16: The rate of convergence of the value functions V_{FTL} , V_{FTS} and V_{FTT} as a function of the number of iterations. Here $\mu = 1$, $\varepsilon = 0.05$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid.



Fig. 3-17: The switching boundary between the FTL and FTS strategies. In blue the area where FTL is optimal, in orange the region where FTS is optimal. Here $\mu = 1$, $\varepsilon = 0.1$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 20000 iterations.



Fig. 3-18: The switching boundary between the FTL and FTS strategies. In blue the area where FTL is optimal, in orange the region where FTS is optimal. The size of the grid points is proportional to the difference between the optimal strategy and the second best strategy. Here $\mu = 1$, $\varepsilon = 0.1$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 20000 iterations.



Fig. 3-19: The switching boundary between the FTL and FTS strategies. In blue the area where FTL is optimal, in orange the region where FTS is optimal. Here $\mu = 1$, $\varepsilon = 0.05$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 20000 iterations.



Fig. 3-20: The switching boundary between the FTL and FTS strategies. In blue the area where FTL is optimal, in orange the region where FTS is optimal. The size of the grid points is proportional to the difference between the optimal strategy and the second best strategy. Here $\mu = 1$, $\varepsilon = 0.05$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 20000 iterations.



Fig. 3-21: The switching boundary between the FTL and FTS strategies in the space of posterior probabilities. In blue the area where FTL is optimal, in orange the region where FTS is optimal. The size of the grid points is proportional to the difference between the optimal strategy and the second best strategy. Here $\mu = 1$, $\varepsilon = 0.05$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 70x70 grid and run the algorithm for N = 20000 iterations.

- 3. the simulations confirm the results we obtained in Chapter 2: there exist $l \in S$ and parameters ε , μ , for which the FTS policy is "better" than the FTL strategy;
- 4. there is no $l \in D$ for which the FTT strategy is optimal. We speculate that, for any $N \in \mathbb{N}$, it is never optimal to observe the N-th particle for the N-dimensional FTL problem.

3.3 Summary

In this chapter we have studied the FTL problem in the case of non-uniform prior distribution. We first found a numerical solution to the boundary value problem (3.4), that is, we numerically computed the value function associated with the Follow The Leader strategy. We have seen that this agrees with the results in Chapter 1 about the value of the FTL policy when the prior distribution is uniform. Starting from the numerical counter examples to the optimality of the FTL strategy provided in [17], we performed an in-depth numerical analysis of the FTL problem when the prior distribution is not uniform and N = 3. In doing so we have:



Fig. 3-22: The switching boundary between the FTL and FTS strategies. In blue the area where FTL is optimal, in orange the region where FTS is optimal. The size of the grid points is proportional to the difference between the optimal strategy and the second best strategy. Here $\mu = 1$, $\varepsilon = 0.2$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 90x90 grid and run the algorithm for N = 50000 iterations.

- studied the boundary conditions of the FTL problem in the space of likelihoods. We also introduced a new "artificial" boundary, that we named north boundary, so to make the problem solvable by means of numerical methods;
- 2. we introduced the iterative Algorithm 3.2.1 to approximate the value function of the FTL problem: in essence this algorithm iteratively applies the Hamiltonian operators describing the FTL, FTS and FTT policies to the value function of the problem and evaluate which strategy "performs better" at each step;
- 3. we introduced an irregular grid over the space of likelihoods L^{π} : this was necessary to guarantee to properly approximate the first and second-order derivatives needed to compute the approximation of the Hamiltonian operators;
- 4. we exploited the Kushner's approximation introduced in [5], [4] and [6] to define a modified version of Algorithm 3.2.1. Such a version guarantees that the approximation of the value function is increasing as a function of the number of iterations;



Fig. 3-23: The switching boundary between the FTL and FTS strategies in the space of posterior probabilities. In blue the area where FTL is optimal, in orange the region where FTS is optimal. The size of the grid points is proportional to the difference between the optimal strategy and the second best strategy. Here $\mu = 1$, $\varepsilon = 0.2$ and $l_3 = 1$. We used a 90x90 grid and run the algorithm for N = 50000 iterations.

- 5. we implemented the modified, monotonic version of Algorithm 3.2.1, showing that the approximation of the value of the FTL strategy is consistent with what computed by standard numerical techniques;
- 6. we studied the switching boundaries of the the FTL problem. Most interestingly, we have seen that the geometry of the switching boundary is highly sensitive to the tolerance parameter ε and that the FTT strategy, that is, the policy that prescribes to run the third particle, never seems to be optimal.

Considering all results we just summarised, we believe we can now augment the conclusions of the authors in [17]: we still do not know which is the optimal strategy, but we do know that (for a specific subset of the domain) it is better *not* to Follow The Leader!

Future work

The FTL problem has a long history of publications and interesting research based on it, and we believe there are still many open questions to study:

- 1. a first step would be to perform a more in-depth analysis of the sensitivity of the optimal strategy to the tolerance parameter ε . Such a parameter seems to have a fundamental role in determining the optimal strategy and by studying the sensitivity of the value on it, we could learn more about the value function of the FTL problem;
- 2. although interesting, the numerical simulations of the value function are not enough to compute the optimal strategy. A first step to do so would be to find a good interpretation for the geometry of the switching boundary, which we do not have at the moment;
- 3. the numerical simulations suggest that the Follow The Third policy is never optimal. An intermediate step to compute the optimal strategy would be to prove that;
- 4. we still do not know much about the value function of the FTL problem when we consider more than 3 particles, N > 3. We believe that the behavior of the value function remains the same for all N but further analyses is needed to confirm that. The main difficulty of the generic N-dimensional problem is to consider the further boundary conditions that arise as the dimensionality of the problem increases. These could pose problems both in the theoretical and numerical analysis of the value function.
- 5. the iterative algorithm 3.2.1 is an application of the Kushner's approximation introduced in [5], [4] and [6]. It could be of interest to improve such a method, both from the efficiency and the numerical precision point of view. We believe such an approach could be used to numerically study other similar stochastic control problems.

Bibliography

- [1] Alan Bain and Dan Crisan. *Fundamentals of stochastic filtering*. Vol. 60. Springer Science & Business Media, 2008.
- [2] Elena Bandini et al. "Backward SDEs for optimal control of partially observed path-dependent stochastic systems: a control randomization approach". In: *The Annals of Applied Probability* 28.3 (2018), pp. 1634–1678.
- [3] Elena Bandini et al. "Randomized filtering and Bellman equation in Wasserstein space for partial observation control problem". In: *Stochastic Processes* and their Applications 129.2 (2019), pp. 674–711.
- [4] Guy Barles and Espen Jakobsen. "Error bounds for monotone approximation schemes for parabolic Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equations". In: *Mathematics of Computation* 76.260 (2007), pp. 1861–1893.
- [5] Guy Barles and Espen R Jakobsen. "Error bounds for monotone approximation schemes for Hamilton–Jacobi–Bellman equations". In: *SIAM journal* on numerical analysis 43.2 (2005), pp. 540–558.
- [6] Guy Barles and Espen Robstad Jakobsen. "On the convergence rate of approximation schemes for Hamilton-Jacobi-Bellman equations". In: ESAIM: Mathematical Modelling and Numerical Analysis 36.1 (2002), pp. 33–54.
- [7] Michele Basseville, Igor V Nikiforov, et al. *Detection of abrupt changes:* theory and application. Vol. 104. prentice Hall Englewood Cliffs, 1993.
- [8] Erhan Bayraktar and Ross Kravitz. "Quickest search over Brownian channels". In: Stochastics An International Journal of Probability and Stochastic Processes 86.3 (2014), pp. 473–490.
- [9] Erhan Bayraktar, Qingshuo Song, and Jie Yang. "On the Continuity of Stochastic Exit Time Control Problems". In: Stochastic Analysis and Applications 29.1 (Dec. 2010), pp. 48–60. ISSN: 0736-2994. DOI: 10.1080/ 07362994.2011.532020. URL: https://doi.org/10.1080/07362994. 2011.532020 (visited on 03/03/2023).
- [10] Vivek S Borkar. "The probabilistic structure of controlled diffusion processes". In: Acta Applicandae Mathematica 11.1 (1988), pp. 19–48.

- [11] Alexander MG Cox and Sigrid Källblad. "Model-independent bounds for Asian options: a dynamic programming approach". In: SIAM Journal on Control and Optimization 55.6 (2017), pp. 3409–3436.
- [12] Michael G Crandall, Hitoshi Ishii, and Pierre-Louis Lions. "User's guide to viscosity solutions of second order partial differential equations". In: *Bulletin of the American mathematical society* 27.1 (1992), pp. 1–67.
- [13] Vladimir Dragalin. "A simple and effective scanning rule for a multi-channel system". In: *Metrika* 43.1 (1996), pp. 165–182.
- [14] Nicole El Karoui, Du Huù Nguyen, and Monique Jeanblanc-Picqué. "Existence of an optimal Markovian filter for the control under partial observations". In: SIAM journal on control and optimization 26.5 (1988), pp. 1025– 1061.
- [15] RJ Elliott and H Yang. "Control of partially observed diffusions". In: Journal of optimization theory and applications 71.3 (1991), pp. 485–501.
- [16] PA Ernst, Goran Peskir, and Quan Zhou. "Optimal real-time detection of a drifting Brownian coordinate". In: *The Annals of Applied Probability* 30.3 (2020), pp. 1032–1065.
- [17] Philip A Ernst, LCG Rogers, and Quan Zhou. "When is it best to follow the leader?" In: Stochastic Processes and their Applications 130.6 (2020), pp. 3394–3407.
- [18] Giorgio Fabbri, Fausto Gozzi, and Andrzej Swiech. "Stochastic optimal control in infinite dimension". In: *Probability and Stochastic Modelling.* Springer (2017).
- [19] Wendell H Fleming and Halil Mete Soner. *Controlled Markov processes and viscosity solutions*. Vol. 25. Springer Science & Business Media, 2006.
- [20] Fausto Gozzi and Andrzej Świech. "Hamilton–Jacobi–Bellman equations for the optimal control of the Duncan–Mortensen–Zakai equation". In: *Journal of Functional Analysis* 172.2 (2000), pp. 466–510.
- [21] Allen G Hart et al. "Echo State Networks for Reinforcement Learning". In: arXiv preprint arXiv:2102.06258 (2021).
- [22] Philip Hartman. Ordinary differential equations. SIAM, 2002.
- [23] Adam Kalai and Santosh Vempala. "Efficient algorithms for online decision problems". In: Journal of Computer and System Sciences 71.3 (2005), pp. 291–307.
- [24] EM Klimko and James Yackel. "Optimal search strategies for Wiener processes". In: Stochastic Processes and their Applications 3.1 (1975), pp. 19–33.

- [25] Eugene M Klimko and James Yackel. "Some aspects of search strategies for Wiener processes". In: *Statistical Decision Theory and Related Topics*. Elsevier, 1971, pp. 225–237.
- [26] Nikolaj Vladimirovic Krylov. "On the rate of convergence of finite-difference approximations for Bellmans equations with variable coefficients." In: *Probability Theory & Related Fields* 117.1 (2000).
- [27] Lifeng Lai et al. "Quickest search over multiple sequences". In: *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory* 57.8 (2011), pp. 5375–5386.
- [28] R Sh Liptser and AN Shiryaev. "A Bayesian problem of sequential search in diffusion approximation". In: *Theory of Probability & Its Applications* 10.1 (1965), pp. 178–186.
- [29] Marco Murtinu. Stochastic optimal control for problems arising in data science. 2019.
- [30] Bernt Oksendal. Stochastic differential equations: an introduction with applications. Springer Science & Business Media, 2013.
- [31] Francesco Orabona. "A modern introduction to online learning". In: *arXiv* preprint arXiv:1912.13213 (2019).
- [32] Goran Peskir and Albert Shiryaev. Optimal stopping and free-boundary problems. Springer, 2006.
- [33] Huyên Pham. Continuous-time stochastic control and optimization with financial applications. Vol. 61. Springer Science & Business Media, 2009.
- [34] H Vincent Poor and Olympia Hadjiliadis. *Quickest detection*. Cambridge University Press, 2008.
- [35] E Posner. "Optimal search procedures". In: *IEEE transactions on information theory* 9.3 (1963), pp. 157–160.
- [36] Edward Posner and Howard Rumsey. "Continuous sequential decision in the presence of a finite number of hypotheses". In: *IEEE Transactions on Information Theory* 12.2 (1966), pp. 248–255.
- [37] L Chris G Rogers. "A guided tour through excursions". In: Bulletin of the London mathematical Society 21.4 (1989), pp. 305–341.
- [38] L Chris G Rogers and David Williams. Diffusions, Markov processes and martingales: Volume 2, Itô calculus. Vol. 2. Cambridge university press, 2000.
- [39] Nizar Touzi. Optimal stochastic control, stochastic target problems, and backward SDE. Vol. 29. Springer Science & Business Media, 2012.
- [40] Ju-Yi Yen and Marc Yor. "Local times and excursion theory for Brownian motion". In: Lecture Notes in Mathematics 2088 (2013), pp. x+-135.

- [41] Olek C Zienkiewicz, Robert Leroy Taylor, and Jian Z Zhu. *The finite element method: its basis and fundamentals.* Elsevier, 2005.
- [42] K Sh Zigangirov. "On a problem in optimal scanning". In: *Theory of Probability & Its Applications* 11.2 (1966), pp. 294–298.
- [43] Gordan Zitkovic. "Dynamic programming for controlled Markov families: abstractly and over martingale measures". In: *SIAM Journal on Control* and Optimization 52.3 (2014), pp. 1597–1621.